10

10

20

20

20

30

Page 1 of 2

Fallbrook Regional
HEALTH &%DSTRICT

BOARD WORKSHOP
AGENDA

Saturday, January 27, 2018, 8:00 a.m. — 12:00 p.m.
Fallbrook Regional Health District, Board Room, 138 S. Brandon Rd., Fallbrook, CA

CALL MEETING TO ORDER

A Special Meeting may be called at any time by the President, or three Board members, by delivering notice to
each Board member and to each local newspaper or general circulation, radio, or television station requesting
such notice in writing, personally or by mail. Such notice must be delivered personally or by mail at least twenty-
four (24) hours before the time of such meeting as specified in the notice. The call and notice shall specify the
time and place of the special meeting and the business to be transacted. No other business shall be considered
at special meetings. Such written notice may be dispensed with as to any Board member, who at, or prior to the
time the meeting convenes, files with the Secretary a written waiver of notice. Such waiver may be given by
telegram. Such written notice may also be dispensed with as to any member who is actually present at the
meeting at the time it convenes.

DISCUSSION ITEMS

B1. Wellness Committee Barbara/Bill/Linda/Bobbi
B2. Health & Wellness Centers

(Trips to Beach Cities & Tri-City Barbara/Bill/Linda/Bobbi
B3.  Community Gardens (one in each District area) Barbara/Pam/Bobbi
B4. Blue Zones Bobbi

A. How does an organization become certified?
B. What is the process?

C. Financial Impact/Cost?

D. Site Visit— Loma Linda -TBD

Barbara/Bill/Linda/Bobbi

B5. Expanded Behavioral Health Services Bobbi
(All age groups: youth, teens, adults, Sr. adults)
Report from CentraForce

B6. Preventative Health Bobbi
A. Science of Meditation
B. Science of Mindfulness
C. Yoga and other Modalities

Meditation/Mindfulness Experience
Sandra Buckingham, E-RYT200, RYT500, YACEP

Experienced Registered Yoga Teacher, Yoga Alliance, Continuing Education Provider
Fallbrook Wellness Directory Founder



10

20

20

30

B7.

B8.

BO.

B10.

Page 2 of 2

Ribbon Cutting — Pre-Launch Bobbi
(Fallbrook Healing Center and District’s Role) Info only — Oct. 2018
Save the Date — All Board Members to attend.

Prevent the Preventable Communication Only
A. Food is Medicine — CBS Video
B. Exercise is Medicine

(Both of above in Partnership with the American College of Sports Medicine

and the American Heart Association.)

EMS/Mobile Health Care Howard & Stephen
LYFT Presentation

A+ Urgent Care Gordon & Howard
RFP

Responses



TABLE OF CONTENTS

Fallbrook Regional
HEALTH% DISTRICT

BOARD

WORKSHOP

12/9/2017

Wellness Committee

Health & Wellness Centers

Community Gardens

Blue Zones

Expanded Behavioral Health
Services

Preventative Health

Ribbon Cutting — Pre-Launch
Fallbrook Healing Center

Prevent the Preventable

EMS/Mobile Health Care
LYFT Presentation

A+ Urgent Care

Real Estate

600042

10

n

12



Fallborook Regional
HEALTH ‘ﬂE\.’DISTRICT

Health
INnitiatives

Fallbrook Regional Health District is located
in Fallbrook, an unincorporated area in
northern San Diego County. It is known as
the “Avocado Capitol” of the world. Our
District covers Bonsall, De Luz, Fallbrook
and Rainbow. Just a note: Our former
name was Fallbrook Healthcare District.
The new name better reflects the services
provided and those served.



North County Communities
Collaborative Health Initiative

QOur Goal

Decrease incidence in diabetes, hypertension, and
heart disease in the area we are serving by educating,
screening, referring, advocacy, and community
outreach as well as integrating community classes,

exercise/ physical activity so others may thrive.

TN & ‘s, & "
Fq:g{?:agles?gg?d m,_m o ;_*_’.l-,\unn()oks».nus PROJECT 6 ~U\
TR IR Wi =+ SeniorCare
*

After hiring a consultant to provide us with
the major health disparities in our District,
this collaborative was formed to address
these specific health disparities in the ways
also mentioned on the slide.



CALL TO ACTIVITY
WELLNESS
ONE STEP AT A TIME

. " BONSALL » DE LUZ + FALLBROOK RAINBOW H 'BONSALL » DE LUZ * FALLBROOK » « RAINBOW
Wo thank you fer m oy f'” Weeskyouter { CALLTO ACTIVITY ; i
| eemsywtaiie WELLNESS m suopisgmptethe 5 WELLNESS.. ﬁ
| chetonss yimnunus = | [ “owlemm " guESTEPATATIME ) S Ao
o @ = @ 0 M,.‘gg-: e = oMo O S|
BONSALL «DE LUZ « FALLBROOK RAINIBOW I BONSALL » DE LUZ « FALLBROOK o RAINBOW —]
wenestyouser ¢ CALLTO ACTIVITY ; “emsimamnis Wethaskyouter ¢ ﬂll.'l'.le'l’lm ] _ T o
scmmate s WELLNESS. ﬁ evetmiete s WELLNESS.. ﬁﬁ
chalionpe tmnnnu: — [ Chalioane angsmn'umu ) sty
o=@ =& ° . .| 08 = g S ..l |
[ BONSALL « DE LUZ « FALLBROOK » RAINBOW “g BONSALL ¢ DE LUZ « FALLBROOK + RAINBOW
| wemsivwsr ¢ CALLVOACTIWITY ) "=v=imiim || pynespee ¢ CALLTOACTIVITY e —
Demnt, S wainess Ty e j| oesmwese ' WELINESS.. .
! chaliwme ou!smnumn » Poess ey chmienee gz smuuml! 5 GRS
o @ = ag. .row;;c,«,,z.émﬁ% W @ L0,

L~~ e i i

Call to Activity — Wellness — One Step at a
Time was an initial effort to bring attention
to the importance of physical activity and
promoting wellness. The collaborative
recognized businesses and groups actively
involved in promoting wellness and named
them Health Champions for a specific
month. Senator Joel Anderson recognized
our efforts and provided certificates of
recognition to each Health Champion,
presented at our Woman of Wellness



monthly events at the library.



HEALTH & WELLNESS
INITIATIVES

W - Foodis Medicine
' % i
|+ Exercise is Medicine

remeei ¢ Prevent The Preventable
|

T bl ool o 1.

Souh & in wube for o dap
o plat cnr ¢ thim ke o

el ettt

These initiatives were adopted to meet our
Mission of promoting health for the people
of the District and our Vision of reducing

the impact of identified major health issues
in our District.



Global Healthy

Recipe e-Cookbook
March 2017

https://cookbooks.leannebrowr 1.com/good-and-cheap.pdf

https://www fallbrookhealth.org/brocade-wellfit-global-healthy-recipe-e-cooktook

Initiative — Food is Medicine: These are
two cookbooks we have on our website.
We also ordered free cookbooks and recipe
cards from San Diego County — Public
Health Department for distribution in our
shopping bags. We provide these bags with
other promotional items included at our
events and those events we support in our
communities.



RECIPE CARDS & COOKBOOKS

@ cachampionsforchangeciphcagont e,

s for Change

How <an 1 find 3 nutrition or physical activity agency information? Click 0n ihe courty you live

in and get in contact with the Public Health Department in your area’ m

Orange County $200 us oe Facebook

Pasadens - Cuty of Yiea iove to camnect you with
omer Champions fur Change |
1 00 our Faxebock page. Fotow |
{ o teaav: L

Sants Clara County
Sants Cruz Ceunty

This is how you can order cookbooks and
recipe cards from your County.



COOKING CLASSES

DEMONSTRATION
COOKBOOK
INGREDIENTS

+ FALLBEROOK FAMILY HEALTH CENTER

+ CAL STATE UNIVERSITY SAN MARCOS
RN STUDENTS

+  FALLBROOK FOOD PAMIRY
COLLABCRATION

The NCCCHI collaborative mentioned
earlier began providing cooking classes at
the Fallbrook Family Health Center.
Following the class, the Fallbrook Food

Pantry then provided all of the ingredients
to each participant to take home.



EXERCISE IS MEDICINE

Exercise is Medicine

Initiative — Exercise is Medicine: On our
website is a visual lecture by Dr. Mike Evans
called “23 and % Hours.” In it he answers
the question “What is the single best thing
we canh do for our Health?” Fallbrook
Regional Health District sponsors a
Wellness Walk each month at different sites
in our communities.



WELLNESS WALKS

These are photos of participants in our
Wellness Walks. The first photo represents
our 15t Wellness Walk followed by one at
the Pico Promenade and the last photo was
taken at The Grand Tradition, where they
have planted beautiful gardens for their
guests to enjoy. Our walkers include all
ages and sometimes children in strollers
and dogs. Our goal is to have the
participants form their own walking groups
to accommodate their schedules and



specific needs.



PREVENT THE
PREVENTABLE

NCCCHI COLLABORATIVE AND
CAL STATE UNIVERSITY SAN
MARCOS RN STUDENTS
PROVIDING HEALTH SCREENINGS
AT LOCAL NURSERY.

Initiative — Prevent the Preventable:
Through attending a local resource fair and
speaking with the HR Director for a local
nursery, we identified the need for basic
health screenings for local nursery workers.
Members of the collaborative worked
together with the local nursery to provide
health screenings for workers which will be
ongoing. Appropriate referrals are then
discussed if needed for further treatments.

10



Fallbrook Regional
ADISTRICT

CONTACT INFO

Lbannerman@FallbrookHealth.org
Pknox@FallbrookHealth.org

760-731-9187
PO BOX 2587 « Fallbrook CA 92028

Here is our contact information. Just 3

reminder: Avocados are good for you! Eat
healthy!



DISCUSSION ONLY



[Solutions &

Innovations]

Inland Empire RCD Connecting Local Farmers

and Low-Income Families

the past few decades, much of the
OVCr Inland Empire, the metropolitan
area east of Los Angeles, saw a massive shift from
agricultural production to urban sprawl. A booming
shipping industry in Los Angeles and Long Beach
lead to a rapid shift from arable land to gigantic
warehouses to handle the flow of goods through
Southern California’s ports. Despite the changing
landscape, organizations are fighting to promote urban
agriculture in a region desperately in need of access to
fresh, healthy produce. Huerta del Valle Community
Garden (HdV), in Ontario, CA, is leading the effort
to develop urban farms throughout the Inland Empire,
especially in low-income areas where produce access
is severely limited. The Inland Empire Resource
Conservation District (IERCD), a special district
of the county of San Bernardino, has a mission to
preserve and enhance the natural resources throughout
their district. This includes promoting healthy soil and
supporting the historic agricultural roots of the Inland
Empire. Together, the IERCD and HdV continuously
partner to provide healthy, sustainable food, improve
soil health, and protect the Inland Empire’s natural
resources.

By Brian Robey, Project Manager, Inland Empire Resource Conservation District

As a result of the loss of agricultural land, increasing
living expenses, and expanding communities, many
areas in the Inland Empire have become ‘food deserts’-
areas where fresh, healthy food is unavailable, too
expensive, or difficult to access. Without easy access to
nutritious foods and produce, residents are forced to
turn to fast-food chains and convenience stores as they
are often the only option. This has become an issue
for public health and is especially prevalent in lower
income communities.

In one such community in Ontario, HdV’s Executive
Director Maria Alonso started looking for a way to
provide organic produce for her son, who had recently
been diagnosed with ADHD. His doctor told Maria
that healthy food could help offset his symptoms
without needing medication. But while medication was
accessible via insurance, fresh food was prohibitively
difficult and expensive to acquire. So, she and a group
of neighbors began developing their own garden to
provide fresh food for their families.

The project has since grown from a small lot to a
4-acre production area with around 60 community



plots. With the guidance of Maria

and Project Manager Arthur Levine,
they are now looking to develop more
urban farms to expand their production
and provide educational programs to
residents and farmers. HdV’s long term
vision is to establish urban gardens
throughout the Inland Empire to serve
disadvantaged areas, but in the short
term, Huerta del Valle is looking to
grow its food and education programs
in the local community.

One of the’'most exciting new programs
at HdV is its Community Supported
Agriculture (CSA) program, targeted
towards local, low-income families. A
CSA program connects local farmers
with consumers to subscribe to a weekly
box of fresh produce allowing families
access to fresh food while supporting
the farm’s operations. Much of this
produce will be “gleaned”- produce
that would not be sold to regular, large-
scale customers. Not only does this cut
down significantly on food waste, but
also helps make the boxes affordable.
Families can also use food stamps to
purchase the boxes, further increasing
program accessibility.

lm‘!HMA f] O
Conservation Grant
Initiative is available
to member districts to
advance agricultural

conservation in
developed or
developing areas

As part of the ongoing partnership, IERCD
was awarded a grant opportunity though
the National Association of Resource
Conservation Districts (NACD) to

support the expansion of the low-income
CSA program. The Urban Agriculture
Conservation Grant Initiative is available

to member districts to advance agricultural
conservation in developed or developing areas.
The grant was written to support Huerta del
Valle’s CSA program while also engaging
farmers in the area to join a network of
producers to help provide for the program
and expand it into a multi-farm project.

The addition of a full-time CSA coordinator
will allow for the expansion of the CSA
program, with the first year goal of growing

California Special District — September-October 2017

the CSA Program to 40 enrolled families
and the long-term objective of reaching
200+ families. The coordinator will also
provide outreach to both residents and
farmers. Residents and CSA members will
have the opportunity to attend workshops
on nutrition and healthy cooking.
Regional farmers will be approached to
support the CSA program by providing
excess produce that may not have value on
the regular marker. In addition, farmers
will be introduced to IERCD programs

— as well as programs through their
Federal partner, the Natural Resources
Conservation Service (NRCS). The
ultimate objective is to develop a network

Continued on page 28




BURKE, WILLIAMS & SORENSEN, LLP

Solutions & Innovations [continued]

of farmers and
community members
to rally behind the
mission of local,
affordable produce.
The expansion of the
CSA program will
help meet the mission
of the IERCD and
HDYV by supporting
urban agriculture,
promoting soil health awareness, teaching sustainable
growing techniques, and encouraging land conservation.

Besides developing urban farms throughout the region,
both the IERCD and HdV place a lot of emphasis on
educating residents about the importance of urban
farms, nutritional eating, and composting. In 2016,
HdV served as a host location for the IERCD’s Student
and Landowner Education and Watershed Stewardship
Program (SLEWS). This program serves to connect
high school students with a local landowner to perform

Burke, Williams & Sorensen, LLP
has served the legal needs of
California public agencies with
distinction for nearly 80 years.

conservation work. Through this program, students
built a rain water capture system, helped compost
hundreds of pounds of food waste, performed soil
testing, and much more. HdV also helped support the
development of IERCD’s Farm-to-Fork program, a
statewide effort to increasing access to healthy food.

To bolster these programs and add more like them,
HdV is also looking to add two education coordinators
to help increase their outreach potential. Funded, by
IERCD’s Special Projects Fund, these coordinators
will be able to add classes on better farming practices,
healthy cooking, and sustainability to the region.

The Inland Empire may never be able to return to
its agricultural roots, but the residents of this region
deserve access to fresh produce and urban gardens
provide them with that access. The Inland Empire
Resource Conservation District and Huerta del Valle
will continue to find ways to reach this through our
continued partnership. w

General Counsel
Transactions
Litigation

Personnel

Labor Negotiations
Environmental Issues
Construction Law
Training










gt

5 ——y

Fallbrook Regional
HEALTH g8 DISTRICT




STRI

iongy













Olivewood Gardens And Learning Center

North County Communities
Collborative Health Initiative
members toured garden and
kitchen on January 17" 2017.

The parking lot was designed by
architecture students at Woodbury,
using a water permeable surface

that’s absorbs rain, not diverting it
like concrete.




and
Learning Center

e ———————
/FOOI HOoU =

R
S pé,?éﬁ,{_:‘




(O BLUE ZONES PROJECT

by HEALTHWAYS




BLUE ZONES AREAS

We all want to live life well. Not merely surviving day

to day, keeping the effects of aging and chronic illness

at bay, but actually thriving and contributing with a clear
sense of purpose. What if, even at an advanced age, with
our well-being intact and energy to spare, we were able to
share our experiences and wisdom with our grandchildren
and our great-grandchildren?

Across the globe lie Blue Zones® areas, where people reach age 100 at an astonishing rate.
People in places like Sardinia, Italy; Okinawa, Japan; and Loma Linda, California, are living
vibrant, active lives well into their hundreds—and with a lower rate of chronic disease.
Physically, socially, and emotionally these people are living their lives longer, better.

The common cultural practices of these longevity super stars have been compiled in
National Geographic explorer Dan Buettner’s New York Times bestselling book, “The Blue
Zones—Lessons for Living Longer From the People Who've Lived the Longest.”

This research, coupled with an eight-year worldwide longevity study, has been used to
develop lifestyle management tools and programs that help people live longer, healthier,
and happier lives by optimizing their surroundings.

The calculus of aging offers us two options: We can
live a shorter life with more years of disability, or we
can live the longest possible life with the fewest bad
years. As my centenarian friends showed me, the
choice is largely up to us.

-Dan Buettner, Blue Zones Founder



BLUE ZONES PROJECTS UNDERWAY

In 2009, Blue Zones led a prototype, community-wide makeover project in Albert Lea,
Minnesota, based on the lifestyle traits of centenarians from Blue Zones areas. Measurable
success was achieved by integrating healthy environmental interventions in four areas: inner
self, habitat, social network, and community.

Just one year later, Blue Zones partnered with Healthways to replicate the Albert Lea
experience in three California communities: Hermosa Beach, Manhattan Beach, and Redondo
Beach. This well-being movement has since spread to the state of lowa where, in 2011,

Blue Zones and Healthways joined forces again to deliver the Blue Zones Project™ to ten
communities in lowa sponsored by Wellmark® Blue Cross® and Blue Shield®.

BLUE ZONES PROJECT PURPOSE

If surroundings lead to healthy behaviors, and healthy behaviors lead to longer, better lives,
then by optimizing the surroundings of any community, it might be possible to manufacture
a Blue Zones Community™,

The purpose of the Blue Zones Project™ is to lead and ignite a community-by-community
well-being transformation, where people live and work together in Blue Zones
Communities™ for a better life.

The Blue Zones Project is unique because it takes a systematic environmental approach

to improving well-being through policy, building design, social networks and the built
environment. By optimizing our environments—those settings where we live, work, and play,
which influence our behavior—we can make the healthy choice the easy choice so that we
naturally adopt healthy behaviors.

For example, experts will design tools for restaurants to help them provide better choices,
such as making fresh fruit the default option rather than French fries. Also, rather than
asking residents to walk or bike more, improvements to the built environment will make
walking and cycling easier and more desirable than driving.



INNER SELF

Purpose begins with the inner self. By helping people
discover their purpose in life, it's possible to lift their
well-being. In Blue Zones® cultures, one’s purpose is so
important that these people have special words for it.

In Costa Rica they call it, “Plan De Vida"” - a plan for life.

HABITAY

The habitat includes those places where people spend
most of their time, like home, work, and school. If we
de-convenience these settings, we can create healthier
activities like Okinawans, who, for example, don't use
couches and must get up and down from the floor
numerous times each day. That constant, moderate
exercise rewards them with years of healthy life.

SOCIAL NETWORK

Social connections influence the decisions people make.

Blue Zones® Community Environmental
Change Model

Community

Social Network

5 B
% _—

ALY i 4057

Habitat

Inner
Self

People in Blue Zones cultures are social, and they regularly associate
face-to-face with a network of friends whose healthy behaviors reinforce their own.

COMMUNITY

Community surroundings encourage healthy behaviors—from restaurant
and grocery store choices, to sidewalk and bike path access that encourages

safe physical activity for all ages and abilities.

The Blue Zones Project helped our community set
amazing, aggressive, and achievable strategies
that moved the Public Health agenda further in
10 months than | could have expected in 10 years.

-Lois Ahern, (retired) Director of Freeborn County Health



POWER 9

People in Blue Zones® areas have enjoyed greater well-being and longevity for generations— and now you can
too! The truth is genetics are responsible for only about 20% of your well-being, according to the Danish Twins
study*. What made the Blue Zones areas special were the nine common lifestyle traits they shared—known as the
Power 9°. These nine small, easy steps fit into four categories and can be practiced anywhere.

MOVE NATURALLY

Move Naturally: We can get more physical activity naturally if we live in walkable communities,
de-convenience our homes, and grow gardens.

RIGHT OUTLOOK

Know Your Purpose: People who know why they wake up in the morning live up to seven years
longer than those who don't.

Down shift: To reverse inflammation related to every major age-related disease, find time every day
to meditate, nap, pray, or enjoy a happy hour with friends.

EAT WISELY

80% Rule: It takes your stomach 20 minutes to tell your brain it's full, causing most people to
accidentally overeat—so stop eating when you're 80% full.

Plant Slant: Eat mostly a plant-based diet that is heavy on beans, nuts, and green plants. This is
consistent with the USDA's MyPlate recommendations to make fruits, vegetables, and grains the majority
of your intake. The focus should be on more veggies, less meat, and less processed food.

Wine @ Five: If you have a healthy relationship with alcohol, one glass of wine daily could help add years
to your life, especially when consumed with a healthy diet.

BELONG

Family First: Living in a thriving family is worth half a dozen extra years of life expectancy.
Invest time in your kids, nurture a monogamous relationship, and keep your aging parents near.

Belong: Recommit, reconnect, or explore a new
faith-based community. No matter which faith, Move Naturally
studies found that people who show up to their

faith-based community four times a month, live SightioGtiock

Know Your Purpose

an extra 4 to 14 years. Downshift
Right Tribe: Your friends have a long-term an/tRV:Iisely
8 cD
impact on your well-being. Expanding your social Plant s‘:ai:
Wine @ Five

circle to include healthy-minded, supportive
people might be the most powerful thing you can -

do to add happy, quality years to your life. @

= Rl i
e Belon g
‘1_ @(D Family First
(M . Belong
" Right Tribe

* Christensen, Kaare, and James W. Vaupel, Longitudinal Study of Aging Danish Twins, 1995.



BLUE ZONES COMMUNITY CERTIFICATION

What if you had the opportunity to create a city where the healthiest choices are also the easiest ones to make?
Imagine a place where it’s easy to eat fresh produce from grocery stores and farmers’ markets, not only because it’s
more affordable, but also because it's more accessible than a fast food restaurant.

Here it's easier to bike than drive, thanks to better bike lanes providing safe and direct access to work, shopping
centers, and parks, all without the hassle of public parking. This community designed for health and well-being also
makes it easier for our kids to play outside, with safe school playgrounds available to the public during non-school
hours.

This is a city built for active living. It's an environment where public policies provide people with healthy
opportunities, giving them a supportive nudge toward eating better and moving more naturally.

Can such a community exist? Yes! But it takes everyone’s support. Here’s how:

To become a certified Blue Zones Community™, the six community sectors outlined below must pledge
and then act on their specific responsibilities. Once a community has met these goals, everyone can
share the benefits of living in a place where well-being is a way of life, and that town can enjoy national
recognition as a great place to live, work, and play.

BECOMING A CERTIFIED BLUE ZONES COMMUNITY REQUIRES:

1. Personal: At least 20% of citizens take the Blue Zones® Personal Pledge
and complete one action.
Schools: At least 25% of public schools become a Blue Zones School™.

Worksites: At least 50% of the top 20 community-identified employers
become a Blue Zones Worksite™.

4. Restaurants: At least 25% of independently or locally owned restaurants
become a Blue Zones Restaurant™.

5. Grocery Stores: At least 25% of grocery stores become a Blue Zones Grocery Store™.

6. Community Policy: Completion of the Blue Zones® Community Policy Pledge.

Learn more at www.bluezonesproject.com.



PLEDGE TO MAKE A DIFFERENCE

Blue Zones Project™ pledges for citizens, worksites, schools, and other areas, enable
community leaders to promote evidence-based actions supported by Power 92
principles, enabling healthier lifestyles for all citizens.

By pledging and committing to an action, you are demonstrating your commitment
to creating an environment of well-being for yourself and your community—with
the intention of striving toward Blue Zones Community™ certification.

Small changes to environment over time will have a big impact on well-being for
many, many years to come.

Register and pledge at www.bluezonesproject.com
by selecting any orange JOIN TODAY button.




GALLUP-HEALTHWAYS
WELL-BEING INDEX

Longevity is one goal. Living with a high sense of well-being is another. The science of well-being
provides many insights on how to create a good life. Our goal through the Blue Zones Project™ is to
increase longevity and improve well-being. In looking at the science of longevity and well-being, one
thing becomes evident. It's how you live that matters. Here’s how we’'ll know our efforts are working:

MEASURING OUR SUCCESS

Success of the Blue Zones Project will be measured using the Gallup-Healthways Well-Being Index®
— a comprehensive daily measurement of the nation’s physical, emotional, and social health.

With 1,000 surveys completed by telephone every day, 350 days a year in the U.S., and more than
1.1 million surveys completed since 2008, the Well-Being Index is the largest and most complete
measurement tool for well-being in existence today. The following areas measured by the Index include:

¢ Life Evaluation

Emotional Health

Physical Health

Healthy Behavior

Work Environment

e Basic Access

The Gallup-Healthways Well-Being Index will measure the impact of the Blue Zones Project. Gallup® will
oversample the population to allow for a high degree of confidence in the survey results, and ensure that
they are representative of a community’s total population. The Well-Being Index will be administered by
telephone to randomly selected individuals living in communities that have been designated Blue Zones
Project demonstration sites.

Learn more at www.well-beingindex.com.




BE A PART OF THE TRANSFORMATION |

It's time to start dreaming about a well-being way of life,
and picture the best possible version of yourself and the
community you call home. With your support, the Blue
Zones Project™ can help make this dream a reality.

Help us spread the word about the Blue Zones Project and
the healthy changes coming to your community.

Pledge to participate by visiting www.bluezonesproject.com
Create a personal profile

2 Invite others to do the same

Blue Zones Project™, Blue Zones Community™, Blue Zones Worksite™, Blue Zones School™, Blue Zones Grocery Store™,
and Blue Zones Restaurant™ and Power 9® are trademarks of Blue Zones, LLC. All rights reserved.
Gallup-Healthways Well-Being Index® is a trademark of Healthways, Inc. All rights reserved.

Copyright ® 2012 Blue Zones, LLC and Healthways, Inc. All rights reserved.



(O ' BLUE ZONES PROJECT

by HEALTHWAYS

www.bluezonesproject.com









FEE BREY BREE DEBE FERR CERY ERUE FEER ERRE B FETP B

!

(EREES EREE [EEE FREE EREE TRE

INTRODUCTION

Discovering the
Blue Zones Solution

TRANSFORM YOUR HEALTH—AND LIVE LONGER

If you’re carrying around a few too many pounds, it's probably not your fault.

Americans today are drowning in a sea of cheap calories. We can’t walk through

an airport, pay cash for gasoline, or buy cough medicine without being confronted

by a barrage of salty snacks, candy bars, and sodas. Today, the average American

adult consumes 79 pounds of fat and 8,000 teaspoons of added sugar annually.

And we wash it all down with 57 gallons of soda a year.

t the same time, we’ve engineered
physical activity out of our lives.
There’s a button to push for yard
work, another for housework. Our
grandparents burned five times as many calories
in the daily activities of work and life without
resorting to “exercise.”

Does that mean we’re bad people? That we
lack the discipline of our forefathers? That we
care less about our health and our children’s
health than our gra;idparents did? Of course not.
We've simply gone from an environment of hard-
ship and scarcity to one of abundance and ease.
The question is: How can we make the most of
this abundance without letting it ruin our health?

The traditional answer is “Go on a diet and start
an exercise program.” The problem with that is
it requires long-term discipline and routine. Of
100 people who start a diet today, fewer than 5
will still be on that diet’s maintenance plan two
years later. Therefore, diets are largely useless
as a strategy to lose weight, much less to avoid
heart attacks or live longer.

This special issue offers an alternative—food
ideas and eating practices, plus easy ways to
change your environment—that makes it all the
more likely that you will live a longer, healthier life.
We've adapted lessons from the areas around the
world where people live the longest, healthiest
lives—places called the Blue Zones becauseateam
of researchers once circled a target region on a
map with blue ink. And we’ve translated the foods
from those regions into easy recipes designed
for every taste and family—kids included—and
die-hard meat-and-potato lovers too.

We’ve also launched community makeover
projects across the country in what’s been
described by the Dallas Morning News as the
“biggest healthy living experiment in America.”
From a small town in Minnesota to the entire
states of lowa and Hawaii, we’re helping to tweak
whole environments so people don’t even have
to think about being healthier because their
communities are built to get them there. We
want people to love what they eat, how they
spend their days, and the people they spend time

INTRODUCTION §



with. We want them to feel their lives are getting
better, whether they start by embracing the Blue
Zones’ ideas on a small scale at home or become
inspired to transform their whole neighborhood,
town, or city.

As residents of these communities have realized,
something is wrong with the way life is organized
in most of our nation—something about the foods
we consume, the frantic pace of life we keep, the
relationships we make, and the communities we
create—that keeps us from being as happy and
healthy as we could be. | know this because for
more than a decade, I've been traveling the world,
meeting people who enjoy happy, healthy lives all
the way to—and past—100 years old.

Working with National Geographic and demog-
rapher Michel Poulain, | set out to find places that
had not only high concentrations of 100-year-

.

olds but also clusters of people who had grown
old without problems like heart disease, obesity,
cancer, or diabetes. We found five places that
met our criteria:

»lkaria, Greece, anisland in the Aegean Sea with
one of the world’s lowest rates of middle-age
mortality and the lowest rates of dementia
»Okinawa, Japan, the largest island in a sub-
tropical archipelago, and home to the world’s
longest-lived women

»Ogliastra region, Sardinia, mountainous high-
lands on an ltalian island that boasts the world’s
highest concentration of centenarian men
»Loma Linda, California, a community with the
highest concentration of Seventh-day Adven-
tists in the United States, where some residents
live 10 more healthy years than the average
American

Beehives, the source of this Blue Zone’s local honey, sit on a hill in Ikaria’s Raches Village.

6 BLUE ZONES




A ————

»Nicoya Peninsula, Costa Rica, where residents
have the world’s lowest rates of middle-age
mortality and the second highest concentration
of male centenarians

What is their secret? Is it good genes, a special
diet, optimal habits? We assembled a team of
medical researchers, anthropologists, dietitians,
demographers, and epidemiologists to tease out
the answers. Over time, we identified a core list
of lifestyle practices and environmental factors
that we called the Power Nine (see page 9).

What we discovered is that the path to a long,
healthy life comes from creating an environ-
ment around yourself, your family, and your
community that nudges you into following the
right behaviors subtly and relentlessly, just as
the environments of the Blue Zones do for their
populations.

Betsy Price knows this as well as anyone else.
As mayor of Fort Worth, Texas, she’s helping
to champion the largest Blue Zone community
makeover in the nation. All across her commu-
nity—at worksites, schools, restaurants, grocery
stores, faith-based organizations, clubs, groups,
and civic organizations—residents are making
changes to turn Fort Worth into a model of
healthy living.

“Poor health results in $17 billion in lost produc-
tivity in Dallas-Fort Worth annually,” said Barclay
Berdan, chief executive officer of Texas Health
Resources, the presenting sponsor of the Fort
Worth transformation. “The Blue Zones Project
is not only the right thing to do; it will benefit
generations to come and set Fort Worth apart.
We want to become recognized as a magnet of
well-being and health in North Texas.”

As Price also knew, more than a third of the
residents in her community were struggling
with weight issues and other issues, which had
contributed to a big jump in health care costs.

Price, who has been a cyclist for nearly four
decades, took me on a bike tour a few years
ago through Fort Worth’s historic stockyards

Gerne

Dan Buettner (right) is the founder of Blue Zones,

an organization that helps Americans live longer,
healthier lives. His teams have helped residents
in communities across the country lose weight,
reverse disease, and increase life satisfaction. A
National Geographic Fellow, he has written three
national best-selling books: The Blue Zones: Les-
sons for Living Longer From the People Who’ve
Lived the Longest; Thrive: Finding Happiness the
Blue Zones Way; and The Blue Zones Solution:
Eating and Living Like the World’s Healthiest
People. Dan has keynoted speeches for Bill Clin-
ton’s Health Matters Initiative, Google Zeitgeist,
TED, TEDMED, Aspen Ideas Fest, and others.
He can be found on Facebook (facebook.com/
BlueZones) and Twitter (@BlueZones), as well
as through his website, bluezones.com. He lives
in Minneapolis, Minnesota.

district, where sprawling 19th-century livestock
markets have been replaced by museums, shops,
and restaurants. One of those restaurants, Los
Vaqueros, was recently named a Blue Zones
Project-approved eatery, where healthy options,
such as avocado enchiladas and fresh fruit, are
offered on the menu.

INTRODUCTION 7



.
~

Sardinians get exercise from herding sheep along rocky hills, but the animals are rarely used for meat.

Consider as well what has happened in three
Southern California towns. During the past five
years, more than 23,000 people in Redondo
Beach, Hermosa Beach, and Manhattan Beach
have made lifestyle changes such as walking at
least three times a week, riding a bike, learning
a new hobby, growing a vegetable garden, or
dedicating a spot for quiet time, meditation,
or prayer. During this same period, the Beach
Cities, as they’re known, have seen a 17 percent
decrease in smoking, a 50 percent drop in the
childhood obesity rate, and $12 million savings in
annual health care costs, according to a Gallup-
Healthways Well-Being Index poll.

Or consider Bob Fagen’s story. One blustery
November evening a few years ago, the 54-year-
old city manager of Spencer, lowa, stepped up to
the microphone at a town meeting and told his
friends and neighbors how the Blue Zones Proj-
ect was transforming their community. The town
was rethinking Main Street as a place not just for

8 BLUE ZONES

cars but also for humans, he said. New policies
had been proposed to limit sprawl; ensure that
everyone has easy, affordable access to veg-
etables; and give everyone access to gyms and
playgrounds when school is out.

Then he shared something personal with the
group. After discovering a problem with his
kidneys, Fagen had resolved to change his own
behavior as well by walking more and riding a
bike. He'd also started eating better, including
more salads. “Every time | sat down for a meal,
| thought about Marybelle and Violet, my two
granddaughters,” he said. “I couldn’t imagine not
being there for them.

“Well, I went back to see the specialist this
week to get my latest tests and he gave me the
news: My kidneys are functioning at 100 per-
cent.” Soon everyone was standing, applauding
thunderously.

“So | challenge all of you tonight,” Fagen told
the crowd, tears welling in his eyes. “Think of



EERED

e e m—

g

——

r_,_m
¢
|
|
?

TS
o

T
]

EH

=

whatever it is that’s important to you. Don’t
wake up one day and wonder what happened
to your life.”

Fagen was on the right track. As a burgeon-
ing body of research has suggested, you too
can make long-term changes to your personal
environment that will nudge you into moving
more, socializing more, hungering for less, and
eating better.

The idea behind the Blue Zones Project is to
make sure that vitality ensues for you. Besides
sharing with you the best Blue Zones foods—as
well as delicious ways to prepare them and pow-
erful practices to enjoy them with your family
and friends—my ultimate goal is for you to have
a Bob Fagen moment of your own: discovering
that, without knowing exactly how or when it
happened, you're healthier and happier than you
ever thought possible.

The Power Nine
Many residents of the original Blue Zones prac-
tice nine healthy lifestyle habits that help them

live longer, healthier, happier lives.

1. Move naturally. The world’s longest-lived peo-
ples are constantly nudged into moving by the
environmeht that surrounds them. Every trip to
work, to a friend’s house, or to church occasions
a walk.

2. Purpose. In all of the Blue Zones, people say
they have something to live for beyond work—
what they describe as “why | wake up in the
morning.” Research shows that a sense of pur-
pose is worth up to seven years of extra life
expectancy.

3. Downshift. Long-lived people have developed
routines to shed stress: Okinawans take a few
moments each day to remember their ancestors,
Adventists pray, Ikarians take a nap, and Sardin-
ians enjoy a happy hour.

4. 80 percent rule. In Japan’s Okinawan Blue
Zone, people remind themselves to stop eating
when their stomachs are 80 percent full with the

&
[P
fad
]
.
B2
e
i
oy
i
TR
ot
e
e
o
ey
T
o o
e
T
o]
fia]
]
sy
il
o4
rwsn
s
i i}
o]
v

phrase Hara hachi bu. If Americans adopted this
rule, they could lose an average of 17 pounds in
the first year.

5. Plant slant. Beans, including fava, black, soy,
and lentil, are the cornerstone of most cente-
narian diets, which also include relatively small
amounts of meat.

6. Wine @ 5. People in all the Blue Zones (even
some Adventists) drink alcohol moderately and
regularly—one to two glasses a day with friends
or food. Moderate drinkers tend to outlive non-
drinkers.

7. Right tribe. Social circles support healthy
behaviors. Okinawans, for example, create
moais—groups of five friends who are commit-
ted to each other for life.

8. Community. Research has shown that attend-
ing faith-based services four times a month adds
4 to 14 years of life expectancy. The choice of
denomination doesn’t seem to matter.

9.Loved ones first. Successful centenariansin the
Blue Zones put their families first. They invest in
their children with time and love, and children care
for their elders. Additionally, having a life partner

can add up to three years to life expectancy.

AT

INTRODUCTION 9

VEHBERE ERE RERE EREE RRRE RERE FEREIRRY LR/









Okinawa, Japan

A DIET FROM THE WORLD’S LONGEST-LIVED WOMEN

thousand miles south of Tokyo lies

a cluster of islands with sugar-sand

beaches, palm trees, and a people

= descended from the ancient Ryukyu

kingdom. For almost a millennium, this Pacific

archipelago has maintained a reputation for nur-

turing extreme longevity. Reports from early Chi-

nese expeditions referred to these tiny islands as
the land of the immortals.

Today Okinawans over the age of 65 still enjoy the

world’s highest life expectancy. Men are expected

Sweet potatoes represented two-thirds of the typi-
cal daily diet of Okinawans in 1949, Through the
postwar decades, islanders continued to eat more
greens as well as more yellow, orange, and red

1%
2 12%

6%

3%

B percentage
~ of daily intake
1949

67%
B Rice 12% ® Other Vegetables 9%

Other Grains 3% " Legumes 6%
Sweet Potatoes 67% Fish, Meat, Poultry 2%
Other Foods 1%

18 BLUE ZONES

to live to about 84 and women to almost 90. People

here also have one of the highest centenarian
ratios in the world: About 6.5 in 10,000 live to
age 100. And they suffer at a fraction of the rates
from diseases that kill Americans: a fifth the rate
of cardiovascular disease, a fifth the rate of breast
and prostate cancer, and less than half the rate of
dementia seen among similarly aged Americans.
What do Okinawan centenarians eat that might
help to explain their long, healthy lives? Gerontolo-
gist Craig Willcox, and his brother Bradley, authors

vegetables than other Japanese. Okinawans also
tended to eat more meat—primarily pork—than
other Japanese, but at the same time, they ate less
fish, less salt, and much less added sugar.

6%

15%

percentage
of daily intake
1989

32%

¥ Grains 23%
Vegetables 32%
¥ Beans 16%

Fish, Meat, Eggs 15%
B Dairy 8%
Other Foods 6%




fR AR IR AR ARNE AR R ARRE IR L R RR DR RN AR IR NN VDR EON ERRRERN NN RN NRREE

R e —

SRS S ESe———

e M

Takako Takamine, 76, gathers asa, a seaweed used in miso soup,

with Makoto Suzuki of the New York Times best-
seller The Okinawa Diet Plan, have been seeking
answers to that question for more than a decade.
Greg Plotnikoff, a U.S.-trained physician and author-
ity on integrative medicine, has also been investi-
gating the puzzie.

The Willcoxes’ work, which includes meticulous
data collection, offers important insights into the
actual diets of Okinawa’s centenarians. During
the first third of their lives, roughly before 1940,
the vast majority of the calories they consumed—
more than 60 percent—came from one food: the
imo, or Okinawan sweet potato. A purple or yellow
variety related to our orange sweet potato, the
imo came to Japan from the Americas about 400
years ago and took well to Okinawan soils. That was
lucky for pre-World War I Okinawans, who were
otherwise calorie starved. This sweet potato—high
in flavonoids, vitamin C, fiber, carotenoids, and
slow-burning carbohydrates—is one of the healthi-
est foods on the planet. In fact, the traditional Oki-
nawan diet was about 80 percent carbohydrates
because of the imo, the Willcoxes found.

R I I S R

from the shores of the Sea of Japan.

A GREAT LONGEVITY DIET

Before 1940 Okinawans consumed fish at least
three times per week together with seven serv-
ings of vegetables and maybe one or two servings
of grain per day. They also ate two servings of
flavonoid-rich soy, usually in the form of tofu. They
didn’'t eat much fruit: they enjoyed a few eggs
a week. Dairy and meat represented only about
3 percent of their calories. Never influenced by
Buddhism, 20th-century Okinawans observed no
taboos against eating meat, but they still only did
so rarely. On special occasions, usually during the
Lunar New Year, people butchered the family pig
and feasted on pork—probably an important pro-
tein source at the time.

A typical traditional meal of the time, the Will-
coxes said in an article they authored for the Journa/
of the American College of Nutrition, began with
Okinawan-style miso soup with seaweed, tofu,
sweet potato, and green leafy vegetables, The
main dish was champuru, stir-fried vegetables that
might include goya (bitter melon), daikon (radish),
Chinese okra, pumpkin, burdock root, or green

DISCOVERING THE BLUE ZONES 19



papaya, sometimes accompanied by smaller serv-
ings of fish, meat, or noodles prepared with herbs,
spices, and cooking oil. To drink, they served freshly
brewed sanpin (jasmine) tea and perhaps a little
locally brewed awamori (millet brandy).

Three foods in the Okinawan diet of those days—

-
“lOO’ REGIONAL CENTENARIAN

GOZEI SHINZATO
Gozei Shinzato, 104, was showing me her arse-
nal of longevity supplements: Okinawan sweet

potatoes, soybean mugwort, turmeric, and
goya. All grew in neat rows just 15 steps outside
her house. Shinzato lived alone in a furniture-
less, three-room house partitioned by rice-
paper doors. Upon awaking, she wrapped her
elfin 85-pound frame in a cobalt blue kimono
and then made an offering at the ancestor
shrine in her living room. After working in the
garden for a few hours, she had lunch, and then
read comic books or watched a baseball game
on television and napped. Neighbors stopped
by in the afternoon, and a couple of days a week,
her moai—four women who had committed to
one another for life—came by for mugwort tea
and conversation. Whenever things had gotten
rough in Shinzato’s life, as when her husband
died 46 years ago, she counted on her moai to
support her. And they counted on her.

20 BLUE ZONES

turmeric, sweet potato, and seaweed—provided
an additional benefit that we understand better
today: They mimic caloric restriction, a digestive
survival mode that has longevity benefits. As food
is digested, mitochondria in our cells convert calo-
ries into energy. By-products of this process are
free radicals, oxidizing agents that deteriorate the
body from the inside out just as oxidation forms
rust on iron and ultimately destroys it. Free radicals
can stiffen the arteries, shrink the brain, and wrinkle
the skin. In caloric restriction mode, our cells pro-
tect themselves by producing less energy but also
throwing off fewer free radicals and thus slowing
the aging process. ’

One way to turn on caloric restriction is to eat
about 40 percent fewer calories than the average
American consumes (about 2,500 for a man and
1,800 for a woman). But recent research from the
Willcoxes has shown that regular consumption of
turmeric, sweet potato, and seaweed can provide
some of the benefits of caloric restriction, tripping
genetic triggers that minimize production of free
radicals without causing hunger.

FAST FOOD INVASION

As healthful as they were, some of these Okinawan
food traditions floundered midcentury. Follow-
ing World War I, the United States established
an army base in the middle of Okinawa. Western
influences—and economic prosperity—crept into
traditional life, and food habits changed. According
to detailed Japanese government surveys, sweet
potatoes dropped from 60 percent to fewer than
5 percent of Okinawans’ daily calories between
1949 and 1960. Meanwhile, they doubled their rice
consumption, and bread, virtually unknown before,
also crept in. Milk consumption increased; meat,
eggs, and poultry consumption increased more
than sevenfold. Not coincidentally, cancers of the
lung, breast, and colon almost doubled.

opposiTE: On the beach 84-year-old Fumiyasu Yamakawa
practices ikigai—a daily exercise that includes yoga—as
training for an annual decathlon.




The meat in their diet gave me pause. When |
first struck off on my Blue Zones research in 2000,
I was absolutely convinced I'd find that a vegan diet
yiefded the greatest health and life expectancy. So
when | discovered that older OkinaWans not only
ate pork but loved it, | thought their example must
be an outlier—that they were living long despite
pork. Pork is high in saturated fat, which, when con-
sumed in excess, often leads to heart disease. But
again, we learned a few lessons. Okinawans stewed
the pork for days, cooking out and skimming off
the fat. What they ate, in the end, was mostly the
high-protein collagen. .

One dietary expert | met in Okinawa, Kazuhilo
Taira, believed that it was this pork protein that
explained their longevity. His theory was that we
all suffer small tears in the blood vessels that bring
blood to our brains. Severe tears result in strokes,
but minor tears often go unnoticed while still doing
damage. Pork protein actually acts like a caulking
of sorts, for the pig protein is very similar to human
protein. And it was this protein that Okinawans love.

“Oh yes, | like meat, but not always,” one

centenarian had told me. “When | was a girl, | ate it
only during New Year festivals. I’'m not in the habit
of eating it every day.”

But today fast-food restaurants serving quick-
cooked burgers and other meat sandwiches abound
in Okinawa. The island boasts the largest A&W Root
Beer stand in the world. In 2005 Okinawans, who
live on anisland only 70 miles long and 7 miles wide,
consumed tons of Spam, a processed meat product
introduced by American Gls after World War |,
Between 1949 and 1972, Okinawans’ daily intake
increased by 400 calories. They were consuming
more than 200 calories per day more than they
needed—like Americans. And health statistics show
the effect of those changes. By 2000 Okinawa
ranked 26th among Japan’s 47 prefectures for life
expectancy of men at birth, while older Okinawans,
whose diets had solidified before that time period,
are the world’s longest-lived people.

Some traditions do not die—and abparently some
food traditions keep Okinawans living long and
healthy lives, even with the onslaught of the mod-
ern fast-food culture.

Living alone in the village of Motobu, Kamada Nakazato, 102, has lived long enough to meet her great-great-granddaughter.

22 BLUE ZONES




e

» BITTER MELON Known as
goya, this long, knobby gourd
looks something like a warty
cucumber. It is often served
in stir-fried dishes. Recent
studies found it an “effective
antidiabetic” as powerful as
pharmaceuticals in helping to
regulate blood sugar.

» TOFU Okinawans eat tofu like
the French eat bread: It’s a daily
habit. Studies show that people
who eat soy broducts in place of
meat have lower cholesterol and
triglyceride levels, which reduces
their risk of heart disease.

» SWEET POTATOES Okinawan
imo is a supercharged purple
sweet potato, a cousin of the
vellow-orange sweet varieties.
Despite its sweet, satisfying
taste, the supercharged purple
imo does not cause blood
sugar to spike as much as a
regular white potato does.

* GARLIC Sometimes eaten pick-
led, garlic is one of nature’s
most powerful natural medi-
cines. A recent scientific review

found that “intake of garlic by
humans may either prevent

or decrease the incidence of
major chronic diseases associ-
ated with old age.”

» TURMERIC Ginger’s golden
cousin, turmeric figures in the
Okinawan diet as both a spice
and a tea. A powerful anti-
cancer, antioxidant, and anti-
inflammatory agent, turmeric
contains several compounds
now under study for anti-aging
properties.

» BROWN RICE Okinawan brown
rice, tastier than the brown
rice Americans know, is soaked
in water to germinate until it
just begins to sprout, unlock-
ing enzymes that break down
sugar and protein and giving
the rice a sweet flavor and
softer texture.

% GREEN TEA Okinawans drink
a special kind of green tea
they call shan-pien, or “tea
with a bit of a scent,”
made by adding 1
jasmine flowers and

often a little turmeric. Green tea
contains substances that may
protect against a host of age-
related problems.

» SHIITAKE MUSHROOMS These
smoky-flavored fungi help
flavor Okinawans’ customary
miso soup and stir-fries.
They contain more than 100
compounds with immune-
protecting properties.

» SEAWEEDS (KOMBU AND
WAKAME) Seaweed:s in general
provide a filling, low-calorie,
nutrient-rich boost to the diet.
These two are used in many
soups and stews on Okinawa.
They are rich in carotenoids,
folate, magnesium, iron, cal-
cium, and iodine.

CR——

DISCOVERING THE BLUE ZONES 23









0000000000 0

Loma Linda, California

AN AMERICAN BLUE ZONES DIET

t midmorning on any given day, Ells-

worth Wareham, age 101, presides

over a breakfast of biblical propor-
l tions. Spread out on the kitchen table
before him at his home in Loma Linda is a giant
bow! of whole-grain cereal floating in soy milk, a
cornucopia-like fruit bowl, a stack of whole-grain
toast with nut butter, a large glass of full-pulp
orange juice, and a handful of nuts.

From his kitchen window he commands a view of
orange groves and the waves of smoky brown foot-
hills that ascend to the snowcapped San Jacinto
Mountains. Later in the day, around 4 p.m., Wareham
resumes his place at the kitchen table. This time it
is to tuck into his second—and only other—meal of
the day: mounds of beans, raw vegetables, cooked
asparagus, cabbage, and broccoli, finished with a
handful of nuts and dates for dessert—the exact
diet, he might add, that God prescribed for the
garden of Eden. And, as one of America’s largest

N

This chart represents the average intake of various
food groups for Adventists participating in Adven-
tist Health Study 2 (AHS-2). The averages were
weighted proportionally from African-American
subjects and white subjects to reflect a more accu-
rate average. AHS-2 is one of the few large health
studies to focus on different ethnicities.

B Fruits 27% # Grains 7%
Vegetables 33% Meat and Poultry 4%
Legumes and Soy i Dairy 10%

Foods 12% E Fish 1%

% Added Fats 2% Eggs 1%

Nuts and Seeds 2% Added Sugars 1%

30 BLUE ZONES

and most robust epidemiology studies has shown,
it’s also the healthiest diet for humankind today.

| first met Wareham in 2005 when | was research-
ing an article about longevity for National Geo-
graphic magazine. I'd sought him out because he
seemed to be an iconic Seventh-day Adventist,
following a branch of Christianity whose members
live longer than any other Americans. Seventh-day
Adventists are conservative Protestants who distin-
guish themselves from other Christians in that they
evangelize with health and celebrate the Sabbath
on Saturday instead of Sunday.

From sunset on Friday until sunset on Saturday,
every week, Seventh-day Adventists create a “sanc-
tuary in time,” spending most of the 24 hours in
quiet contemplation or attending church and avoid-
ing TV, movies, and other distractions. At midday on
Saturday after church, they join other Adventists for
potluck lunches. Later in the afternoon, they strike
out with friends and family on a nature walk for

7%

percentage

2% TR
of daily intake

2% 7:

12% Qi

33%




T ———

Wi EiansEEST ISR UNEE ORREGRRE DREE DN INNEONRIONN}

Marion Westermeyer, a 94-year-old Seventh-day Adventist,

healthy doses of sunshine and fresh air. They shun

smoking, drinking, and dancing.

In support of a biblical diet of grains, fruits, nuts,
and vegetables, Adventists cite Genesis 1:29: “And
God said, Behold, | have given you every herb bear-
ing seed, which is upon the face of all the earth, and
every tree, in the which is the fruit of a tree yielding
seed; to you it shall be for meat.” The Adventists
éncourage a well-balanced diet including nuts,
fruits, and legumes and low |n sugar, salt, and
refined grains. Their diet prohilr;its foods deemed
“unclean” by the Bible, such as pork or shellfish,
The only beverage endorsed is water, at least six
glasses a day.

Today the Adventist diet in its current inter-
pretation is demonstrably yielding the healthiest
Americans. Itis a plant-based diet that emphasizes
nuts, whole grains, beans, and soy products. It’s
also very low in sugar, salt, and refined grains. It
includes small amounts of meat, dairy, and eggs
and discourages coffee and alcohol. A recent study
has found that adherents have the nation’s lowest
rates of heart disease and diabetes and very low

is known for his energetic diving at the Loma Linda pool.

rates of obesity. They also live up to a decade lon-
ger than the rest of us.

THE ADVENTIST HEALTH STUDIES

Gary Fraser, of Loma Linda University, probably
understands the Adventist lifestyle better than
anybody else. Trained as a cardiologist and epide-
miologist and an Adventist himself, he has directed
the Adventist Health Studies, an enormous project
entailing several studies tracking tens of thousands
of Adventists for vdecades. In simple terms, the
study asks scores of questions about what people
eat and then follows them long enough to see if
they develop heart disease or cancer or die. Look-
ing back on the data, Fraser can see which diets
are associated with shorter or longer life spans. He
can also cite the cause of death, whether it’s heart
disease, cancer, diabetes, or stroke.

The first Adventist Health Study, the AHS-1,
funded by the National Institutes of Health, fol-
lowed 34,000 Adventists in California for 14 years.
In that study, Fraser calculated that Adventists who
most strictly followed the religion’s teachings lived

DISCOVERING THE BLUE ZONES 31



about 10 years longer than people who didn’t. The
practices most likely to yield that longevity? Fraser
winnowed them down to five, each adding about
two vears to life expectancy:

»Eating a plant-based diet with only small amounts
of dairy or fish

»Not smoking

»Maintaining medium body weight

»Eating a handful of nuts four to five times per
week

»Doing régular physical activity

Think about this for a moment. These are Ameri-
cans. They live among us, drive by the same fast-
food restaurants, shop in the same grocery stores,
breathe the same air, and work in the same jobS we
do. But fhey’re living up to a decade longer than
the rest of us!

In 2002 Fraser and his colleagues launched an
even more ambitious study. The Adventist Health
Study 2 (AHS-2) recruited 96,000 men and women
of all ethnicities. It asked each participant at least
500 questions about their health histories, eating
habits, and physical activity, among other topics.
To figure out how diet affected longevity, the study
divided subjects into four general categories: (1)
vegans, (2) ovo-lacto vegetarians (who consume
eggs and dairy), (3) pesco-vegetarians (who eat
fish and very little meat), and (4) nonvegetarians.

They gleaned several new insights. Meat eaters,
for one thing, tended to consull"ne more soft drinks,
desserts, and refined grains than vegetarians. They
also tended to be fatter. If you were to take two
men of equal height, one a meat eater and the
other a vegan, the meat eater was likely to weigh
an extra 20 pounds and was likely to die sooner.
Although vegans tended to weigh less, they didn’t
live the longest, the study found. That distinction
went to pesco-vegetarians, or pescatarians, those
who ate a plant-based diet with up to one serving
of fish per déy.

OpposITE: Eating a handful of nuts every day can help lower
rates of cholesterol, blood pressure, chronic inflammation,
and diabetes.

-
.

aimmm L LRI CER TR TR

HOLD THE BACON

When a prominent medical journal published the
results of Fraser’s study, | phoned Ellsworth Ware-
ham. | was interested in his take on the article, but
mostly | wondered how he, as a practitioner of
the Adventist diet, 'A_had managed to stick with it
for more than half a century. (At the time he was

REGIONAL CENTENARIAN

ELLSWORTH WAREHAM

Until he was 95 years old, Ellsworth Wareham
could be found in the operating room, assisting
the lead cardiac surgeon. An early pioneer_ in
open-heart surgery, Wareham had spent years
doing three to four surgeries per week, before
retiring from full-time duties at 75. In fact, the
epiphany that led him to adopt the Adventist
lifestyle came to him in an operating room. “In
the early days we’d need to connect the arterial
line into the leg artery. Later it would be straight
into the aorta,” he said. “| observed when | was
cutting down into the legs of these patients
that those who were vegetarians had better
arteries—smooth and supple.” Nonvegetarians
tended to have heavy calcium and plaques in
their arteries. Some lost toes or feet to vascular
disease. “I began thinking about it,” he said. “At
middle age, | decided to become a vegan. With
the exception of an occasional piece of fish, all
| eat are plants.”

DISCOVERING THE BLUE ZONES 33



A0 TR R 00 A0 N 0

99 and still in perfect health.) Most diets fail after
nine months.

“All human tastes, except mother’s milk, are
acquired,” he told me. “You start by eating a little
bit of plant-based food and grow with it. You keep
eating it, and pretty soon you start to enjoy it.”

He told me that eating only two meals a day
helped him to keep his weight down. “| love to eat,”
he said. “When | eat, | eat a lot, and | really enjoy it.
So twice daily is enough.” He almost never ate out
at restaurants unless he had a hankering for salmon.
Nuts were usually part of the n"\enu.

“I know walnuts are supposed to be good, but |
also enjoy peanuts and cashews and almonds. Pur-

ists will tell you to eat them raw, but salted is OK
too—whatever is handy,” he said. “And you know I’'m
very much against sugar except natural sources like
fruit, dates, or figs.”

Wareham said he prefers to drink water, a bever-
age he claimed kept the weight off. He drank at

T

least two glasses when he woke up. “I want to make
sure before | get busy and forget,” he said. Then
he kept drinking water throughout the day. “One
of my little rituals is to never pass a water fountain
without having a little drink.”

As Wareham described his diet, | was thinking
that it sounded pretty biand, the type of food that
might excite a rabbit, and | told him so. “Once you
get used to being a vegetarian, the very idea of
eating a cow’s secretion or an animal’s muscle is
much less appealing,” he replied.

I asked him if he ever thought about mortality,
about dying. “Well, Dan, | do,” he said. “When we
first met, | remember you asking me if | would ever
get to age 100, and now I'm pretty sure | will. | feel
good. My mind is sharp. | still mow the lawn. If | have
any problems, I'm not aware of them.”

| told him | was writing a new book and asked
him how I should describe how he feels to readers.

“Tell them | still feel like I'm 20,” he said.

The Rawson family heads out for a family dirt bike ride in the hills that surround their home in Loma Linda, California.

34 BLUE ZONES




i
|

LONGEVITY FOODS

» WHOLE WHEAT BREAD True

» EVOCADOS High in potassium
and low in salt, avocados may
help reduce blood pressure
and the risk of stroke. Ounce
for ounce, an avocado contains
30 percent more potassium
than a banana, a dietary staple
for many people with high
blood pressure.

*» SALMON The longest-lived
Adventists eat plant-based
food and up to one serving
of fish per day, most often
salmon, well known for its
heart-healthy properties.
Research has suggested that
one to two three-ounce serv-
ings a week of fish rich in
omega-3 fatty acids reduce the
chances of dying from a heart
attack by a third.

# NUTS A study during the 1990s
found that Adventists who
ate a handful of nuts at least
five times a week lived two to
three years longer than people
who didn’t eat any nuts. More
research since then has found
links between nut eaters and

by

lower rates of cholesterol,
blood pressure, chronic inflam-
mation, diabetes, and myriad
other troubles that contribute
to cardiovascular disease.

» BEANS For vegetarian
Adventists, beans and other
legumes such as lentils and
peas represent important
daily protein sources.

» WATER Ellen G. White, founder
of the Adventist Church,
prescribed six to eight glasses
of water daily. Apart from its
well-known hydrating and
toxin-flushing benefits, water
consumption likely pushes diet
sodas, fruit juices, and other
sugar-sweetened or artificially
sweetened beverages out of
the diet.

» QATMEXAL A staple for Adven-
tists, slow-cooked oatmeal
provides a balanced portion
of fats, complex carbohy-
drates, and plant protein,
along with good doses of
iron and B vitamins. Its high
fiber content makes it filling.

: < "’i"‘ ‘Ps
AR

SRS

SYS

of Adventists

100 percent whole wheat
bread adds only 70 calories
per slice to a sandwich, plus
small amounts of a wide
variety of nutrients.

» SOY MILK Adventists use real

soy milk (not the sweetened,
flavored variety) as a topping
for breakfast cereals, a whit-
ener for herbal teas, and an all-
around healthy alternative to
dairy. High in protein and low
in fat, soy milk contains phy-
toestrogens that may protect
against certain types of cancer.
Because it’s so versatile, it

can figure into daily breakfast,
lunch, and dinner.

DISCOVERING THE BLUE ZONES 35



LO141S1a ey HLTVIH
HiesH ed10jenua) 3¢ _c:o_mmméwoohn__cu_

suole|ndod Ajlunwwos yooiqjjed
Wwiiojie|d eouabi||jeiu| ouuaguonendod

m)
!
e




(Y]

| E__m@._.mu..ommb.;wolg

'$$900NS 1sajealb ey} 1o} welboid 11y} Yelo ueo

AHY4 ‘suone|ndod ay} ul seousIBlIp PuUe sajite|iwIs 8y} Buipueisiapun Ag ,'S8lluNWIUIOD paAlesiapun
WIOJ} Saljiue) pue sjuspnis 1o} Buyooo uo-spuey pue ‘Buiuepieb uo-spuey ‘suossa| uoleanpa
[BIUBLLIUOIIAUS paseq aoualos Ybnolayl Siyl op SpA ‘luswiuoliAuS Ayyeay e pue saljiwe} Ayyesy pjing

0} sl 8sodind InQ, ‘esodind paje}s s,uspieL) POOMBAIIQ O} Jejillis S| UoiUBIUl S,dHY4 "QHY4 ul uspien
Alunwiwon) e BuidojaAsp 10} [9pOoW e Sk palepIsuod Buieq ul ‘AllD [euolieN Ul ‘susplesy pOOMBAIIQ

‘leudsoH 3o0.qgjjed jo ojes Buipuad
8y} wol} spaaosoid ay) Buiziiin ‘usplier) AUnwWOo)) B pue J8jud)) SSAU||9AA B JO UO[edIUNWWOD pue

Buiwwreibolid ayy yelto djsy o) sousbijjelul syl si ue|d syl Buidojeasp 0} [eonl)) ‘ue|d oibejelis jeak
BAl} 0] 98141 8y} Juswejdwi pue adeys djay 01 yjjeaH 92.i04e4ua)) asn 0} ayl| pjnom dHH4 ‘8102 U]

uole|ndod uspJen) Allunwwo)

SeAI108[00



DU 0GRS0 30 ALRAOIC AZCIANGRIL  euLp 07

yesH mo.ﬁan_wkcwux

(RO 917U LG} SHY A SN LAty U NaGe ) Faddney s

pooy auebio Ang HO
# uojieindod
zZIVLL %C'92 poay umolB Ajeso; Ang siseq senBal e uo suop SaiARe APuSL-GIT ONY uapses
Ayunwion

Guiuspies) 'SYIUCIL 7 | 1SB| - S3IQQoH/SaMIOY ainsia

Buiddoys A133016 uaym pooy waoib Afleso) Ang o} Loys enxa ue axew | :3aibe Aue NO

S3A SIS PIOYSSNOH SpPoo4 duebi 10 Spoo [eijeN N0 ¢ uogeindogd
a9r'9 %) 'S uspieD
auebi(y 104 Yool Ajetosdsa | ‘pooy jos Buiddoys usym saibe Aue aNY Aunuiwon

Buluspieg SUIUOW Z | 1SB| - SAQQOH/SIMUAIDY 3INSIT

S8 A SIS} PIOYISNOH SPoo4 JuetuQ fo spoo4 [einteN ¥O
Z uogeindog
109’y %801 2uediQ 10y ¥oot Ayeidadse | poay 104 Buiddoys usum 22ibe AUR ONY uapies)
Aunwwon

Buiuapiegy SUIUOW Z| 1SB] - SIGGOH/SANIAIDY SINSIST

[etisjew Bupsodwiod 10 B2y
uapiet omoy/ejqelaban ‘spaas Jo Juejd/spass a|gelatian syuow Z| 1se) bnog ONY

| ependod

12 %G SBA S850) PIOYBSNOH SPOC A diueBi() I0 Spo0H |BIMEN MO uspiRD
ueBliCy 01 ¥00f Afzinadsa | pady 1o Bukidoys usym 2a1be AuB ONY Ajunwuiiod

Buuapieg (SO 7| 1Se| - SSIGOH/SAAIY SINS1aT]
£ uonejndod uonemdog 9% uondudss( uoyejndod uoieinded

arewixoidde s,# pue s,% uoiendod — suoniuye uonendoy

Uopendod Uspien AunuILIo



UljeaH 30404enuad 3¢

LTTT 89%9 LO9'Y LLTT # uone|ndogd
%C TV %6'€V %V 6€ %S5°'8¢ %0 1€ +55 sa8y
%S'1E %l LE %1 8¢ %T°6€ %6°€E S-S€ sady
%E'LL %681 %1'CC %l CC %C'SE v€-8T sa8y

g

LUUJON

co:_ccma\ﬁ$®@<cozm_zaoa
uspJiesy Allunwiulo

L _,A s

uone|ndod



PRSI SILL IV DT T 200 st LI IS 1ADED YT R 0P, B IR SEYE T GENOILOICIG U TSI LU OXT SNCINIAIS TDTT FL MO SRIIS L IS8IN0S SI0LUIE L 30Ut TNTT VN0 LLINED 30 ALISAUIA ALRISHIC0L 3 [RIUGPHUC)

S UilesHeos04enued 3¢
%€ %St %E'S %09 %6'€ 310N 10 000°0S2$
%1'0€ %¥°9¢C %S°LT %6°€E %S°SC 666°6¥C$ - 000°00TS
%91 %L 8T %061 %S'81 %6'€€ 666'66S - 000'SL$
%L 0C %¢E'6T %L LT %8 VT %8°S1 6667L$ - 000°0S$
*x%09°9T %8 L1 %E LT %L LT %L°0¢ 66667 - 000'5T$
* %1 VT %L V1 %9°€T %L 01 %E'ST 0005Z$ 4apun

p uoneindod 93  guoneindod 9  zuoneindod 93 T uonejndod 9) S}NPY +8T

,,zg.,i.,i,, mo_ﬂ_.cfcmb >Q..m.mcooc_ co:m_jo_oa

- uone|ndod uspien Aunwiuwon



%8°9¢€

%CEE

%C 9t

%0°9¢€

%8°LE

931y - auQ

%719

# uone|ndod o)

%8°1S

¢ uone|ndod 9o

uolle|ndo

%819

z uoneindod o)

%1°C9

T uone|ndod o)

%E1S

S}NPY +8T

9UON

uomuyeqg uoiendod Aq uslip|iy)

.m

Ya

uspJer) Allunwiu




REAT G SIYERG I 0,000 3 LTOT WYebAGDT) EAIFIY N PIEPOIAL B0 T SHVIA GEN0ICHIZIN UBSIIIN TURLIEKT SNC IS TDTT AL ) 1330IN0¢ © I0SUBY 4 s/EuE T ¢ PO JEIIGT) +0 ALDUDIC ARIDIIOUA i JELUOPII0Y

L UieeH @os04enuan 3¢

'Ssau||em pue yjjeay [espi ay] Juem o} suoid S| oym suoAue SpJemoj Si
Alsuadoud ey “Ayyesy Alieapr awoosq o} Ajex sem -10- Ayjeay Ajjespi eq pjnoo ‘uoneindod ssaujlam
pue yijesH ayj uj sem oym auoAue Jey) yoreoidde sy 3oo} 8o.i04eus) ‘uoieindod siy) Buiuysp uj

‘welboud

J18Y} 8Zjwijdo 0} ‘ejeald 0} 8ABY PINOM IO ‘Sje|nwa pinod HY4 S108dse jeym pue Ajunwiwon
%00.q|[e 8y} woly Jusiayip Jo/pue Jejiwis si uonendod 10uISig YieaH saili) yoeag syl Moy puejsiapun
01 8jl| pInom QHY4 ‘ABeresis Jisys Bunyelo uj '108lold SBUOZ aN|g pue ssauli4 pue YljesH Joj 18jus)
INjss800Ns e pajuswaldwil sey JoLisIq YlesH saii) yoeag ay] ‘[eudsoH %oo.qjie Jo sjes Buipuad

9y} woJj speavo.d sy} Buizijin ‘usplen Ayunwwo) B pue Iajusy) SSau||op\ B JO UOEDIUNWIWOD pue
BuiwweiBoid sy) yeio dijsy o) sousbijelul 8y si ueld auy) Buidojaasp o] [eonu)) ‘ueld oibeiens Jeak

9Al} 0} 881y} 8y} Jusws|dwi pue adeys djay 0] YiesH 92104eiua)) asn o} 8l PINOM aHY4 ‘8102 U

uolye|ndod ssauj|spn % yileoH

SIVGE]eTe)



ieeH 20404eu80 3¢

shep +1

sAep 7 1sed ul pasioiaxa sAep Jo JaquinN

W3iem
ulelUleW 0} ‘S|3A3] |0433S3|0YD
ulelulew/1amoj 03 WySism
50| 03 ‘ainssald poojq |043u0d
01 ‘Yyjeay poos anaiyoe 01

welgoud uoiianu up Sunedpied Ajpualind Joj suoseay

suondo Juawieasy aJedayyeay Jualayip

9348 Auy INOge pawojul 13113 We | 18y} OS UOIIBW.IOU| dIBdY}|eaY Ydieasal |
99.de Auy 30130e.d |e3lpaw piepuels 03 saydeosdde d13sijoy/aA1euId) e J3sa4d |
9a.48e Auy aJedyyjeay aAneluanald uj aedidiyled |
9a.438e Auy a|doad 3sow ueyy yijeay Aw Inoge pawojul 19133q We |
93.3e Auy 121p paduejeq ulejulew pue spooyj Ayijeay e 0} A} sAem|e

(10| & 9348 pue 33| e 3348e)
9348e Auy

Jamsuy

uejd uonINU pue 131p Aw 01 Jueriodwi SI 9s14ax3

uonsany










Case Study: Driving Population Health

e

Health District Need

In early 2016, Bobbi Palmer, MBA, MSW took over the reigns of the
Fallbrook Regional Health District (FRHD), a non-enterprise health
district supported by taxpayer dollars. Serving approximately 57,000
residents of the Fallbrook, Bonsall, Rainbow and De Luz areas of
northern San Diego County, the district’s mission is to “Promote
health for the people of the District by reducing the impact of identified
major health issues in our District.”

PopulationCentric Solution

Palmer needed a comprehensive picture of the community’s
health, quickly, in order to develop programs to reduce the
impact of major health issues. In the absence of a hospital within
the district, and thus a Community Health Needs Assessment, there
was a lack of complete information about the Fallbrook community’s
health, health needs and socio-behavioral aspects.

CentraForce Health provided Palmer with data-driven Community?
reports which profiled the two zip codes of the Fallbrook community
on Health Indicators, Health Behaviors, Healthcare Utilization,
Adherence, Social and Physical Determinants, Psychosocial and
Engagement and Media. These data-driven insights allowed Palmer
to immediately understand the needs of the entire Fallbrook
community and get plans into action. ‘

2¢ CentraForce Health

Precise. Predictive. Powerful.

“l was quickly
able to
understand the
community’s
health needs and
where the money
should be spent”

Speed and Ease to
Actionable Insights

CentraForce Health provides a
new kind of intelligence. With
our integrated, proprietary
dataset, we produce the
geospatial intelligence you need
on any defined population.

Only CentraForce Health can
provide deep socio-behavioral
insights on populations as broad
as the community or as granular
as a cohort defined and attributed
to a specific geography. With over
8,000 data points, visualizations
and interpretive

analyses, CentraForce Health
helps you drive ROI into your
clinical and business strategies.

centraforcehealth.com

All contents herein are the confidential and proprietary property of CentraForce, LLC and/or its Licensors. Copyright 2017. All Rights Reserved



Case Study: Responding to Behavioral Health Needs

Health District Need

Fallbrook supports full
spectrum community
health services
addressing top health
disparities including
behavioral health, cancer,
diabetes, heart disease
and stroke

In 2016, utilizing the Community? reports, FRHD identified Behavioral Health as one of the most
critical community needs, especially with a large military population within the district. The team at
FRHD engaged with CentraForce Health, to better understand the socio-behavioral aspects of the
Behavioral Health population in their care and how to engage with them and best support their needs.

PopulationCentric Solution

Utilizing the proprietary dataset fueling the
PopulationCentric Intelligence Platform, CentraForce
Health profiled the Behavioral Health population
isolating only those in the Fallbrook zip codes who had

been diagnosed or treated for Behavioral Health issues.

Population mapping: Since FRHD encompasses two
zip codes, quantifying the population by block group
was important to understanding the most pressing
pockets of geographical needs.

Persona for Messaging and Intervention Planning:
Utilizing the numerous data points around Social
Determinants, Engagement and Health Behaviors,
CentraForce Health crafted a Behavioral Health
persona with jumpstarted FRHD’s engagement and
intervention planning.

3¢ CentraForce Health

Precise. Predictive. Powerful.

Results

= Resource Allocation: Fallbrook learned

that a significant portion of the Fallbrook
Behavioral Health Population was
comprised of Men 18-34 and one-third of
this age cohort was Hispanic. FRHD
allocated additional grant money to a clinic
primarily servicing the Hispanic population.

Communication Preferences: The
Internet is this populations “go-to” for finding
information quickly. Researching their
conditions online gives them the confidence
to speak to medical professionals about
them. 21% spend 20 hours or more per
week browsing the internet. The district
provided links on their website regarding
behavioral health resources.

centraforcehealth.com

Ali contents herein are the confidential and proprietary property of CentraForce, LLC and/or its Licensors. Copyright 2017. All Rights Reserved.









Fallbrook Community Overview

Methodology

In this Population Overview, we’ll understand the similarities and differences in
two adult populations for the purpose of creating a snapshot of their media and
engagement behaviors. Graphics are provided to give a visual picture. Grey
bars indicate that the 18+ adults are "less likely," light blue indicates "equally

likely" and medium blue signifies “more likely" than the comparison population.
The green vertical bar demarcates the percentage for the comparison population
(San Diego DMA 18+ adults are the comparison population).

Fallorook Community 18+ Adults vs. San Diego DMA 18+ Adults

Activities

Activities Past 12 Months  Grilling - Outdoor Cooking NN 55.0%
Gardening (Flowers O V... | .1

Lawn Care 33.3%
Swimming

Bicycling

Volunteer Work
Arts & Crafts
logging - Running
Camping

Hiking - Backpacking
Photography

Yoga - Pilates
Fishing

Bowling

% of the
Fallbrook
Community adult
population

Relative indicator
13.%] of the % of the San
Diego DMA adult
population

Interpretation of Visualization
55.1% of the Falibrook Zip Codes population, and 48.8% of the San Diego DMA population, answered Gardening
(Flowers Or Vegetables), to the question Activities past 12 months.

The size of the Fallbrook Zip Codes population answering this question is approximately 23,169 and is 13% more
likely than the San Diego DMA population to agree with this statement (Index: 113).

Less Likely Equally Likely More Likely

All conlents herein are Ihe proprielary and conlidenlial property of CenlraForce, LLC. or ils licensors. | ©2017. All righits reserved ’ Popl‘at'oncentr‘c lntelllgence



Lifestyles and Behaviors Fallbrook Community Overview

Lifestyle and Health Behaviors

Lifestyle

The Fallbrook Community and San Diego DMA are outdoor people with grilling, gardening, lawn care,
and swimming as their favorite activities. Gardening especially rates high with the Fallbrook Community
perhaps because so many of them live in a single family home and have outdoor space. The San Diego
DMA has more joggers and runners again showing that they have a younger population.

Actvitins Past 12 Months  Grilling - Outdoor Cooling | 55.0%
Gardening (Flowers Or V... | 5515

Lawn Care o T SRR R 38.2%
Swimming 1T T TR e e~ 8.1
Bicycling R e T T S
Volunteer Work P N s |o.6%

Arts & Crafts i O A i) 26.8%

Jogging - Running 26.8% !

Camping e e Bt §1.4%

Hiking - Backpacking 20.1*

Photography 18.‘%

Yoga - Pllates fes e s - J6.3%

Fishing R 12.3%

Bowling 13.1%)|

Exercise

Only 18.3% of the Fallbrook Community did not say they exercised at all in the last week. 23.2% exercised
the recommended 5+ times/week. Health club or gym memberships is at 18.3%. When they exercise, it's
walking, running, swimming and weight training. The San Diego DMA is similar in sport activities.

Sports played (participated in) every chance | get Days Exercised in the last week

Fitness Walking/Exercise.. [N 1F.5% 0 Days 18.39‘
Jogging/Running 7j3% 4 Days [ LR
Swimming [T F.S% 2 Days — 15.0%
Weight Training =y bA% 3 Days 13.6%

Use Ce?m:o Niachine —}1.8% 5 Days _ 13.1%
Aercbics 3.4% i

Bicycling - Stationary 1:.0% i Day — 10'1%

Camping Trips {Overnight) 13!.0% 6 Days ﬂ 5.9%

Backpacking/Hiking 2.9% 7 Days 4]2%

Bicycling - Mounzzin/Road P‘..Q%

In both adult populations, around 57.2% responded that there’s “no barrier at all” to exercise, due
to a medical condition. A majority of the population has “somewhat of a barrier” when it comes to

sabotaging themselves by finding excuses to get out of exercising

Somewhat Of A Very Significant
Not A Barrier At Al Barrier Strong Barrier Barrier Very Smail Barrier
| Have A Medical Condition Which Prevents Me From Exer.. _'5742% - 18.1% W8.1% ‘4.0% -} 11.2%
I¢'s Easier o Fin Excuses Not To Exercise Than To Go Out.. 1 SN 28.2% ) 330% ) 14.8% [105% li23%
o M Intelli :
; ellig PATFORM
All conlenls herein are lhe proprielary and confidenlial properly ol CenlraForce, LLC. or ils licensors. / ©@2017. All rights reserved ¢ omncenmc n""hgence;



Lifestyles and Behaviors Fallbrook Community Overview

Lifestyle and Health Behaviors

Alcohol and Smoking

Smoking is a small percentage of the population. Around 5.3% smoke and 41.3% - 43.5% drank alcohol

in the last 30 days. However frequency is a little higher for Fallbrook with 14.1% drinking 3 or more times
a week versus 10.1% of the San Diego DMA.

Currently Smoke Or Use Any  Yes, | Smoke Cigarettes [ 5.3%

Tobacco Products On A Yes, | Use Electronic Ciga..  .7%
Regular Basis Yes, | Smoke Cigars |0.3%
No. Of Packs Of Cigarettes Less Than 1 Pack W 2.1%
Smoked Past 7 Days 1 To 4 Packs Bl11%
5 To 8 Packs J 1.6%

Alcoholic Beverages - Drink L.. Yes B s S LT I ST 1%
Types Of Alcoholic Beverages  Beer — 26.8%
Drank Past 7 Days Wine S R 26.5%

Liquor (Spirits) TR 19.0%

Hard Cider - 3.5%

Wine Coolers {Bartles & 1. |o.sss
Wine - How Often Usually Never 34.3%
Drink Less Than Once A Month | 21)2%

3 Times A Week Or More _ 14.1%
2To3TimesAMonth | ENNY 13.2%
17To 2 Times A Week I 10.5%

Once A Month bo2%
Diet
45.2% of the Fallbrook Community believe they have an average diet with 30.4% saying that they have a
healthy diet. Average Diet Healthy Diet Unhealthy Diet
How You Evaluate Your Diet At Home In Terms Of Health .. | EEEEEG_— <52 I 0.4% 3%

Overall the Fallbrook Community population participating in a nutrition program want to achieve
good health at 40.9%.
For those who are dieting, their reasons are to lose/maintain weight, control blood pressure, cholesterol

and blood glucose levels. The amount of weight to lose is not overwhelming with 10.1% wanting to lose
1-10 Ibs. and 13.2% want to lose 11-30Ibs

Reasonsfor  To Achieve Good Health | ho.9%
currently To Lose Weight T s T T ST | 31.8%
participating In | Am Not Currently Managing My Diet Or Nutrition 299%
nutrition To Maintain Weight SRS R T 235%
program To Lower/Maintain Cholesterof Levels (TSR] 20.3%

o Control Blood Pressure T T 17.3%

To Lower/Maintain Blood Glucose Levels — 10.3%

| Am Lactose Intolerant 5.1%

| Have Food Allergies =5.0%

Other .5%

To Gain Weight W 1.6%
WeightLoss 1 To 10 Pounds I 10.1%
goals 11 To 20 Pounds 5.5%

217o 30 Pounds I 7.7%

31To 40 Pounds o o%

41 To 50 Pounds &.6%

51 To 100 Pounds 2%

101 Pounds Or More hs%

¢
- . -
L} op! ntelii puarron
All contenls herein are lhe proprielary and conlidential property of CenlraForce, LLC. or ils licensors. / ©2017. All rights reserved * P "aﬁoncenmcﬂ‘ tel gence



Lifestyles and Behaviors Fallbrook Community Overview

Food

Fast Food Attitudes

The majority of both populations, do not endorse fast food from the perspective of ‘| prefer fast food to
home cooking,” “Eating fast food helps me stay in my budget” or "Fast Food fits my Busy Lifestyle.”
This is in contrast to the number of times that these populations visit fast food establishments. Over half
of both populations visited fast food 5+ times in the past 30 days.

Any Agree Any Disggree
| Like The Trend Towards Healthier Fast Food T AR I | J07.4% - JER
i Think Fast Food Is All junk R TI pa.2% I |23.4%
Fast Food Fits My Busy Lifestyle [ = el '18.4% [ et e ‘13.2%
Eating Fast Food Helps Me Stay In My Budget B jo.3% by T e SN *3.9%
i Prefer Fast Food To Home Cooking -E‘o% T e T T, 8.9%
1Time 2 Times 3 Times 4 Times S Times 6-8Times 10 Timas Or M. Hone

Family Restaurants
Fast Food Restaurants

Shopping

h3z% mj1is%  EEMjss% WMi121%  W{oex WM 125% W63 | 16.4%
W so% o 7.7% o io%  EE0s%  WE[102%  EEEj210% hoas% m| 108%

Weekly food shopping reflects the eating habits of the household. Except for Prepared Foods (Chicken,
Salad Bars, Sandwiches, Etc.) and baby food, both populations shop for fairly similar items.

Food Products Household
Used Past 7 Days {HHLD)

Fresh Produce - Frulis-Types
taten

fresh Produce -
Yerctzbles-Types Eaten

All conlents herein are lhe proprielary and confidenlial properly of CenlraForce, LLC. or ils licensors. / ©2017. All rights reserved.

Coffee
Fresh Meat

69.3%

Packaged iteat (3acon, . | 0.5
Muts e A Al M OB s« 53.6%
" Ice Cream, Frozen Juice b.. | : 5%
Yopurt (NotFrozen) [ 5 5%
Pretzels, Chips, Popcorn | |1 ¢
ReadyTotatCoreal | %
Tortilas e e e MR . |
Candy T TR T S s NS Tt §3 2%
saisa IR U AT SRR e 305w
Soup {Canned Or Dry Mix) | :7.:%
Prepared i ST I 32.39‘
Energy Bars/Nutrition Hars | 21.9%
Frozen Pizza I 17]4%
Baby Food 39%
Non-Urgane I ol Tt U CR AR P DL 6]5%
Organic R A 27
Non-Organic IR 5 - (56 TS e D A LB Bk | 55 5%
Grganic fi R BN AR 0 2h.2%

4
t’ PopulationCentric Intelligence i



Engagement and Media

Engagement

Health Information Gathering

Fallbrook Community Overview

Both populations are again similar when it comes to the “first place | look for info- health.” They look to
the internet overwhelmingly at close to 42%. Both populations gather health information mostly from
their doctors, but also utilize websites, and less so with newsletters. 37.3% and 39.5% of the San Diego
DMA population “Trust The Opinions Of My Family And Friends About Health Related Issues”.

The web is not a place to discuss health concerns, for both populations, slightly under 15% of both
populations are “More Comfortable Talking About Health And Wellness Concerns Online Than Face-To-

Face”

Concerning health, while the internet is used as a resource for information, it is not considered the

method to confirm a diagnosis.

First Place | Internet
Look For Info - Tv
Health Friends
Family
Newspapers
Do Not Lock For information On This Topic
Magazines
Blogs
Radio

i
]

i

e - S U e M T a1 2%

R { 5%
4%

Healthcare Inf.. | Trust The Opinions Of My Family And Friends About Hez.. (RN

Information | Gather Health Infarmation From My Doctor
Gathering I Gather Health Information From Websites

| Gather Health information From Newsletters

| Gather Health Information From The Library

Any Agree Any Disagree

Healthcare  More Likely To Visit A Heaith Website That Was Recomme.. || <}.2% I 17.5%
Information  Online Videos 4elp Me Understand Compticated Subjects 35.4% ECTEEER 2%
Attitudes Mare Comfortable Talking About Health And Weliness Co.. 1}.3% S I R R T [17.8%

The doctor is the healthcare source that both populations value “very much.” Similarly, they are likely to
value “very much” pharmacists, nurses/physician assistants, medication packaging and health
information websites. Friends/family are regarded as “somewhat” influential but not the authority.

It's also instructive to look at what healthcare sources are valued “not very much.”

Kot Very Much Somewhat Very Much
Personal  Doctor W ss% | 25.4% R T [52.9%
valueof  Pharmacists ] 13.0% B S 42.0% I [25.2%
healthcare Nurses/Physician Assistants - 11.7% 47.6% —32.7,6
sources  Medication Packaging/Labels I 20:5% I 41.4% 1%
Medical Journals 15.9% 34.9% 115
Health Information Websites = 15.5% — 41.8% _HIBJK
Government Websites I 24.2% 30.3% 13.6%
Health-Related Publications | 19.0% I 41.2% 12.4%
Friends/Family I 25 5% R .0 11.2%
Search Engine Results 21.9% 42.6% 10.4%
Websites Dedicated To A Particular Health Conditiun ) 24.2% =41‘8% 9.7%
Association/Non-Prafit Websites | 24.0% _ 35.2% 9.0%
Alternative/Holistic Medica! Practitioners —ﬂ 34.3% — 33.2% =7.9%
Brochures/Pamphlets In Healthcare Professionai's Office | IZG,G% m 47.1% = 7.6%
Brochures/Wallboards/Other information in A Healthcare .. _'27.8% _ 46.9% 6.7%
5
>
All conlents herein are (he proprielary and conlidenlial property of CenlraForce, LLC. orils licensors. / ©2017. All rights reserved ..’ Popl‘am“cenmc Inte"lgence(



Engagement and Media Fallbrook Community Overview

Engagement

Technology and Internet
Both populations are equally likely to have smartphones and laptops.

They slightly are more likely to be an Android user and must be fairly satisfied with their service, since
85% are most likely not to switch carriers.

This population is also more likely to use their phones to access the internet.

Computer/Mobile Devices Smartphone {IPhone, Gal..

Currently Own Laptop Or Notebook Co... | 2 =
Tablet (IPad, Galaxy Tab, . | 55.5%
Desktop Computer 58.1%
Smartphone - Currently Use  Yes v DA STy o s R AL s e i U ST Sl 1 S I A LTS R N TE Y
No I 17.3%
Smartphone - Operating  Android R P P e N 350k
System (0S) i0s RS i T SR 35.0%
Other Operating System . 2.2%
windows .Iz.z%
BlackBerry OS 5%
Why Check In On Celi Share Location With Uth.. a4%
Phone/Smartphone Receive Points/Deals/Re.. zIZ%
Other ”2.1%
Recommend Places To Fr. 0%
irack Personal History/A.. 1,7%
Discovery Of New Locati.. i_4’6
Wireless/Cell Phone Cariier - Vo 8p%
Plan To Switch Next 12 Mon.. No B o s R S S N S SN
Wireless/Cell Phone Carrfers  Verizon Wireless I I 20.1%
Currently Use ATRT —l 21.1%
T-Mobile I 115
Other Carvies I 5%
St 7j3%
None _|£S.2%
Cricket i.S%
MetroP(S 3%
Boost Mobile Jr6%
Trackone |O.7%
Virgin Mobile io.ﬁ%
Wireless/Cell Phone Features  Texting PRS0 T e e ) e e e N Ui 1 S Rl RS DR IO 3%
Currently Use Uate (E-Mai Interner, .. | 5.% |

ireless;Cell Prone Fayment Receve Bill £ach Month SN

plan Currently Use Prepaid Uszge P | 13.2%
Wirgless/Cell Phone Used To  ves R T e A T A K e R e 59.2% |
Fccess Internet No I 2¢.4%

All conlenls herein are the proprielary and conlidential properly ol CenlraForce, LLC. or ils licensors. / ©2017. All righls reserved

t’ PopulationCentric Intelligencer=



Engagement and Media Fallbrook Community Overview

Engagement

TV

The Fallbrook Community watches TV a little longer than the San Diego DMA. 32.6% of the Fallbrook

population watches 2-8+ hours of TV daily. This is compared to 30.3% of the San Diego DMA
population.

Email comes in first as an information source with TV coming in second for the Fallbrook Community.
The San Diego DMA population go to their cellphones first. This shows again the age difference in these
two populations.

Time Spent,  None 4l
Watching TV Under 15 Minutes 4.6%
15 Minutes To 30 Minutes '.9%
30 Minutes To Under 1 Hour abw
1 Hour To Under 2 Hours 9.‘%
2 Hours To Under 5 Hours [V o= o X s of ool o i 13.6%
5 Hours To Under 8 Hours _ 9.0%
8 Hours Or More - 3.3%

TV/Cable I Like Television Commercials That Make Me Laugh B S R B s e S S ST T 5 A%

Attitudes | Typically Avoid Watching Television Commercials I e o R R e S T e Y 420%
Television Is My Main Source Of Entertainment e e I Y e NI N IS S S T 4;0.1%
1 Rely On TV To Keep Me Informed _'39.1%
Nearly Ali TV Advertising Annoys Me — 36.1%
Whenever Commerciais Come On, | Change Channels R T A S S e L *.5!6
| Enjoy Watching Kids' TV Shows With My Children P R RIS 19.1’6

TV/Cable Cable Networks/Stations ESPN e e R . 20.9%
Stations Watched Past 7 Days Discovery Channel SRS eI i 28.5%
History R E GRS TERR | 26.3%
A&E 24.0%
FOX News Channel BRI TR R 22.1%
HGTV ET R Y 1515
85 — 18.9%
Food Network IR eTTEEE e [18.5%
AMC NS 18.1%
ST LTI R

USA

Comedy Central I, 1715

ESPN2 DR 5 1 5

Cooking Channel T 6.2

National Geographic Cha.. _ 15.0%
TCM (Turner Classic Movi.. | 12.5%
147k

HBO

The Weather Channel I, 14.7%

INT Drama 14.3%
FX 13.9%

High Importance

Informatio E-Mail 39jo%
nSource  Cable Television Network T P 1 T P T P U s Ay ey 33.3%|

Cell/Smartphone 32.0% |

Text Messages 28.0% I

AM/FM Radlo SR I g e el SR S 274%

Broadcast Television Networks _ 26.1%

Print Newspapers | 23.8%

Newspaper Websites Bl o e T T I %N%

Social Networking Sites 21.8% '

Print Magazines SR O R - 2104

Landline Telephone [t o valh s el L

Satellite Radio PEETENSSTETETRR T 15.%
7

‘: PopulationCentric Intelligence ==
All conlents herein are Ihe proprielary and conlidential property of CenlraForce, LLC. or ils licensors. / ©2017. All rights reserved

.



Engagement and Media Fallbrook Community Overview

Engagement

Print

While print does not have the impact that it used to, close to 40% of each of the populations still spend
some time reading newspapers and magazine.
Print Attitudes | Value The Local Paper Because It Covers Locai News — 40.2%

I spend Less Time Reading Newspapers In Print Because .. [ 35 4%
1 Spend Less Time Reading Magazines In Print 8ecause Of .. | 34.3’6

1 Trust The Information i Read in Newspapers A iR R RS R T e o%
t Rely On Newspapers To Keep Me Informed _ 21.0%
I Read A Newspaper Most Days — 20.9%
! Often Read Ads In Magazines Just Out Ot Curiosity —; 19.7%
| Enjoy Reading Ads In Magazines — 16.0%
Most Magazines Are Worth The Morcy PR T e §3.9%
| Rely On Magazines To Keep Me Informed R 12.2%
| Often Visit The Websites Of The Magazines | Read _llo.s%
Magazines Are My Main Source Of Entertainment Py | .9%
| Cannot Resist Buying Magazines — 8.8%
Under 15 15SMinutesTo 30 MinutesTo 1HourToUnder 2 HoursTo 5 Hours To
Minutes  30Minutes  UnderiHour  2Hours  UnderSHours Under8Hours BHOUrsOrMore  None
Time Reading Magazines N a5 B 12 o Bo% JLo% J1e% lo.8% W e2%
Spent  Reading Newspapers B os% I 116% a9% |12% |28% {r0% |17% W 3.0%

Radio

Half of both populations listen to the radio. Most have it on in the car and about 40% listen every day.

Radio Attitudes When In The Car, | Always Listen To The Radio e e e T e S e i M e A A, 5P 6%
IListen To The Radio Every Day N S R i 14 ] WA fo.0%
i Listen To The Radio When | Need A Quick News UPDAte 26.2%
| Spend Less Time Listening To Non-Internet Radio Becaus.. [ 23.
i Rely On Radio To Keep Me Inform:ed “ 22.9%
Radia Is My Main Source Of Entertainment I 1.0%

Under 15 15 Minutes To 30 Minutes To 1 Hour To Under 2 Hours To 5 Hours To
Minutes 30 Minutes  Under 1 Hour 2 Hours Under 5 Hours  Under 8 Hours

Time Spent  Li-tening o The Radio s % I 101% ) 15.1% S 7% % Jex l21% ) 53%

8 Hours Or More None

Events Attended

The most popular events for both populations are sports, with theme parks close behind. The Fallbrook
Community enjoy the theater and jazz/blues concerts more tan San Diego DMA population.

Events Any Professional Sports Event B R o 3o e e BRI heacs e MBS o o1 S 40.3%

Attended/ Any Theme Park b S M A S SR S 43.1%]
Places Visited, Zoo ¥ Rt S A e R, 34.%
past 12 months san Diego Zoo (o e e ARl o S e S 00, 33.0%]

San Diego Padres Baseball Game P sy e B e | 31.7%

San Diego County Fair I S s RSP S e 067

Coronado £ S R L S S SR R | 29.3%]

Gaslamp Quarter R W ST 15.1%

Live Theater R | 1 5%
San Dicgo Zoo Safari Park e T Y

Sea World {San Diego) 20.3% l
Disneyland (Anaheim) — 20.1%
Other Muscum R e {7.8%
Other Musical Concert (Jaze, Biues, Etc.) _- 17.0%
Any Paid Ticket Music Concert e SN [15.0%

-1

3

All conlents herein are he proprielary and confidential property of CenlraForce, LLC. or ils licensors. / @2017. All rights reserved.

ﬁ:’ PopulaticnCentric Intelligencer=i:



Engagement and Media Fallbrook Community Overview

Engagement

Print

While print does not have the impact that it used to, close to 40% of each of the populations still spend
some time reading newspapers and magazine.

Print Attitudes | Velue The Local Paper Because It Covers Local News SN <0.25%

1 Spend Less Time Reading Newspapers In Print Because .. T T N S T B R e = ] 35 456
| Spend Less Time Reading Magazines ir. Print Because Of .. N e T e e R SRS T 2] =, 34.3‘6

{7rust The Information i Read in Newspapers —Jhsm
i Rely On Newspapers To Keep Me Informed SRS TSRS 21.0%
i Reat! A Newspaper Most Days BRI L Y 209%
i Often Read Ads In Magazines just Out Of Curiosity NIRRT TS 19.7%
| Enjoy Reading Ads in Magazines — 16.0%
Most Magazines Are Worth The Money _BPQ!
| Rely On Magazines To Keep Me Informed _121’6
1 Often Visit The Websites Of The Magazines | Read _!10.55‘
Magazines Are My Main Source Of Entertainment | pali =t #9%
| Cannct Resist Buying Magazines -__! 8.8%
Under 15 15MinutesTo 30 Minutes To 1 HourTo Under 2 Hours To 5 Hours To
Minutes 30 Minutes Under 1 Hour 2 Hours Under 5 Hours  Under 8 Hours © Hours Or More .
Time Reading Magazines 137% N 112% N 3% jo% |1o% fre% Jo8% 8.2%
Spent  Reading Newspapers 95% W) 1% [ 5o% |12 |28% Jio% |17% 3.0%

Radio

Half of both populations listen to the radio. Most have it on in the car and about 40% listen every day.

Radio Attitudes When In The Car, | Always Listen To The Racio sp.6%
1Listen To The Radio Every Day o e L O R SR BRI =St R fr0.0%
iListen To The Ragio When | Need A Quick News UPDAte ¥ 26.2%
15pend Less Time Listening To Non-Internet Radio Becaus.. P L P S A e A e 233
1 Rely On Radio To Keep Me Informed 22.9%
Radio Is My Main Source Of Entertainment i e #.ou

Under 15 15Minutes To 30 Minutes To 1 Hour To Under 2 Hours To 5 Hours To 8H orm N
Minutes 30Minutes  UnderiHour  2Hours  Under5Hours Under8Hours © HoursOr More ol

Time Spent  Listening To The Radio s.9% o0y (S 15.1% N fi1.7% $3% fre% f21% [ EE

Events Attended

The most popular events for both populations are sports, with theme parks close behind. The Fallbrook
Community enjoy the theater and jazz/blues concerts more tan San Diego DMA population.

Events Any professlonai Sports Event B A S S T FA I S s 443%
Attended/  Any Theme Park BT LT e e e ———————
Places Visited, oo b S R R e S e DS S L 34.9%
past 12 months san Diego Zoo A S AN 33 4%

San Diego Padres Baseball Game _ 31.7%

San Diego County Fair e e T e N ST TS R ) 30.6%

Coronado L AR SR AT S AT T T T 29 3%

Gaslamp Quarter T E i )

Live Theater DR 1 5%

San Diego Zoo Safari Park _ 21.8%

Sea World {Szn Dlego) 20.3% ’
Disneyland (Anaheim) ks R 20.1%
Other Museum [, T e

Other Musical Concert (Jazz, Blues, Etc.) |_- 17.0%

Any Paid Ticket Music Concert T RS [15.0%

g

': PopulationCentric Intelligencerz::
All conlents herein are the proprielary and conlidential properly of CentraForce. LLC. or ils licensors. / ©2017. All rights reserved ' g



Engagement and Media Fallbrook Community Overview

Engagement

Email
Almost one fifth of the both populations “..like to hear about new products and services via email.”
All'in all the San Diego DMA population spend more time on emailing.

Email Attitudes ! Like To Hear About New Products And Services Via E-Mall [N 14#

Emailing, Time None hL.o%
SpentDaily  Under 15 Minutes I 1 6%
15 Minutes To 30 Minutes 12f%
30 Minutes To Under 1 Hour — 12.1%
1 Hour To Under 2 Hours o0 i ko%
2 Hours To Under 5 Hours 6.*
5 Hours To Under 8 Hours ‘).9%
8 Hours Or More b.z%

Social Media

50.2% of the Fallbrook Community is on social with 53% of the San Diego DMA adult population. Most use
social media/ Some follow sites to get discounts but the majority use social media to connect with friends.
Facebook, YouTube and Pinterest are most popular. Twitter is used by about 12% each population.

Social Media  Facebook Bt e e T e N e e e e e T NG NS 60.8%
Sites, past 30 YouTube 38.9% |
days Pinterest P e | 21.5%
Linkedin B S S T 8 6%
Twitter R 1) 3%
LivingSocial T .2%
Social Media  Social Media/Networking W.. Yes B T o v e e B i 1 TR I S T 502
Usage Social Media/Networkng Less Than One Year |1.6%
Websites-How Long 1 Year To Less Than 2 Ye.. - 3.7%

2 Years To Less Than 4 Ye.. —Im.m
4 Years To Less Thun 6 Ye.. —hlo%

6 Years Or More ST | 20.}%
Why o Get Discounts And/Or.. |G 15}
Support/Follow/Friend/Fan o Get Product Informati.. 126%
Scl Newrk Site For Sales Announcements —'90)(

To Get A Sneak Peak At N.. 8of

Because It Says Somethin.. 6.2’5

Friends Of Mine Are Fans s.‘m

Gter ad%

A Friend Recommended 1. 4.3’4

To Get Better Customer S.. 3,

To Meet Other Consume.. 3p%

None Of These i.s%

Text
71.6% of the Fallbrook Community population are texters. One quarter keep it to one to four texts a day.
No. Of Text Messages Sent  None I | 5%
Yesterday On Wireless/Cell 1.4 fexts — - a5
Phone 5 -9 Texts 12.5% |
10-19 Texts OIS 1] 5%
2029 exts 2%
30 69 Texts I 2%
56- 74 Toxts ) 3.0%
75 99 Texts W11
100 Texts Or More 2.4%
All conlents herein are the proprielary and confidential properly of CenlraForce, LLC. or ils licensors. / ©2017. All righls reserved # PopwmnnCeninc Intelllgences









G ° @ ° @ 9 Search SEARCH
Shg e ot e BErts miésmboiin

OOK.! or Sd l‘l 0da
america.org/join/)

-

:‘:Q \ ) . . d (https://salud-america.org)
odlU

-~ America!

g“aiu d (https:/salud-america.org)

America!

Success Stories Take Action
Issues News About
" https://salud- (https://salud- . i
https:/salud- (https _ . . (https:/salud- (https:/salud-
gmcl:rica.org/issues/) :g:fi'::?)’"g/ gticcess :g'tg::;?'“g/ take-  ;merica.org/news/) america.org/about/)

November 17,2017

The Dire Impact of Childhood Obesity on
Mental Health

by Amber Trevino (https://salud-america.org/author/trevinoam/)

ull By The Numbers

22

PERCENT
OF LATINO YOUTH HAVE
DEPRESSIVE SYMPTOMS (A
RATE HIGHER THAN MOST
OTHER GROUPS).

LEARN MORE (HTTP:/SALUD-
Share On Social! AMERICA.ORG/ISSUES/HEALTHY-

MINDS/)
(/#facebook)  (/#twitter)
(/#google_plus)  (/#linkedin)
(/#email)
(https://www.addtoany.com/share#url=https%3A%2F%2Fsalud-ameri
childhood-obesity-on-mental-
health%2F&title=The%20Dire%20Impact%200f%20Childhood%200besity



You probably know obesity is bad for a child’s health.
But did you know obesity takes a toll on children’s minds, too?

An overweight or obese child has three times the risk for depression in adulthood
as a normal-weight child. Risk rises four times for children who are overweight or
obese in both childhood and adulthood, according to a new study, CBS News
reports (https://www.cbsnews.com/news/overweight-obese-children-higher-risk-
depression-as-adults/).

Sadly, Latinos suffer high rates of both obesity and mental health conditions.

That is why knowing the facts—and having the resources available can alter the
effects of obesity on mental health—can lead child tc a healthy lifestyle.

The Facts on Obesity

Childhood obesity is defined as a diagnosis for any child (same sex and age) “with
a Body Mass Index at or above the 95th percentile”, according to the Center of
Disease and Control (CDC)
(https://www.cdc.gov/obesity/childhood/defining.html). Overweight is a BMI at or
above the 85th percentile and below the 95th percentile for children and teens.

W Borctsseowhita [ Roohoosncbiood 8] e depaic Asur [remsn [

(https://salud-

america.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/11/Fig.4-Youth-obesity-bar-graph-
e1510700350751.png)
Source: CDC/NCHS, National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey, 2011-2014
You can calculate your BMI or your child’s BMI with a Body Mass Index Calculator.
(https://nccd.cdc.gov/dnpabmi/Calculator.aspx)

Latino kids have a higher rate of obesity (21.9%) than non-Latinos, according to the
CDC.

The reasons for Latino childhood obesity are complex, ranging from limited access
to healthy food (http://salud-america.org/food-latino-kids-research-review), more
access to sugary drinks (http://salud-america.org/sugary-drinks-latino-kids-
research-review), health barriers in schools (https://salud-
america.org/issues/healthy-schools/), less access to safe places to be physically
active (http://salud-america.org/active-spaces-latino-kids-research-review), and
developmental issues (https://salud-america.org/state-latino-early-childhood-
development-research-review/).

Obesity’s Mental Health Effects

Childhood obesity has big health effects. It can increase the risk of asthma,
diabetes, sleep apnea, bone and joint problems, and high cholesterol.

Obese children are more likely to become obese adults, too. Adult obesity is linked
to increased risk of serious health conditions including; Type 2 diabetes, heart
disease, and cancer.

(https://salud-
america.org/wp-



content/uploads/2017/05/iStock-467795160.jpg)Obesity’s mental health impact is
critical, too.

Childhood obesity can lead to sleeping disorders, anxiety, depression, and low self-
esteem. Obesity can make it harder for kids to participate in activities, and even
chores may become dreadful.

Kids also become a target for bullying. Many children will experience being teased
or bullied, because of their excessive weight. Trying to reach that ideal body weight
bears self-esteem on an
individual, and self-esteem
leads to depression.

Latino kids already face a lot
of bullying due to
discrimination, according to
Salud America! Mental Health
Research. (https://salud-

america.org/healthymindsresearch/)

With the rise in adolescent obesity and the increased use of social media influence
on body image, its important to understand the associations between obesity and
depression.

A Healthy Lifestyle

So what can we do?

The authors of the new study on childhood obesity and depression told CBS News
that parents help their children achieve a healthier weight through eating healthy
and being physically active. But don't focus too much on size.

James Zervios of Obesity Action Coalition told CBS News that it takes a whole-
family approach to tackle obesity.

“l also think it's important to talk with your child and see if they're being bullied or if
they're being fat-shamed at school!” Zervios said. “That can obviously impact the
child’s well-being and mental health”

Check out these other healthy lifestyles resources:

o Dietary Guidelines for Americans
(https://health.gov/dietaryguidelines/201 5/quidelines/)

e Physical Activity Guidelines for Americans
(https://health.gov/paguidelines/guidelines/)

* Read more on Childhood Obesity (https://salud-america.org/?
s=childhood+obesity+)

And don't forget to tell us your big idea for healthy change
(https://saludamerica.salsalabs.org/schoolactionpack/index.html) in your child’s
school!

(/#facebook)  (/#twitter)

(/#google_plus)  (/#linkedin)

(/#email)
(https://www.addtoany.com/share#url=https%3A%2F%2Fsalud-ameri
childhood-obesity-on-mental-
health%2F&tit!e=The%20Dire%20lmpact%200f%200hildhood%200besity



Explore More:

Bullying (https://salud-america.org/category/healthy-minds/bullying/), Depression
(https://salud-america.org/category/healthy-minds/depression/)

Read Stories About Depression

(https://salud-america.org/therapeutic-  (https://salud-america.org/murals- (https://salud-
video-series-cues-latina-women-to- with-a-message-bring-hope-in-mental- america.org/undiagnosed-depression-
confront-their-emotions/) health-campaign/) common-among-latino-cancer-
patients/)
NOVEMBER 10, 2017 NOVEMBER 1, 2017
New Videos Help Latinas Murals With a Message OCTOBER 25, 2017

Share your thoughts



0 Comments salud-america

 Recommend & Share

@ Start the discussion...
g’ITE' ke

LOCINWITH OR SIGN UP WiTH DIsaus (?)

Name

Q Login

Sort by Best

Be the first to comment.

ALSO ON SALUD-AMERICA

New Rankings Show Healthiest & Least Healthy Counties
in Texas

+ Patel — Great Tips! | would like add one more is children
under the age of 6 should use a pea-sized amount of paste or
gel to minimize swallowing. http://www.32pearlsdental.com/

SF to Consider Universal Childcare for Residents

/Nie. — Why do we need to encourage women to join the
work force? If a family is content with the wife/mother at home,
what is the problem? Why aren't city officials asking why it ...

Subscribe Q Add Disqus to your siteAdd DisqusAdd 8 Privacy

Salud

America!

ABOUT US

Salud Americal is a national Latino-focused organization that
creates culturally relevant and research-based stories and
tools to inspire people to drive healthy changes to policies,
systems, and environments for Latino children and families.
The network is a project of the Institute for Health Promotion
Research (IHPR) (http://ihpr.uthscsa.edu) at UT Health San
Antonio (http://www.uthscsa.edu).

v UT Health

San Anto nio

lnstltute for Health
Promotion Research

Streetsblog’s Sorriest Bus Stop Competition

— test 2

UC Irvine is the ‘Most Popular’ University in CA for
Latinos

Joan 1 —— | have a foster child with ADHD, and | found that
foods high in salicylates make his attention worse, because they
over-stimulate the brain. Many food chemicals, like food ...

&

Robert Wood Johnson Foundation

(//www.rwjf.org/)
CONNECT WITH US

(https://wvitfas|

Salud Ainerical 9 7411 John Smith Ste. 1000 San Antonio, TX 78229 e (210)562-6500 saludamerica@uthscsa.edu

lagi4)



[What's so
special]

Beach Cities Health District
(BCHD) is one of the largest
preventive health agencies in the
nation serving the communities

of Hermosa Beach, Manhattan
Beach, and Redondo Beach since
1955. It offers an extensive range
of dynamic health and wellness
programs, with innovative services
and facilities to promote health
and prevent diseases in every
lifespan—from children to families
and older adults.

California Special District asked
BCHD to talk about some of those
‘rograms and services that enrich

the communities they serve.

Mindful Living Eve

Beach Cities Health District

BCHD implements the Blue Zones Project®. Please
tell us about the Blue Zones Project® and how
BCHD is invelved.

Blue Zones are the five areas of the world
where people live the longest and the Blue
Zones Project” is a community well-being
improvement initiative designed to change
the way people experience the world
around them. By impacting environment,
policy, and social networks, Blue Zones
Project® makes healthy choices easier. As

a result, people can live longer, better,

and communities can lower healthcare
costs, improve productivity, and boost
national recognition as a great place to live,
work, and play. (From healthways.com/
bluezonesproject)

The Beach Cities (Hermosa Beach,
Manhattan Beach, and Redondo Beach)
joined the national Blue Zones Project®
movement in 2010 and achieved

ryday Keeps the Doctor Away

certification as a Blue Zones Community®
in 2016. Blue Zones Project® allows BCHD
to directly address population health issues
and utilize a world-class measurement tool
(Gallup polling) to chart our progress. The
Beach Cities are the largest community to
ever reach certification and are experiencing
arguably the most dramatic health
outcomes — including measurable declines
in overweight, smoking and stress rates
among residents. Changes supported by
the Blue Zones Project® in the Beach Cities
include:
* Bike lanes including a protected bike
path and reverse angle parking
* More than 130 Blue Zones Restaurants®
(healthy restaurants program)
¢ Comprehensive tobacco control
ordinances
¢ City adoption of a bike master plan,
Beach Cities Livability Plan and Living
Streets policy



Beach Cities Health District

1955
123,000
Los Angeles

Established:
Population:
Location:

Blue Zones Project® focuses on the Power
9 principles (http://www.bchd.org/power-
9-principles) and helping to make the
healthy choice the easy choice:

* Move Naturally — The world’s longest-
lived people live in environments that
constantly nudge them into moving
without thinking about it.

® Purpose — Having a sense of purpose
is worth up to seven years of extra life
expectancy.

* Down Shift - Stress leads to chronic
inflammation, associated with every
major age-related disease. Reverse
disease by creating a stress-relieving
strategy that works for you.

* 80% Rule — Eat mindfully and stop
when 80 percent full. The 20 percent
gap between not being hungry and
feeling full could be the difference
between losing or gaining weight.
People in Blue Zones eat their smallest
meal in the late afternoon or early
evening and then don’t eat any more
the rest of the day.

® Plant Slant — Adding more fruits and
veggies to your plate can add years to
your life. Beans, including fava, black,
soy, and lentils, are the cornerstone of
most centenarian diets.

* Wine @ 5 — Enjoying company
with others is important for social
connection.

Califomia Special District — September-October 2017

Website:
Budget:

ot e e To HABITS

Ty 13
RINCIPLES -
m:—-“'&:“f:
Rty

® Belong — Research shows that
attending faith-based services four
times per month will add four to 14
years of life expectancy.

® Loved Ones First — Successful

 centenarians in Blue Zones areas put

their families first.

* Right Tribe — The world’s longest
lived people also choose—or are
born into—social circles that support
healthy behaviors. Research shows
that smoking, obesity, happiness, and
even loneliness are contagious. The
social networks of long-lived people
favorably shape their health behaviors.

How has BCHD's implementation of the Blue
Zones Project® improved outreach to the
communities BCHD serves and what are some
measurable outcomes of the program?
The Blue Zones Project® is a community-
wide initiative — meaning it depends on
community involvement. The Blue Zones
Project® in the Beach Cities has partnered
with local schools, restaurants, workplaces
and organizations to implement Blue
Zones Project® programming. Beach
Cities showed the following results on the
Gallup-Sharecare Well-Being Index from
2010 -2017:
* The number of obese residents
came in at less than half the national
average.

www.bchd.org
$11 million

* Just 12.1 percent of residents are obese,
compared to 23.8 percent statewide and
28.1 percent nationally.

* Smoking declined more than 17 percent.

* Daily significant stress dropped 9
percent from the rate measured in 2010,
which at the time was on par with post-
Katrina New Orleans and recession-
ravaged Detroit.

BCHD also hosts a variety of school and youth
programs — one being the Walking School Bus.
Please tell us about this program and how it has
benefited the communities taking part.

The goal of Walking School Bus is simple:
Students will safely walk to school on a
regular basis with adult supervision. The
program increases daily physical and social
activity for children as well as engages
adult volunteers, thereby promoting a well-
rounded healthy community.

Since 2011, BCHD has partnered with
school officials, volunteers and parents

that want to offer the Walking School

Bus program. In 2016-17 school year, 60
volunteers led 30 Walking School Bus
routes with hundreds of students. In the
last decade, a strong culture of walking has
been adopted by school districts in the Beach
Cities because of the program’s success

In addition to the Walking School Bus,
BCHD locally directs, in partnership with
the Hermosa Beach, Manhattan Beach
and Redondo Beach school districts, the
MindUP program. This research-driven
curriculum blends mindful awareness
practices with the science behind how the
brain functions and reacts to stimuli like
stress, anger and anxiety — emotions that
research shows to be increasingly prevalent
among young people today — to help
students become emotionally articulate and
grow socially. One example is Pennekamp

Continued on page 42



Elementary in Manhattan Beach
where each morning begins the
same way — before the first class

bell sounds, roughly 600 students,
teachers, and parents gather together
in organized groups on the blacktop
for a full minute of complete and -
utter silence.

BCHD provides local teachers with
the required training to administer the
in-class lessons, which include daily
breathing exercises, meditation and
interactive lessons on the parts of the
human brain that regulate different
emotions. Each teacher is encouraged
to tailor the lessons to fit their
personal teaching style and classroom
culture. Since first implementing the
program in select Beach Cities schools

What's So Special [continued]

‘six years ago, a significant number of

principals and administrators have
reported fewer incidences of bullying,
disciplinary office visits and emotional
outbursts on campuses where
MindUP has taken hold.

Did BCHD programs develop out of a need
from the community?

Since 2010, BCHD programs have
saved 21 million in direct medial
costs. For every tax dollar received,
BCHD returns $3.50 in programs
and services to the community.
BCHD has an evidence-based
strategic planning process to
prioritize and guide funding and
programmatic decisions. The

plan includes a community needs
assessment process, which informs

v" New Thresholds for Contractor
Registration and Agency PWC-100
v" SB 96- New Penalties

v State/Federal Funded Projects

www.ccmilcp.com ©  650-522-4403 o
info@ccmilcp.com

. PREVAILING WAGE »
LABOR COMPLIANCE

v" SB 96 - New Prevailing Wage Rules

v" Contractor/Subcontractor Compliance

Workshop- Septemlier 26 at 2 p.m.

e

- =

CAD

~— California

. Solutions

BCHD’s Community Health
Snapshot Report. This critical data
helps BCHD achieve its vision and
meet its strategic planning goals.

BCHD’s partnership with Blue
Zones Project® has also afforded
access to the Gallup-Sharecare
Well-Being Index (WBI). The
WBI is a national measure of
well-being that provides leaders
with the information they need to
create solutions for making their
community healthier. w

For more information on these
programs, please visit:
* behd.org/bluezonesproject
* bchd.org/walkingschoolbus
* bchd.org/snapshot

Introducing

Dataasa
Service

Data that actually makes sense

Information for confident

decisions - High Quality

Customized data sets

Delivered in an industry
standard format

800-617-4447
www.calcad.com
proservices@calcad.com















Mindfulness - Present
AM BRINGING MY AWARENESS
outward. I am perceiving the
dense humidity of a summer
: afternoon as I stand on a city
sidewalk and the way the hot
air feels inside my lungs. I am present to ob-
serve the passage of time and how it seems
somehow slowed down. I am cognizant of
sharing this space with a small cluster of men
and women around me. Or to put it another
way, the meditation teacher has stood up the
class. Some days, the lessons in mindfulness
take you in unexpected directions.

Ask 10 people to define “mindfulness,” and -

you'll likely get 10 different responses. But
the basic concept of the word is straightfor-
ward. It’s about putting

. down our juggling balls

for a little bit. It’s about Min dfuln ess i S

embracing the beauty

of monotasking. Is Qlyout putting
down our

Jon I“(aba‘t-Zinn has put juggling balls for
s, wemion 3 Nittle bit. It's

about, as mindfulness
author and instructor

in a particular way: on

ment and more. Corporations such as American
Express and Nike have been jumping on the
bandwagon, taking mindfulness training pro-
grams to their staff. Apps like Headspace—“a
gym membership for your mind”—have been
downloaded millions of times. A 2012 study
by the National Institutes of Health found that
more than 33% of Americans said they had used
alternative health practices, including medita-
tion, over the course of the year.

I am a longtime, if erratic and extraordi-
narily imperfect, practitioner of meditation.
But recently, as the demands of 21st-century
life—work, parenting, a seemingly limitless and
often self-imposed deluge of emails to answer
and texts to reply to and Instagram posts to
Like—have ramped up,
I've found myself em-
bracing one of the great-
est side effects of my
practice: the mindful-
ness that helps calm me
wherever and whenever,
even in the midst of my
most cacophonous mo-
ments. And like a grow-

purpose, in the pres- about embracing ing population of indi-

ent moment and non-
judgmentally”

plative practice has its
roots in several of the
world’s major belief systems—most recogniz-
ably Buddhism but also in Hinduism, Judaism
and Christianity—you don’t have to subscribe
to any particular religion or philosophy to ex-
perience mindfulness. And if lately you’ve felt
that some psychic decluttering might be just
what the doctor ordered, you’re far from alone.
It’s no coincidence that as we find ourselves
increasingly barraged with distractions—a 2013
University of Southern California study esti-
mated that the average American consumes an
astonishing 13-plus hours of media a day—we
simultaneously find ourselves in the midst of a
mindfulness revolution. You can see evidence
everywhere. Hospitals across the country are
increasingly using meditation, yoga, guided im-
agery and similar alternative practices as part
of the health-care offerings to patients under-
going surgery, pain management, cancer treat-

the beauty of
Though the contem- monotaSking.

viduals similarly chafing
against the rigors of what
the writer Linda Stone
has aptly diagnosed as
“continuous partial at-
tention,” I've experienced the proven physical
and mental benefits of regular pauses.

HEALTH BENEFITS

The perks of mindfulness are tangible. The
American Psychological Association cites it as
a hopeful strategy for alleviating depression,
anxiety and pain. But mindfulness doesn’t
just seem to boost mood and perception—the
effects go deeper. Mindfulness practice can
shrink the brain’s jumpy “fight or flight” cen-
ter, the amygdala, according to 2013 research
out of the University of Pittsburgh and Carne-
gie Mellon University. Another study, done at
the University of Wisconsin—Madison, found
that people who meditate regularly have dif-
ferent patterns of brain electricity, potentially
leading to more efficient attention-paying
and learning. Change your thoughts, and




[
E
i
!

——

ee—p

Participants attend an evening session at MNDFL, a meditation studio that
opened in New York in 2016,

maybe you can even change your brain.

For me, mindfulness has been a power-
ful tool against my migraines and panic at-
tacks. It’s a masterful hack, using my own
thoughts to quell my stormy brain, reduc-
ing my migraine-medication consumption
and my shrink visits. But that doesn’t mean I
don’t still often struggle, like everybody else,
through the current of information overload.

“I think there’s been a kind of confusion in
our culture where people have felt that they
have to be anxious, uptight and always on

the go to be effective,” says psychologist and
author Daniel Goleman, whose groundbreak-
ing best sellers include Emotional Intelligence
and The Meditative Mind. Goleman notes that
in our competitively frantic culture, “people
are feeling a little desperation. It used to be
you left work and went home. Now you’ve got
your devices that follow you everywhere. The
body is designed to be energetic and active
and then recover. People don’t have any re-
covery time—there’s been this silent, invisible
ratcheting up of invasion of our space.” The



result, he says, is that “everyone’s multitask-
ing like crazy—and the more you do it, the
worse you get at it.”

IN PRAISE OF MONOTASKING

It might sound counterintuitive, but it's true.
Research out of the University of California,
Irvine, reveals that not only do people tend to
switch activities an alarming every three min-
utes during the course of a typical workday,
but it takes them significantly longer to get
back on the original task. And as U.C. Irvine
professor Gloria Mark told Fast Company in
2008, all that ricocheting leads to “higher lev-
els of stress, frustration, mental effort, feeling

Mindfulness « Present

bad habit of being unjust with ourselves. But
if we sat down at the piano for the first time
and couldn’t play an exquisite piece of music,
we wouldn’t give up.”

It also helps to understand that there are
no prizes handed out for attaining the World’s
Greatest Mindfulness. Salzberg instead advises
to think of mindfulness as “about connecting to
our experience in a different way—a quality of
awareness where we're not adding stuff” Call it
the life-changing magic of tidying up your own
thoughts. She adds, “For many of us, we start
wondering what’s it going to feel like next week,
next month. When you see that anticipation ris-
ing, you can come back to the now. Mindfulness

of time pressure and helps us wake up?”’
mental workload.” M f That’s how my friend
In contrast, Goleman anv o us, Whitney, a digital edi-
says, “a relaxed, alert ylf D ! d d tor at a high-profile me-
state is the optimum for mys? mciucde 5 dia company, learned
Enird'p::lfsnnance in any perSEStently :]o let go and found her
€ etes try togetin ow. Living in New
that state, because that’s wear our York shortly after 9/11,
;vehen tl:ieglrmn przczsnsles Oversﬁmulation she. was fexperiencinge:;
st and the min c- _ variety of stress-relat
tions at its peak.” as a badge Of health issues when a
No wonder mindful- friend persuaded her
onor.

ness is increasingly be-

ing integrated into the

workplace, with initiatives such as Google’s
10-year-old Search Inside Yourself training
program. Since 2007 it has been used by big-
name businesses in the tech world and be-
yond, deploying centuries-old techniques to
boost productivity and stave off burnout.

Yet many of us, myself included, persis-
tently wear our overstimulation as a badge of
honor. When was the last time you answered
a job listing for a position in a thoughtfully
paced environment, for a candidate able to
handle one thing at a time?

But if you're the kind of person whose im-
mediate reaction to meditation is an insis-
tence that your brain just works too fast and
you simply can’t, you're exactly the kind of
person who needs it most. Author and medi-
tation teacher Sharon Salzberg says, “I hear
people say, ‘I tried it once; I failed at it’ I
think the fear and the sense of having failed
are born of some misconception of what is
supposed to happen. Most of us have a pretty

to attend a meditation
class. It was not exactly
a duck-to-water experience.

“I'm incredibly speedy; I'm incredibly dis-
tracted,” she says. “I remember the first time I
sat in meditation, I was just thrilled that I could
sit still for a half-hour. There are some people
who areimmediately like, ‘Yup, got it, but it was
so not the case for me”” Instead, she admits, “I
honestly think for the first few years I justkinda
sat there.” She adds, “Meditation is an amazing
practice, but what matters is what happens off
the cushion. It’s the application and how you
work with mindfulness in your life. It means
I'm trying to stay in the present in the way that
I approach my work or the way I'm washing a
dish. 'm trying to pay more attention.”

Richard Davidson, the founder of the Cen-
ter for Healthy Minds at the University of
Wisconsin-Madison, has built his career on
studying just these issues. Consistent prac-
tice, he says, can improve your skill set to
“accept things without strongly attaching to
them”—a major stress-busting technique.



Mindfulness - Present

“It’s not that we don’t experience intense
emotions,” he says. “It’s that they will recover
to baseline more quickly. We may experience
emotion that’s appropriate in the situation
but then not have it bleed over into the next.
There’s no lingering, no stickiness.”

Over time, I have come to look upon my
practice as I do my local pizzeria and my week-
end naps: not always great, but usually plenty
good enough for my spirit. Mindfulness for
me has meant purging a slew of apps from

surprisingly civilized. As Goleman puts it,
“Every time you do a rep with a free weight,
you're strengthening a muscle. Every time
you bring your mind back, the stronger it gets,
the more focused.” _

If there’s any downside to mindfulness,
though, it’s that lately, I can’t help feeling inun-
dated by, well, mindfulness. The word appears
on popular adult coloring books and vegan
mayonnaise labels. At times, mindfulness
seems like this year’s kale—a hipster buzzword

my phone and my no- on the brink of wearing
tifications from almost R " out its welcome.

everything, It's meant ConSlStency m But authentic self-
overcoming my dread of ° care is not about sand-
boredom and sometimes mlndeIness wich spreads, and it
going out for a run with- matters more definitely shouldn’t be

out listening to music.
It’s meant similarly giv-
ing myself permission

than all-or-
nothing, built-to-

dismissed for being
trendy. Rinzler points
out, “Back in the ’s0s,

to not eat lunch in front o o if you said you were go-
of my computer. It’s fal.l extr emes: It S ing for a run, someone
been taking a moment llfelong project.  wouldask, ‘Who’s chas-

to sniff a tomato before

chopping it for a salad

or to take a few slow, steadying breaths when
P'm feeling overwhelmed. These are not exactly
revolutionary practices. They are challenging. I
often blow it. That’s kind of the point.

MAKING THE COMMITMENT
I am sitting on a cushion in New York’s tran-
quil and spacious MNDFL studio. My eyes
are closed and my breath is steady. I am lis-
tening to our instructor guide us through a
compassion-awakening meditation. I am in
the zone. Then I remember I need to stop
on the way home for milk and bananas. But
that’s not a failure of my meditation—that’s
an example of mindfulness. I recognize that
I've tuned out, and I try again. “If you drift
off, you're just getting to know what’s going
on in your mind,” MNDFL co-founder Lodro
Rinzler later affirms to me. Mindfulness, he
says, is “something that’s hard to mess up.”
As if to prove the point, when class is over
and I'm standing at the supermarket line, I am
doing something remarkable. I'm not looking
at my phone. I'm not listening to a podcast in
one ear while listening to the grocery Muzak
in the other. I'm just . . . buying food. It feels

ing you?’ I think this is
the next wave of that.
I think we’re hitting this point with mindful-
ness—all these studies have come out that
show you’re going to sleep better; you’re going
to be less reactive. Now it’s your doctors and
not just your hippie friends talking about it
Like engaging in physical exercise or eating a
more balanced, plant-based diet, consistency
matters more than all-or-nothing, built-to-fail
extremes. And like all of those things, a dedi-
cation to mindfulness is a lifelong project.
Iamaworkin progress. If you happen to pass
me sometime on the street, you will note that I
will not be floating serenely above the sidewalk
as light pours out of my third eye. You will in-
stead see a busy mom, most likely hustling her
kids to the next thing they need to be hustled
to, tapping on her phone in reply to some new
urgent demand from somebody, gamely try-
ing to navigate the throng like a character in an
"80s-¢era arcade game. But I'm trying to pay as
much attention as I can, as often as I can. T keep
trying because it keeps being worth it, because,
as the philosopher Simone Weil observed, de-
cades before the digital age, “Attention is the
rarest and purest form of generosity” And it’s
the gift worth giving ourselves.

by

sl el



ks

et e e

BY MANDY OAKLANDER

\

| Dosomeone afive-minute
! favor
g*‘ Volunteering helps people connect
| to others, which aids in recovering
4| from stress. You can do the same
thing at work by, say, getting a cup
of coffee for someone who's having
a bad day. Spot a need, and, for
five minutes, be the one to fill it.

J

Play with a puppy
Beg your boss, if necessary: one
study showed that when employ-
ees brought their dogs to work,
they felt less stressed and were
just as productive as they were on
canine-free days.

Hide your phone
Even if you're not using it, simply
being able to see a cellphone
hinders your ability to focus on
tough tasks, a pair of 2014 stud-
ies found. The mere presence of
a phone also made people trust
and like each other less than if it
weren't present, according to other

L research. J

Eight Ways to Be Zen at Work

This is how you can improve well-being on the job

TALLYING UP SICK DAYS ISN’T THE ONLY WAY TO TELL HOW SOMEONE AT WORK IS FARING.
A recent analysis of American workers found that despite the rise of corporate wellness
programs, disengagement at the office costs the U.S. $550 billion each year, and work-
related stress tacks on an additional $300 billion. But new studies are turning up surpris-
ing strategies that improve both well-being and productivity. For starters, people are hap-
pier and more engaged when they accept that work is the pits sometimes,
suggests. Another idea: find ways to detach. “If your goal is feeling better, you need to get
your head out of work,” says Reb Rebele, a researcher with Wharton People Analytics at the
University of Pennsylvania. Experts recommend these evidence-based tricks for reducing
stress on the job. (And don’t worry: “Learn to meditate at your desk” isn’t on the list.)

a recent study

Take a break before lunch
People who take breaks in the
morming feel more restored and
less emotionally exhausted than
people who take breaks in the
aftemoon, a 2016 study found.
Moming breakers were more
likely to say they were satisfied
with their jobs, too.

»

( gack | =
n 10 #
—
] Let yourself procrastinate Dimppearforabit Gossip with your co-workers End the day like vou mean it
| Inone study, a researcher gave Take a 10-minute walk daily—it “Social time is really valuable, A 2016 study found that if people
People a task and let some of helps to put it on your calen- even for introverts,” Rebele says. think they should be reachable

I them play five minutes of Mine- dar—and don’t ruminate about But to truly detach—and reap the after work, they feel less in control
{ Sweeper. Those who played the work while you're gone, Rebele productivity and wellness benefits and have more of the stress hor-
[ game generated ideas consider- advises. Instead, listen to a of a solid break—you have to mone cortisol. Meanwhile, another
ably more creative than those who podcast, make a phone call, do keep the conversation office-free. study shows that as long as your
[ § Eotrightto the task. Their minds a walking meditation or bring a work gets done, putting in more
{ Wwere most likely chewing away at friend to talk about something hours doesn’t make you a better

{ the problem in the background. nonworkvelated [see right]. ) worker in your boss’s eyes. J

e y \ L

[ ‘ Sources: Global Wellness Institute; Journal of Occupational Health Psychology; Social Psychology; International Journal of Workplace Health Management, Journal of Applied Psychology, Onginals, by Adam Grant; Harvard Business Review



Fallbrook Regional
HEALTH {ﬂ%yDISTRICT

Memo
From: Bobbi Palmer, MBA, MSW, Executive Director

To: Board of Directors

Behavioral Health Data Trends and Projections
2010-2020

CentraForce Community Assessment data is highly specific and localized to our District.

Following are data points related to “burden of disease” and prevalence in San Diego County.
More specifically and based on CentraForce Data the following four (4) disorders
demonstrates a consistent uptrend of behavioral health need indexes in the Fallbrook
.ealthcare District. These projections in the next six (6) years will account for the Fallbrook
Healthcare District area and is comprised of Fallbrook, Bonsall, Rainbow and Deluz.

1. Diagnostic Criteria for Major Depressive Disorder and Depressive Episodes; DSM-V for
Mood Disorders (MDD)

2. Anxiety

3. Acute Alcohol Disorder

4. Impulse Disorder

Compared to the county average, Fallbrook Healthcare District residents and more specifically
behavioral health needs are projected to be 6.0-10% higher than the county average. Based on
this population; 52% of residents are 55 and older which includes a higher percentage of those
75 years and older.

Used prescription medication for anxiety and panic (%of adults) demonstrate there will be an
increase of approximately 5.3 to 6.6% in the next 6 years. Included in the trends and
influences related to health indicators, estimate that the number of residents diagnosed with

lzheimer’s disease and other Dementias of 55 year olds and older will increase by
approximately 23% by the year 2030.



CBS NEWS June 20, 2017, 4:07 PM

Hospital's Fresh Food Pharmacy program
prescribes food instead of pills

Many health care providers nationwide are prescribing food instead of medicine
to tackle the obesity epidemic.

Doctors in more than a dozen states are moving away from recommending
surgery or pills, and participating in programs that offer healthy food to patients
struggling with medical issues related to their weight.

One hospital in central Pennsylvania is taking the effort even further, reports CBS
News' Jan Crawford.

At Geisinger Hospital in central Pennsylvania, food deliveries turn medical
professionals into temporary grocers.

It's all part of a new Fresh Food Pharmacy, now open in the heart of coal country,
where shuttered mines have contributed to high unemployment and rising
poverty, which has made healthy eating a low priority.

The program was created by Dr. Andrea Feinberg, Geisinger's medical director
for health and wellness.

Dr. Andrea Feinberg/ CBS NEWS

"We have a higher incidence of obesity, a higher incidence of diabetes and food
insecurity," Feinberg said. According to Feinberg, the program is offering people
hope and a "new way to look at diabetes."



"There are pockets of communities around the United States where the word has
not gotten out that food is really medicine," she explained.

The pilot program, which started just nine months ago, currently serves more
than 60 patients and their families, providing healthy food free of charge to more
than 200 people each week along with nutrition classes and cooking advice.

But making a drastic change in diet isn't easy. Feinberg admits, some people do
complain.

"They're not that excited. First of all we ask them just to be flexible. "Try it. You
don't like it, no problem. Come back and tell us, we'll come up with new recipes,"
Feinberg said.

Geisinger is one of the first to set up a standalone Food Pharmacy, but it draws
inspiration from more than 70 food prescription programs across the country
hoping to reverse a frightening trend.

More than 100 million Americans are either diabetic or pre-diabetic, and the
Centers for Disease Control predicts that by the year 2050 one in three adults in
the U.S. could have diabetes.

Rita Perkins has had diabetes for more than 20 years. After enrolling in the Food
Pharmacy program in March, she cut her blood sugar and cholesterol in half.

Perkins said the program is indeed making a difference in her life. How long does
she plan to stick with it? "Probably for the rest of my life," Perkins said.

Feinberg says those results are not unique.

"It's over-the-top successful," Feinberg said, telling CBS News it's worked for
"every single patient."

"We're talking about reversing the diabetes. Curing the type 2 diabetes and help
the patients move themselves from the sick category to the healthy category,"
Feinberg said.

Geisinger says despite giving away food for free, the program is expected to
actually save money by reducing long-term medical costs. The Fresh Food
Pharmacy program has been so successful, they're already planning to expand —
hoping to put similar programs in place at a dozen other locations across
Pennsylvania and New Jersey

© 2017 CBS Interactive Inc. All Rights Reserved.









Food Is Medicine

Opportunities in Public and
Private Health Care for
Supporting Nutritional

Counseling and Medically-

Tailored, Home-Delivered Meals

3| CENTER FOR HEALTH LAW
£ _® /& POLICY INNOVATION

"/ Harvard Law School




sl DIGITAL ACCESS TO

i SCHOLARSHIP AT HARVARD

Food Is Medicine Opportunities in Public and Private Health Care
for Supporting Nutritional Counseling and Medically-Tailored,
Home-Delivered Meals

The Harvard community has made this article openly available.

| Please share how this access benefits you. Your story matters.

Malinda Ellwood, Sarah Downer, Emily Broad Leib, Robert
Greenwald, Duncan Farthing-Nichol, Eusebius Luk, and Adrienne
Mendle. Food Is Medicine Opportunities in Public and Private
Health Care for Supporting Nutritional Counseling and Medically-
Tailored, Home-Delivered Meals. Center for Health Law and

~ Policy Innovation, Harvard Law School (2014).

Citation

Published Version http://www.chlpi.org/wp-content/uploads/2013/12/6.5.2014-Food-
is-Medicine-Report-FINAL .pdf

Accessed October 13, 2017 3:19:55 PM EDT
Citable Link http://nrs.harvard.edu/urn-3:HUL.InstRepos:32151131
Terms of Use This article was downloaded from Harvard University's DASH

repository, and is made available under the terms and conditions
applicable to Other Posted Material, as set forth at
http://nrs.harvard.edu/urn-3:HUL .InstRepos:dash.current.terms-of-
use#LAA :

(Article begins on next page)



Written by Malinda Ellwood, Sarah Downer, Emily Broad Leib, Robert Greenwald,
Duncan Farthing-Nichol, Eusebius Luk, and Adrienne Mendle

The Center for Health Law & Policy Innovation provides information and technical assistance
on issues related to health reform, public health, and food law. It does not provide legal
representation or advice. This document should not be considered legal advice. For specific
legal questions, consult with an attorney.

-
[

CENTER FOR HEALTH LAW
& POLICY INNOVATION
Harvard Law School

¢




Acknowledgements

We gratefully acknowledge the generous support and insight provided by the M-A-C AIDS Fund
and members of the food and nutrition services community in making this paper possible. We
are particularly indebted to Community Servings in Boston. This organization’s dedicated CEO
and other staff were the first partners to share with us their expertise and insight in providing
medical nutrition therapy, home-delivered, medically-tailored meals, and other essential food
and nutrition services to their critically and chronically ill clients. The content of this paper
builds on our organizations’ joint effort to integrate food and nutrition services more fully into
Massachusetts health care and to examine opportunities for new food and nutrition service
funding support through the state’s Medicare and Medicaid programs and private health
insurance system.

Following our work with Community Servings, we began to deepen our connections to the
broader food and nutrition services community, and to research potential sustainable funding
streams and integration opportunities for food and nutrition services on a national level. With
assistance from the M-A-C AIDS Fund, Community Servings (Boston), God’s Love We Deliver
{New York), Moveable Feast (Baltimore), MANNA (Philadelphia), Project Angel Heart (Denver),
Project Open Hand (San Francisco), Project Ange! Food (Los Angeles), Heartland Health
(Chicago), Mama's Kitchen (San Diego), and many others, we offer this paper as a tool to assist
Medically-Tailored Food and Nutrition Providers (MTFNP) in exploring opportunities to support
and integrate the critical services they provide into the larger health care infrastructure as a
means to improve health outcomes and lower health care costs.

While we recognize that the concept of food is medicine is broad and encompasses a wide
spectrum of interventions, it is our ultimate hope that this paper will be one of many that
contributes to shifting the current medical paradigm of health care to one that encompasses all
aspects of health, including access to healthy, nutritious food.

About The Center for Health Law and Policy Innovation (CHLPI)

The Center for Health Law and Policy Innovation of Harvard Law School (CHLPI) advocates for
legal, regulatory, and policy reforms to improve the health of underserved populations, with a
focus on the needs of low-income people living with chronic illnesses and disabilities. CHLPI
works with consumers, advocates, community-based organizations, health and social services
professionals, food providers and producers, government officials, and others to expand access
to high-quality health care and nutritious, affordable food; to reduce health disparities; to
develop community advocacy capacity; and to promote more equitable, and effective heaith
care and food systems. CHLPI is a clinical teaching program of Harvard Law School and mentors
students to become skilled, innovative, and thoughtful practitioners as well as leaders in health,
public health, and food law and policy.



Table of Contents

I. Introduction: The Case for Medically-Tailored Food and Nutrition
INTEIVENTION SEIVICES ....coceeeiereeeeeeeieeeeeeeeneeeesseeeeneeeneees e s 3

Il. Opportunities for Reimbursement and Integration of Medically-
Tailored Food and Nutrition Providers with Public and Private

INSUFANCE.......ciiiiicccntieeeceecteeceeseeesseeneeeseesseessesssssnssmssmne s e 9
A. MediCaid ........cueiiuiereiinrrierrnreeeeeseeeeeseesneeeeesneesessesenesses s s 9
B. Medicare...........eceeeireeeeeecieneeeseeieseeesseesesssesssssss s 22
C. Dual Eligible Programs: PACE and Integrated Care Organizations
L8 T A LN LTI C A A it ST BT i R 26
D. Opportunities for MTFNPs Through Future Medicare and
Medicaid Innovation Initiatives ..........c..ceeveemeeneeeeeeeeeeeeeeoeoooen, 28
E. Private INSUranCe..........coceeevueeceeeeeeeeenereeeeeeeeeeeses e 30

lll. Conclusion: Recommendations for Medically-Tailored Food and

NULFItION Providers ..........ccocuivueenereneiceeeneennsinnennesnessessessesnssssmss e 37

Appendix: Overview of Food Support Programs ..............eeeeeevemvnn.. 40

i SNAP: AN OVEIVIEW ....voeeereeeeeeeeeeeee e 40
ii.  Title Il of the Older Americans Act: An Overview ...................... 44
iii. The Child and Adult Care Food Program: An Overview.............. 45
IV, WIC: AN OVEIVIEW ...covneeeeeeiteeeeee oo 46



|. Introduction: The Case for Medicalfy-Tailored
Food and Nutrition Intervention Services

For critically and chronically ill people, food is medicine. With adequate amounts of nutritious
food, people who are sick have a better response to medication, maintain and gain strength,
and have improved chances of recovery. Ultimately, access to healthy food leads to improved
health cutcomes and lower health care costs.

Food is increasingly recognized as a core component of preventive and ameliorative health
care. A variety of innovative initiatives aimed at embedding nutrition into medical care are
underway, such as efforts by local food banks to package diabetes-appropriate food boxes for
pick-up by pre-diabetic clients or pilot programs that empower providers to prescribe fresh
produce vouchers for their undernourished patlents

While we recognize that the concept of food as medicine is broad and encompasses a wide
spectrum of interventions, this paper focuses on the provision of nutritional counseling and the
delivery of medically-tailored, home-delivered meals to those with debilitating chronic or acute
ilinesses. These types of interventions, hereafter known as medically-tailored food and
nutrition intervention services or MTFNI, have been proven to dramatically reduce menthly and
overall health care costs for high-risk, high-need patient populations. 2 They also reduce the
frequency of hospital admissions and length of hospital stays, and increase the probability that
patients will be discharged from the hospital to their homes instead of to acute care facilities.?

For years, the Ryan White HIV/AIDS Program, a discretionary federal program that provides
funding for core medical and support services for low-income individuals living with HIV/AIDS,
has recognized this important connection between food and health. The Ryan White Program
provides reimbursement for “Medical Nutrition Therapy” as a core medical service. It defines
this service to include “nutritional supplements provided outside of a primary care visit by a
licensed registered dietitian; [that] may include food provided pursuant to a physician’s

recommendation and based on a nutritional plan developed by a licensed registered dietitian.”*

! presentation Slides: The Bristoi-iMyers Squibb Foundation Together on Diabetes Initiative, Strategies and Policy
Recommendations for an Equitable Response to the Type 2 Diabetes Epidemic, Feeding America Diabetes Initiative,
Preliminary Results: 6 Month Behavioral and Health Outcomes,
http://www.nmgf.org/presentations/13DoykosPMEtAlICP1.pdf.; Wholesome Wave’s Fruit and Vegetable
Prescription Program to Launch in New York City Hospitals. www.wholesomewave.org,
http://wholesomewave.org/fvrxlaunchinnychospitals/ (last visited September 9, 2013).
2 Jill Gurvey, Kelly Rand, Susan Daugherty, Cyndi Dinger, Joan Schmeling, and Nicole Laverty, Examining Health Care
Costs Among MANNA Clients and a Comparison Group, Journal of Primary Care & Community Health (June 2013),
4-5.

*1d.

% HIV/AIDS BUREAU, Division OF METROPOLITAN HIV/AIDS PROGRAMS, National Monitoring Standards for Ryan White
(2013), avaiiable at http://hab.hrsa. gov/manageyourgrant/f iles/programmonitoringparta.pdf.



These services are often provided by community-based organizations, many of which were
developed in response to the growing need for nutrition support within the HIV community and
rely exclusively on Ryan White Program funding. These community-based organizations and the
services they provide are an integral part of the larger, whole-person model of care for HIV that
has been developed through the Ryan White Program. This model has helped transform
HIV/AIDS from a deadly disease to a chronic illness. Recognizing the potential for food and
nutrition interventions to improve health outcomes for other disease populations, some
organizations which have relied on Ryan White funds have been able to expand their services
over the years to include individuals living with other chronic and critical ilinesses.

Organizations that provide MTFNI to clients with debilitating iliness (whether HIV or another
condition), hereafter known as Medically-Tailored Food and Nutrition Providers or MTFNPs,
play a crucial role in keeping medically vulnerable people healthy and at home in their
communities. Their services respond to the fact that people with acute and chronic illnesses
often have difficulty obtaining and preparing adequate food. Malnourished patients are twice
as likely to be readmitted to a hospital within 15 days of discharge and have a much higher risk
of death than patients who are well-nourished.® With such high stakes and the potential for
significant health benefits and cost savings, it is imperative to advocate for full integration of
MTFNI into health care delivery systems.

This paper explores opportunities for MTFNPs to broaden their client base and seek
reimbursement for their services in the public and private health care systems, both as these
systems exist currently and as they continue to evolve according to the requirements of the
Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act (ACA). It begins by explaining how MTFNPs are
different from other meal-delivery programs, and why the medical nutrition expertise of
MTFNPs uniquely positions them to provide services to people with distinct health conditions
and nutritional needs. It then discusses common issues that MTFNPs will need to address as
they seek to maximize their funding streams through health insurance reimbursement for
services. Ultimately, this paper provides a five-section overview of opportunities for MTFNPs in
different public and private insurance structures.

* In Section A, we discuss opportunities for increased integration of MTFNI and
reimbursement for services under current and future iterations of Medicaid. We also
look at a new coordinated care model created by the ACA, Medicaid Health Homes, and
address its implications for coverage of MTFNI.

® In Section B, we examine opportunities under Medicare and a new coordinated care
model for Medicare recipients, the Accountable Care Organization.

*Su Lin Kim, Kian Chung Benjamin Ong, Yiong Huak Chan, Wai Chiong Loke, Maree Ferguson, and Lynne Daniels,
Mainutrition and its impact on cost of hospitalization, length of stay, readmission, and 3-year mortality, Clinical
Nutrition (June 1, 2012), Vol. 31, no. 3 pp.345-50.



o In Section C, we discuss programs for people who are dually eligible for both Medicare
and Medicaid, including the Program of All-Inclusive Care for the Elderly (PACE) and
Integrated Care Organizations (ICOs).

® In Section D, we identify opportunities for MTFNPs to be part of innovative
demonstration projects funded by the Center for Medicare and Medicaid Innovation.

o Finally, in Section E, we address opportunities to contract with private health insurers
and advocate for strong federal and state support of MTFNI in the private insurance
marketplace.

We also include an appendix summarizing government food support programs that may
provide other sources of funding for MTFNPs, including the Supplemental Nutrition Assistance
Program (SNAP), Title Ill of the Older Americans Act, the Child and Adult Care Food Program
(CACFP), and the Special Supplemental Nutrition Program for Women, Infants, and Children
(WIC).

In each section, we discuss the potential for reimbursement of two services typically provided
by MTENPs: nutrition counseling and the provision of home-delivered meals. With a rapidly
changing health care landscape focused on cost-saving and innovative delivery models,
opportunities for reimbursement of home-delivered meal services coupled with nutritional
counseling are likely to grow.

We understand that providing medically-tailored food and nutrition intervention services to
critically and chronically ill individuals is just one exampie of how food acts as medicine. Access
to healthy food over the course of a lifetime can entirely prevent people from developing
debilitating and devastating illness. This paper is the first segment in the Center for Health Law
& Policy Innovation’s larger exploration of food as a central and fundamental building block of
health. identifying existing opportunities for integration and reimbursement of medically-
tailored food and nutrition intervention services for critically and chronically ill individuals is an
important first step in promoting greater recognition and understanding of all food and
nutrition services as critical components of health.

Medically-Tailored Food and Nutrition Intervention Providers
(MTFNPs): Why They Are Unique Among Meal-Delivery Programs

This paper uses the term MTFNP to refer to organizations that provide home-delivered meals
that are nutritionally appropriate for specific medical needs. MTFNPs include but are not
limited to organizations such as Community Servings in Massachusetts, God’s Love We Deliver
in New York, and MANNA in Philadelphia, which all provide home-delivered frozen meals that
are both medically and culturally tailored to meet the individual needs of the health-
compromised client. At Community Servings, for example, a registered dietitian meets with
every new client to assess the client’s nutritional needs and prescribe a meal plan customized



to the client’s particular illness.® God’s Love We Deliver provides illness-specific nutrition
education and counseling to clients, along with their famiilies and care providers.” MANNA’s
clients can meet with a registered dietitian at MANNA's office or at any of their partner
organizations in the greater Philadelphia community. The emphasis on meeting each client’s
unique medical-nutritional needs with high-quality meals and nutritional counseling
distinguishes MTFNPs from other meal-delivery programs. MTFNPs help their clients access a
healthy and varied diet of quality foods that are appropriate for their health conditions,
medications, and cultural and religious requirements and preferences, so that they may heal
and thrive.

Key Considerations in Expansion of Service Reimbursement for
MTFNPs

Because many MTFNPs developed in response to the HIV/AIDS epidemic, they have
traditionally been reliant on the Ryan White Program for their major source of funding. As
these programs grow, it is critical to identify opportunities for more sustainable sources of
funding that are not based on discretionary appropriations and grants. Diversification of
funding will expand access to these needed services to individuals outside the HIV community,
and will help integrate MTFNI services into the larger health care delivery infrastructure.
Opportunities for such reimbursement, expansion, and integration exist in both public and
private health care programs. Regardless of the opportunities MTFNPs ultimately choose to
pursue, three issues will be common to all efforts at integration and expansion. These include:
first, assessing and navigating the increased administrative burden associated with securing
reimbursement for services from new funding sources and third-party billing; second, investing
time and human capital in developing knowledge of complex health care delivery structures
and building relationships with key government officials, medical providers, and private
insurers; and third, obtaining data that demonstrate the efficacy of the interventions offered by
MTFNPs and using that data to advocate for medical nutrition therapy and medically-tailored,
home-delivered meals as core components of cost-effective, outcome-driven health care.

1. Assessing and Navigating the Administrative Burden of Third-Party
Reimbursement and Potential Changes in Program Delivery Models

New sources of funding often bring increased reporting and documentation requirements. In
order to determine whether they can utilize health care coverage to reimburse the services
they provide, MTFNPs must assess the insurance status and eligibility for reimbursement of

6 Community Servings, About Us: Our Mission available at http://www.servings.org/about/index.cfm (last visited
Dec. 1, 2013).

7 God'’s Love We Deliver, About Us: Our Mission, available at https://www.glwd.org/about/mission.jsp (last visited
Dec. 1, 2013).

8 MANNA, Counseling, available at http://www.mannapa.org/nutrition/counseling/ (last visited Dec. 1, 2013).



current and future clients. They must also weigh the cost in staff time and necessary
investments in client billing and record-keeping infrastructure required by third-party billing.

In addition, third-party reimbursement may require changes or flexibility in program delivery.
For example, some insurers may have rules about how meals must be delivered in order to be
eligible for reimbursement, such as requiring a specified number of deliveries per week or
delivery within a specified geographic service area or to particular locations. MTFNPs must
consider their capacity to meet the requirements of potential partner entities.

2. Building Knowledge of State-Specific Health Care Structures and
Relationships with Key Decision-Makers

In order to engage in effective advocacy at the state level, MTFNPs must understand the mix of
federal and state agencies and government officials that control the relevant health care
programs. Because states are charged with administering many of the programs discussed in
this paper and each state also has its own marketplace for private health insurance, the
hierarchical structures will vary from state to state. In every state, implementation of the ACA,
including the debut of the private health insurance marketplace in October of 2013, is moving
at a rapid pace. Some states are also making plans to expand their Medicaid programs in 2014.
MTENPs will need to become familiar with the public insurance and private marketplace
administration structures in their states, particularly as many programs and regulations are in a
state of fluctuation. Wherever possible, MTFNPs should become active participants in the
dialogue surrounding development of these new structures by designating a staff person or
staff team to monitor the progress of health reform implementation in their state.

To pursue opportunities with public and private insurance programs and maximize the potential
for service referrals from medical providers, MTFNPs will also need to invest time in building
relationships with key decision-makers. This might include attending public meetings of health
care program working groups, making presentations about their services to public and private
insurers, or engaging in outreach to clinics or hospitals that serve a large number of MTFNP
clients or potential clients.

3. Using Data to Drive Integration of MTFNI into Health Care

Both public and private insurance programs seek to provide quality health care for the lowest
possible cost. MTFNPs are well-positioned to advocate for inclusion in existing and future
health care infrastructures. Research has already demonstrated that patients who are
nutritionally compromised have worse health outcomes and higher overall health care costs
than those who are well-nourished.® The interventions offered by MTFNPs respond to this need
for assistance among nutritionally-vulnerable patients. The provision of medically-tailored,

9 su Lin Kim, Kian Chung Benjamin Ong, Yiong Huak Chan, Wai Chiong Loke, Maree Ferguson, and Lynne Daniels,
Malnutrition and its impact on cost of hospitalization, length of stay, readmission, and 3-year mortality, Clinical
Nutrition (June 1, 2012), Vol. 31, no. 3 pp.345-50.



home-delivered meals has been shown to improve health outcomes and dramatically reduce
10
costs.

For example, a 2013 study of MANNA's client outcomes showed that monthly health care costs
were 31% lower for clients who received the organization’s home-delivered meals than for
similarly-situated individuals in a comparison group.* Furthermore, the cost of health care for
MANNA clients, all of whom have a serious chronic or acute debilitating illness, decreased by
28% after initiation of MANNA’s services.'? MANNA clients had half the number of hospital
admissions as the comparison group, and their length of stay at each visit was 37% shorter than
the stays of those who were not receiving MANNA services.'® When they were hospitalized,
MANNA clients were more likely than individuals in the comparison group to be discharged and
able to go back to their homes rather than enter an acute care facility. 4 Broadening the
provision of healthy, nutritionally-tailored food as a medical service has the potential to
produce significant cost savings and help people stay in their communities. More data and
similar studies of other MTFNPs and their clients will strengthen the case for reimbursement
and inclusion of MTFNI in routinely-covered core services.

MTFNPs should be prepared to collect and use data to advocate for full integration of their
services into health care delivery systems. Framing the intervention they provide in terms of
outcomes and savings will open doors to contracts for reimbursement. MTFNPs must begin or
continue to track their own outcomes and costs in order to demonstrate the long-term impact
of their interventions. At the same time, forming partnerships with health care provider and
payment entities may provide MTFNPs with additional resources and infrastructure for
quantitative data collection and evaluation.

i Gurvey, Kelly Rand, Susan Daugherty, Cyndi Dinger, Joan Schmeling, and Nicole Laverty, Examining Health
Care Costs Among MANNA Clients and a Comparison Group, Journal of Primary Care & Community Health (June
2013), 4-5.

Y,

2,

Bd.

“1d.



Il. Opportunities for Reimbursement and
Integration of Medically-Tailored Food @ﬁd
Nutrition Providers with Public and Pri
insurance

va

The following five sections provide an overview of opportunities for MTFNPs to obtain current
and future reimbursement-based funding streams from public and private insurance. Each
section begins with an overview of the program or insurance landscape and, where relevant,
discusses the implications of health reform for each section topic. Each section also describes
specific opportunities for reimbursement of MTFNP services and MTFNI integration advocacy.

A. Medicaid

The Medicaid program offers several ways for MTFNPs to receive reimbursement for nutritional
counseling (Medical Nutrition Therapy {(MNT)) and home-delivered meals. This section looks at
coverage of nutritional counseling under existing Medicaid programs and opportunities for
increasing coverage through state participation in Medicaid expansion. It examines three
additional options states can exercise to expand Medicaid coverage to include home-delivered
meals, including the Home and Community-Based Services 1915(c) Waiver, the Home and
Community Based Services 1915(i) State Plan Amendment, and the Section 1115
Demonstration Waiver. Some states are already exercising some or all of these options. This
section also addresses opportunities to integrate MTFNI into a new Medicaid care delivery
model created by the ACA, the Medicaid Health Home.

Medicaid: An Overview

Medicaid is a federal and state-funded health coverage program that provides health insurance
to certain categories of low-income individuals. The federal government requires all states who
participate in the Medicaid program to provide coverage for all children, pregnant women,
parents, elderly, and disabled individuals who meet certain income criteria. 15 To be eligible,
individuals must be citizens or immigrants who have had a green card for more than five years.
Aside from these basic federal guidelines, states have flexibility in setting eligibility criteria, and
every state Medicaid program is different. For example, Alabama provides health coverage to
working parents who have incomes below 23% of the Federal Poverty Level (FPL) (23% FPL =
about $5,417 per year for a family of four), while Connecticut covers working parents with

15 See 42 C.F.R. §5 435, et seq. (see also KAISER FAM. FOUND., MEDICAID A PRIMER (2013), available at
http://kaiserfamilyfoundation.files.wordpress.com/2010/06/7334-05.pdf).



incomes up to 191% of FPL (about $44,981 per year for a family of four).® In most states, single
adults who are neither parents of dependent children nor disabled are generally excluded from
coverage, even if they are extremely low-income and living with a chronicillness.

Every state receives a certain percentage of federal reimbursement (called the Federal Medical
Assistance Percentage, or FMAP) for services it provides through its Medicaid program. The
federal government, through the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS), sets
overall program requirements, and mandates that all states cover certain categories of benefits
such as physician services and hospitalizations. States must also follow comparability and state-
wideness requirements. This means that states must provide all benefits to all beneficiaries
when medically necessary. Beyond these broad requirements, each state administers its own
program and has significant discretion over the type, amount, duration and scope of covered
services.

The traditional model for reimbursement of Medicaid services is through “fee-for-service,”
meaning that a healthcare provider bills Medicaid for each individual service provided to a
client, such as nutritional counseling. However, many states are now contracting with managed
care organizations (MCOs) to manage and pay for all or some of their Medicaid benefits. In a
managed care model, Medicaid provides fixed per-member per-month (PMPM) payments to an
MCO to cover all or some of the state-required services for Medicaid members that belong to
the MCO. The MCO bears some of the risk if the services provided exceed the costs of the
capitation, but can also be rewarded if costs are kept low. The MCO may also choose to cover
additional services, either because the MCO believes the benefit to health will outweigh the
cost of providing such a service, or as a means of attracting clients. MCOs could choose to cover
home-delivered meals for all or some of their critically-ill Medicaid enrollees for these reasons.

Medicaid Coverage of Nutritional Counseling

Under federal Medicaid rules, nutritional counseling is not specifically listed as either a
mandated or optional benefit in the Medicaid program as it currently exists.!’ However,
because of the broad flexibility given to states in defining benefits, a state can choose to cover
nutritional counseling as part of its definition of services under one of the existing categories.
For example, states can cover it as part of the mandated category of physician services,® or as
an optional benefit category like preventive services.'® States may cover nutritional counseling

'8 Adult Income Eligibility Limits at Application as a Percent of the Federal Poverty Level (FPL),KAISER FAM.
FOUND.,http://kff.org/medicaid/state-indicator/income-eligibility-low-income-adults/ (last visited Dec. 1, 2013).
Y See 42 C.F.R. §§ 440. 1, et seq; Medicaid Benefits, MepicAID, http://medicaid.gov/Medicaid-CHIP-Program-
Information/By-Topics/Benefits/Medicaid-Benefits.htm| (last visited Dec. 3, 2013).

8 Physician services are defined broadly under federal law as “services furnished by a physician-- (1) Within the
scope of practice of medicine or osteopathy as defined by State law; and (2) By or under the personal supervision
of an individual licensed under State law to practice medicine or osteopathy.” 42 C.F.R. § 440.50.

¥ Preventive services are defined as: services recommended by a physician or other licensed practitioner of the
healing arts acting within the scope of authorized practice under State law to--(1) prevent disease, disability, and
other health conditions or their progression; (2) Prolong life; and (3) Promote physical and mental health and

10



for all beneficiaries or choose to cover nutritional counseling only for certain populations. For
example, states may choose to cover nutritional counseling only as part of chronic disease
management for individuals living with HIV, diabetes, or for individuals struggling with obesity.

Generally all Medicaid services must be provided by a physician, nurse practitioner or “other
licensed practitioner of the healing arts acting within the scope of authorized practice under
state law.”2° This means that if a state wants to offer nutritional counseling, it must be provided
by a licensed nutritionist, registered dietitian, or by another professional whose licensure
encompasses nutrition services, such as a certified diabetes educator. Individual states may
have additional rules that apply, such as only covering nutritional counseling services if they are
provided in conjunction with a physician or other traditional medical provider. For example, in
Massachusetts, MassHealth (Massachusetts’ Medicaid program) generally covers Medical
Nutrition Therapy, defined as “nutritional diagnostic therapy and counseling services for .
management of a medical condition,” if the service is provnded by a MassHealth- reglstered
physician, a registered dietitian or a licensed nutritionist.?* A registered dietitian or licensed
nutritionist cannot receive reimbursement under MassHealth unless she is under the
supervision of a physician or another approved MassHealth provider. Because neither
registered dietitians nor licensed nutritionists can become MassHealth providers on their
own, 2 for an MTFNP in Massachusetts to receive Medicaid reimbursement for nutritional
counseling services, it must partner with a physician or other approved MassHealth provider.
By contrast, registered dietitians in Maryland are able to provide services without physician
supervision and bill Medicaid directly for reimbursement once referred by a case manager. 2
Moveable Feast, an MTENP in Baltimore, bills Medicaid directly (using an assigned agency code)
for nutritional counseling services provided to its clients by its dietitians after the client is
referred for services by the client’s Medicaid case manager. 24

However, recent changes to the definition of “preventive services” under federal law give
states more flexibility to allow a broader range of providers, such as community health workers,
to offer preventive services, as long as they are provided at the recommendation of a physician

efficiency. 42 C.F.R. § 440.130 (2013); see also KATHLEEN SEBELIUS, REPORT TO CONGRESS: PREVENTIVE AND OBESITY-RELATED
SERVICES AVAILABLE TO MEDICAID ENROLLEES 9 (2010), http://www.medicaid.gov/Medicaid-CHIP-Program-
Information/By-Topics/Quality-of-Care/Downloads/RTC_PreventiveandObesityRelatedServices.pdf.

2 See 42 C.F.R. § 440.50 and § 42 C.F.R. 440.130.

2 gulletin from Tom Dehner, Medicaid Director, Massachusetts Office of Medicaid, to Physicians Participating in
MassHealth (Jul. 2007).

22\d.; Information About Massachusetts Insurers, MAss. DIETETIC Ass'N, http://www.eatrightma.org/content5664
(last visited Dec. 1, 2013).

B see Medicaid Waiver for Older Adults Billing and Reimbursement Reference Guide, 14 (April 2011),
http://www.aging.maryland.gov/documents/BillingandReimbursementGuide.pdf (Note, as will be discussed in
latter sections of this paper, Maryland Medicaid only covers nutritional counseling for individuals in its waiver
population).

24 £_mail from Thomas Bonderenko, Exec. Dir., Moveable Feast to Duncan Farthing-Nichol, Student, Harvard Law
School (Nov. 14, 2012, 12:48 EST) (on file with author); E-mail from Thomas Bonderenko, Exec. Dir., Moveable
Feast to Duncan Farthing-Nichol, Student, Harvard Law School (Feb. 3, 2014, 11:13 EST) (on file with author);
Interview with Thomas Bonderenko, Exec. Dir., Moveable Feast (Jul. 30, 2013); For more information about
Moveable Feast, visit http://www.mfeast.org/ (last visited Dec. 1, 2013).

11



or other licensed practitioner. > Therefore states that choose to offer nutritional counseling as
a preventive benefit will have more options in determining who may provide these services.

Medicaid Coverage of Home-Delivered Meals

For most beneficiaries, Medicaid does not provide coverage for home-delivered meals as a
health care benefit. There are three routes a state can take to alter or enhance their Medicaid
programs in order to make meals reimbursable. These include: (1) a Home and Community-
Based Services (HCBS) 1915(c) Waiver;?® (2) a Home and Community-Based Services (HCBS)
1915(j) State Plan Amendment;* or (3) a Section 1115 Demonstration Waiver. 2

(1) HCBS 1915(c) Waivers

The main option through which states cover home-delivered meals is the Section 1915(c) HCBS
waiver. A state may use a Medicaid waiver to cover non-traditional services, provide targeted
services to specific populations (in other words, waiving the comparability and state-wideness
requirements), and/or perform other activities that the federal Medicaid program would
otherwise not cover for a limited period of time (usually 3-5 years).? Section 1915(c) HCBS
waivers are a particular type of waiver that support in-home services to help states avoid
institutionalizing individuals who would otherwise need to be placed in a nursing home.*° The
main target populations for HCBS waiver services are seniors, people with physical and
intellectual disabilities, and people with mental illnesses. States can also choose to target HCBS
waiver services more narrowly. For instance, a state could obtain an HCBS waiver to provide
HCBS benefits to individuals living with HIV/AIDS. While federal law delineates certain specified
benefits that states may cover as part of HCBS, it also permits states to request additional

25Previously, preventive services were defined as: services provided by, (as opposed to the new recommended by),
a physician or other licensed practitioner of the healing arts acting within the scope of authorized practice under
State law to--(1) prevent disease, disability, and other health conditions or their progression; (2) Prolong life; and
(3) Promote physical and mental health and efficiency. 42 C.F.R. § 440.130 (2012).

% See 42 C.F.R. §§ 441.300, et seq.; Home and Community Based 1915(c) Waivers, MEDICAID,
http://www.medicaid.gov/Medicaid-CHlP-Program-lnformation/By-Topics/Waivers/Home-and-Community-Based-
1915-c-Waivers.html (last visited Dec. 1, 2013).

742 US.C. § 1396n(i); see CTRS. FOR MEDICARE & MEDICAID SERVS. Re: Improving Access To Home and
Community Based Services 8 (Aug. 6, 2010), http://www.healthreformgps.org/wp-
content/uploads/he08092010_waiver.pdf.

** See 42 C.F.R. §§ 431.400, et seq.; Section 1115 Demonstrations, MEDICAID, http://www.medicaid.gov/Medicaid-
CHlP-Program-lnformation/By-Topics/Waivers/1115/Section-1115-Demonstrations.html (last visited Dec. 1, 2013).
» Waivers, MEDICAID, http://www.medicaid.gov/Medicaid-CHlP-Program-lnformation/By-
Topics/Waivers/Waivers.html (last visited Dec 1, 2013, 2013). See also FAMILIES USA, ISSUE BRIEF, STATE PLAN
AMENDMENTS AND WAIVERS: HOW STATES CAN CHANGE THEIR MEDICAID PROGRAMS (2012), available at
http://familiesusa2.org/assets/pdfs/medicaid/State-PIan-Amendments-and-Waivers.pdf.

% See 42 C.F.R. §§ 441.300 Et seq.; Home and Community Based 1915(c) Waivers, MEDICAID,
http://www.medicaid.gov/Medicaid-CHlP-Program-lnformation/By—Topics/Waivers/Home-and-Community-Based-
1915-c-Waivers.html (last visited Dec. 1, 2013).

12



services as may be approved by CMS, and home-delivered meals have been allowed under this
category.®!

To be eligible for HCBS waiver services, federal law requires that an individual meet the state’s
income and other financial requirements, and that but for the provision of home and
community-based services, the individual would otherwise meet the state’s criteria for needing
to be institutionalized in a nursing facility, hospital or intermediate care facility for individuals
with intellectual disabilities.>? In order to be granted an HCBS waiver, states must demonstrate
that the cost of providing HCBS would not exceed the cost of services for the target population
in an institution.*®

Each state has a different mix of HCBS 1915(c) waivers, each with different target populations,
benefits, and eligibility criteria, including different criteria for institutionalization. In
Massachusetts for example, the Frail Elder HCBS 1915(c) waiver covers nutritional counseling
and home-delivered meals, among other services, for people who are age 60 or over, meet
certain financial criteria, and require a nursing facility level of care or higher.34 In
Massachusetts, a person meets the nursing facility level of care if she:
a) needs at least one skilled nursing or therapist service daily or
b) needs nursing services at least three times per week, plus two other services per week
which can include either additional nursing services or assistance with daily living
services, or a combination of the two. 35
By contrast, in Maryland, older individuals are eligible for HCBS waiver services ifitis
determined that they need “nursing facility services,”>® defined as “services provided to
individuals who do not require hospital care, but who, because of their mental or physical
condition, require skilled nursing care and related services, rehabilitation services, or, on a
regular basis, health-related care and services (above the level of room and board) which can
be made available to them only through institutional facilities.”*’

In addition, states vary in how these HCBS waivers are administered. In many states, thereis a
coordinating agency which oversees eligibility, enroliment, and care plan creation. As with

*! 42 C.F.R. §§ 440.180(b)(9).

2 42 C.F.R. §§ 441.302(c).

33 42 C.F.R. §§ 441.302 (e); For more information on waiver requirements versus other types of state changes to
Medicaid programs, see FAMILIES USA, ISSUE BRIEF, STATE PLAN AMENDMENTS AND WAIVERS: How STATES CAN CHANGE THEIR
MEDICAID PROGRAMS (2012), available at http://familiesusa2.org/assets/pdfs/medicaid/State-Plan-Amendments-
and-Waivers.pdf.

34 130 C.M.R. § 519.007; see also Home and Community-Based Service Waiver (HCBS), MASSRESOURCES.ORG,
http://www.massresources.org/masshealth-waiver.html#frailelder (last visited Dec. 1, 2013); Home-delivered
meals provided under the Waiver must “comply with the Executive Office of Elder Affairs' Nutrition Standards, and
be religiously and ethnically appropriate to the extent feasible.” E-mail from Shirley Wong, MassHealth, to Duncan
Farthing-Nichol, Student, Harvard Law School (Dec. 3, 2012, 13:05 EST) (on file with author).

35930 C.M.R. § 456.409; see also Home and Community-Based Service Waiver (HCBS), MASSRESOURCES.ORG,
http://www.massresources.org/masshealth-waiver.htmli#frailelder (last visited Dec. 1, 2013).

%5COMAR 10.09.10.01(B)(41).

*’COMAR 10.09.55.03(C)(1).

13



other Medicaid programs, states may offer their HCBS waiver services through traditional fee-
for-service programs or through managed care organizations (MCOs). Other states offer a
hybrid of the two. For example, in Massachusetts, Aging Services Access Points (ASAPs)
administer all Frail Elder Waiver services in the state,*® and reimbursement includes both a
traditional fee-for-service option and a managed care option.*

In some instances, MTFNPs may be able to contract with the state directly to provide home-
delivered meals services. In Maryland, the Living at Home 1915(c) waiver allows physically-
disabled individuals ages 18-64 to receive a range of services, including nutrition services and
home-delivered meals.*° The state’s Older Adults waiver includes nutritional services and
home-delivered meals among the services Medicaid provides for individuals 65 and older.**
Moveable Feast, an MTFNP in Maryland, responded to a state Request For Proposal (RFP) to
provide home-delivered meal services to individuals covered by these waivers.*> Moveable
Feast was selected by the state as avendor, and now provides services for eligible individuals at
a reimbursement rate that is determined by the state. Moveable Feast does not assess
qualifications for HCBS among their clients, but instead receives referrals for MNT and/or
home-delivered meals from case managers who coordinate waiver services for individuals
already enrolled in HCBS. Once Moveable Feast receives a referral for a service, they provide
MNT by a registered dietitian and/or home-delivered meals, and then bill the state directly
(note th::g not all clients receive both interventions, and therefore billing is separate for each
service).

In states offering long-term managed care, it may be possible for MTFNPs to negotiate directly
with MCOs. For example, God’s Love We Deliver (God’s Love), an MTENP in New York City,
receives Medicaid reimbursement through contracts with Managed Long-Term Care (MLTC)

%8651 C.M.R. § 14.03(8).

39Eligibili'cy Operations Memo 10-10, from Russ Kulp, Director, MassHealth Operations, Massachusetts Office of
Medicaid, to MassHealth Eligibility Operations Staff, (Jun. 15, 2010), available at:
thttp://www.mass.gov/eohhs/docs/masshealth/eom2010/eom-10-10.pdf.

“ mp Living at Home Waiver, 0353.R02.00, Waivers, available at: http://www.medicaid.gov/Medicaid-CHIP-
Program-lnformation/By-Topics/Waivers/Waivers.html?filterBy:maryland; see also Living at Home Waiver,
MARYLAND DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND MENTAL HYGIENE (2010), available at
https://mmcp.dhmh.maryland.gov/docs/Living_Home_Waiver_Fact_Sheet_October_2010.pdf.

** MD Older Adults Waiver, 0265.R04.00, available at: http://www.medicaid.gov/Medicaid-CHlP-Program-
Information/ By-Topics/Waivers/Waivers.html?filterBy=maryland; see also, Older Adults Waiver, MARYLAND
DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND MENTAL HYGIENE (2010), available at:
https://mmcp.dhmh.maryland.gov/docs/Living_Home_Waiver_Fact_Sheet_October_2010.pdf.

2 E-mail from Thomas Bonderenko, Exec. Dir., Moveable Feast to Duncan Farthing-Nichol, Student, Harvard Law
School (Nov. 14, 2012, 12:48 EST) (on file with author); Interview with Thomas Bonderenko, Exec. Dir., Moveable
Feast (Jul. 30, 2013); For more information about Moveable Feast, visit http://www.mfeast.org/ (last visited Dec. 1,
2013).

* Id.; E-mail from Thomas Bonderenko, Exec. Dir., Moveable Feast to Duncan Farthing-Nichol, Student, Harvard
Law School (Feb. 3, 2014, 11:13 EST) (on file with author); Interview with Thomas Bonderenko, Exec. Dir.,
Moveable Feast (Jul. 30, 2013); For more information about Moveable Feast, visit http://www.mfeast.org/ (last
visited Dec. 1, 2013).

14



plans.* MLTC plans are MCOs paid a capitated rate by New York Medicaid to provide
comprehensive health services to a long-term care population.*® God’s Love negotiates directly
with the MLTC plan and the plan then pays God’s Love the cost for the nutritional counseling
and/or home-delivered meals provided to the client. While nutritional counseling is required
for all clients, some MLTC plans provide their own nutritional counseling services separate from
God’s Love. In such cases, the reimbursement for the client covers only the cost of the meals.

(2) HCBS 1915(i) State Plan Amendment

In addition to the HCBS waiver, states can also offer home and community based services
through an HCBS 1915(i) State Plan Amendment to individuals with incomes below 150% FPL
who need assistance with care but are not yet at a level requiring institutionalization (as is
required for HCBS waivers).*® Prior to the ACA, the types of services states could provide under
this option were more limited than those under HCBS waivers, and could not be targeted to
specific populations. However, the ACA makes several changes to the 1915(i) option in order to
make it more attractive to states.*” First, it allows states to offer the full range of HCBS waiver
services, including benefits such as home-delivered meals, that CMS may approve. Second, as
with the HCBS waiver, benefits can now be targeted to specific populations, such as individuals
living with HIV/AIDS or other chronic illnesses. Third, the ACA gives states the option to create a
separate Medicaid eligibility category for individuals eligible for 1915(i) services (i.e., individuals
do not have to meet an additional Medicaid eligibility requirement, such as being disabled, or
the parent of a child). Finally, it allows states to expand eligibility for HCBS 1915(i) services to
individuals who meet the eligibility criteria for HCBS waiver services with incomes up to 300%
of the Supplemental Security Income (SSI) benefit rate.

Generally, a 1915(i) State Plan Amendment is a permanent change to the Medicaid program,
where the 1915(c) waiver comes with the administrative burden of having to be periodically
renewed.*® However, when the 1915(i) option is used to provide services to targeted

* Interview with Alissa Wassung, Executive Policy and Planning Associate, God’s Love We Deliver, in New York, NY
(Nov. 15, 2012). Note that New York actually provides these home and community based services through a
different kind of waiver, the 1115 Demonstration waiver, discussed later in the paper). E-mail from Alissa Wassung,
Executive Policy and Planning Associate, God’s Love We Deliver to author (Aug. 26, 2013, 1:23 EST) (on file with
author).

*1d.

% 42 U.S.C. § 1396n(i).

47 see CTRS. FOR MEDICARE & MEDICAID SERVS., Re: Improving Access To Home and Community Based Services 8
(Aug. 6, 2010), available at http://www.healthreformgps.org/wp-content/uploads/he08092010_waiver.pdf; SARAH
SOMERS, NATIONAL HEALTH LAW PROGRAM, COVERING HCB SERVICES THROUGH THE 1915(1) STATE PLAN OPTION STATE (NATIONAL)
(Nov. 23, 2010) available at http://www.healthlaw.org/issues/medicaid/ medicaid-expansion-toolbox/state-
resources/qa-covering-hcb-services-through-1915i-state-plan-option; see also KAISER FAM. FOUND., STATE OPTIONS
THAT EXPAND ACCESS TO MEDICAID HOME AND COMMUNITY-BASED SERVICES (2011), available at
http://www.kff.org/medicaid/upload/8241.pdf; DAVID MACHLEDT, NATIONAL HEALTH LAW PROGRAM, PROMOTING
COMMUNITY LIVING: UPDATES ON HCBS & THE ACA 5 (2012), available at
http://healthlaw.org/images/stories/Promoting_Community_Living_Updates_on_HCBS_&_the_ACA.pdf.

8 KAISER FAM. FOUND., STATE OPTIONS THAT EXPAND ACCESS TO MEDICAID HOME AND COMMUNITY-BASED SERVICES (2011),
available at http://www.kff.org/medicaid/upload/8241.pdf; DAVID MACHLEDT, NATIONAL HEALTH LAW PROGRAM,

15



populations, the option must be renewed at the end of five years. There is flexibility in the type
of targeted services that can be provided through a 1915(i) State Plan Amendment. For
example, Montana recently proposed an amendment to provide certain mental health services
(such as peer support and home-based therapy) to youth with serious emotional
disturbances.*® No state has requested a 1915(i) State Plan Amendment in order to specifically
cover home-delivered meals or nutritional counseling. However, the ability to make a change
that targets specific services to populations who may not yet need to be institutionalized makes
the 1915(i) State Plan Amendment an important option for expanding state Medicaid coverage
of home-delivered meals. In addition, unlike the option to change Medicaid through a waiver,
there is no requirement to demonstrate cost or budget neutrality.

(3) Section 1115 Demonstration Waiver

In addition to waivers and state plan amendments that are specific to HCBS services, states also
have the option to apply for section 1115 demonstration waivers.° Section 1115
demonstration waivers are designed to give states broad options to expand eligibility, offer
different kinds of benefits, and experiment with various care delivery models in order to
improve Medicaid programs. These waivers must be budget neutral, meaning that a state must
demonstrate that the changes they are requesting would not require any more federal dollars
over the course of the project than what would have been the case if the state had not enacted
the waiver.>! Massachusetts, for example, has an 1115 waiver that expands Medicaid eligibility

PROMOTING COMMUNITY LIVING: UPDATES ON HCBS & THE ACA 5§ (2012), available at
http://healthlaw.org/images/stories/Promoting_Community__Living_Updates_on_HCBS_&_the_ACA.pdf. Fora
more detailed explanation of the administrative requirements for waivers compared to state plan amendments
(i.e., making a change to the state’s overall Medicaid program rather than asking the federal government to
temporarily waive certain requirements), see FAMILIES USA, ISSUE BRIEF, STATE PLAN AMENDMENTS AND WAIVERS: HOwW
STATES CAN CHANGE THEIR MEDICAID PROGRAMS (2012), available at
http://familiesusa2.org/assets/pdfs/medicaid/State-Plan-Amendments-and-Waivers.pdf.

49 1915(i ) Home and Community Based Services State Plan Program For Youth With Serious Emotional Disturbance
(2013), MONTANA DEP. OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVS., available at http://www.dphhs.mt.gov/mentalhealth/children/i-
home/PolicyManual.pdf.

0 See 42 C.F.R. §§ 431.400, et seq.; Section 1115 Demonstrations, MEDICAID, http://www.medicaid.gov/Medicaid-
CHIP-Program-lnformation/By-Topics/Waivers/l115/Section-1115-Demonstrations.html (last visited Dec. 1, 2013);
RoBIN RUDOWITZ, ET AL., KAISER FAM. FOUND., A LOOK AT MEDICAID 1115 DEMONSTRATION WAIVERS UNDER THE ACA: A FOocus oN
CHILDLESS ADULTS (Oct. 9, 2013), available at: http://kff.org/report-section/section-1115-medicaid-demonstration-
waivers-issue-brief/.

%! Calculations for budget neutrality can be complex and varies by state. Generally cost-neutrality is enforced
through use of capped funds: the federal government will agree to expend only a certain amount of money
through the duration of the waiver, with the state at risk for expenditures beyond that amount. For more
information, see RoBIN RubowiTz, ETAL., KAISER FAM. FOUND., A LOOK AT MEDICAID 1115 DEMONSTRATION WAIVERS UNDER
THE ACA: A FOCUS ON CHILDLESS ADULTS, (Appendix A) (Oct. 9, 2013), available at: http://kff.org/report-
section/section-1115-medicaid-demonstration-wa ivers-appendix/; THE ROBERT WOOD JOHNSON FOUND., STATE
COVERAGE INITIATIVES ISSUE BRIEF, MEDICAID 1115 WAIVERS AND BUDGET NEUTRALITY: UsING MEDICAID FUNDS TO EXPAND
COVERAGE (May 2001), available at
http://www.statecoverage.org/ﬁles/Section%ZOl115%20Waivers%ZOand%ZOBudget%ZONeutrality%ZO-
%20Using%20Medicaid%20Funds.pdf; U.S. GOV'T ACCOUNTABILITY OFFICE, MEDICAID DEMONSTRATION WAIVERS APPROVAL
PROCESS RAISES COST CONCERNS AND LACKS TRANSPARENCY (Jun. 2013) available at:

16



for all individuals living with HIV/AIDS in the state with income below 200% FPL ($22,980/year
for an individual), among other initiatives.’? Some states, like New York, use 1115 waivers to
provide HCBS services. States could also use an 1115 waiver to offer home-delivered meals as
part of a benefits package for certain individuals. For example, a state might apply for an 1115
waiver to expand coverage to individuals with certain chronic ilinesses, such as HIV/AIDS or
diabetes, and include home-delivered meals among the benefits offered. As an alternative to
pushing for a change that covers the whole population, advocates can frame the 1115 waiver as
a way for their state to test the efficacy of providing MTFNI to certain populations in order to
decrease costs and improve health outcomes. Like the HCBS state plan option, the 1115 waiver
is another means for covering meals through Medicaid that advocates could urge their states to
pursue.

Medicaid and the ACA*?

Prior to the ACA, in most states individuals had to be both low-income and meet a particular
category of eligibility (e.g., by being either a parent of a child or by being disabled) in order to
qualify for Medicaid. Beginning in 2014, the ACA gives states the option to eliminate categorical
eligibility requirements and expand their Medicaid programs to all individuals with incomes
below 133% FPL (about $15,282 year for a single person in 2013), meaning that most
individuals will be eligible for Medicaid so long as they meet the income standards. The law as
originally passed required all states to participate in this expansion, but due to a Supreme Court
decision in July of 2012, expanding Medicaid is now optional for states.>® There is no deadline
by which states must decide whether to expand Medicaid, but there are financial incentives in
the form of increased federal reimbursement rates for states that expand their Medicaid
programs prior to 2020.

Newly eligible Medicaid beneficiaries under the ACA expansion must have access to health
plans that cover at least ten categories of services, called Essential Health Benefits or EHBs.>®

http://www.gao.gov/assets/660/655483.pdf. For additional information on 1115 waivers and cost-offsets for HIV
populations, see HARVARD LAW SCHOOL HEALTH LAW AND POLICY CLINIC, TREATMENT ACCESS EXPANSION PROJECT, AND AIDS
FOUNDATION OF CHICAGO, 1115 WAIVERS: A BRIDGE TO 2014 FOR PEOPLE LIVING WITH HIV (Nov. 2010), available at:
http://www.taepusa.org/Library/PowerpointPresentations.aspx

52 See Massachusetts Section 1115 Demonstration Factsheet (Sept. 11, 2013), MEDICAID, available at
http://www.medicaid.gov/Medicaid-CHIP-Program-Information/By-Topics/Waivers/1115/downloads/ma/ma-
masshealth-fs.pdf.

53 For a comprehensive summary of the Affordable Care Act, see KAISER. FAM. FOUND., FOCUS ON HEALTH REFORM:
SUMMARY OF THE AFFORDABLE CARE AcT, P.L. 111-148, (April 23, 2013) available at
http://kaiserfamilyfoundation.files.wordpress.com/2011/04/8061-021.pdf.

> National Federation of Independent Business v. Sebelius, 132 S.Ct. 2556 (2012).

%5 42 C.F.R. § 440.347; Essential Health Benefits include items and services within 10 categories including:
ambulatory patient services; emergency services; hospitalization; maternity and newborn care; mental health and
substance use disorder services, including behavioral health treatment; prescription drugs; rehabilitative and
habilitative services and devices; laboratory services; preventive and wellness services and chronic disease
management, and pediatric services, including oral and vision care; see also Glossary: Essential Health Benefits,
WWW.HEALTHCARE.GOV,, https://www.healthcare.gov/glossary/essential-health-benefits/ (last visited Dec. 3, 2013).

17



These ten categories include, among other benefits, both preventive care and chronic disease
management. As part of the EHB package, benefits packages must include coverage without
cost-sharing of all preventive health services that receive an “A” or “B” rating from the United
States Preventive Services Task Force (USPSTF).>® This has particular implications for Medicaid
coverage of nutritional counseling, referred to in many Medicaid programs as medical nutrition
therapy. While general nutritional counseling for all populations has not yet been given an A or
B rating, the USPSTF does give a “B” rating to nutritional counseling “for adult patients with
hyperlipidemia and other known risk factors for cardiovascular and diet-related chronic
disease.”*’ This means that all Medicaid plans for the newly eligible beneficiaries must cover
MNT at least at the level recommended by the USPSTF.

Beyond covering specified USPSTF preventive services, there are very few specific service
requirements for EHB categories.”® Initially, advocates had hoped that EHB mandates would
present an opportunity to set a comprehensive federal floor of required coverage. However,
since the passage of the ACA, the federal government has decided that each state will be
responsible for defining its own EHB package by reference to a chosen “benchmark” plan. In
Medicaid, health plans for newly eligible individuals are called Alternative Benefits Plans (ABPs).
States must create an ABP package from a prescribed set of benchmark plans (including the
state’s existing Medicaid package) or may create their own ABP with federal government
approval.>® All ABPs must cover all ten EHB categories, including USPSTF A and B recommended
services. States could choose to include coverage of home-delivered meals and nutritional
counseling in their APBs for all their newly eligible beneficiaries who need these services,
though they are not mandated to do so. States also have the opportunity to create more than
one ABP for different populations, and vary the types of services each ABP covers. For example,
states could create a separate ABP for newly eligible individuals living with HIV, cancer or other
chronic illness that includes coverage of home-delivered meals. Regardless of how many
different ABPs a state creates, each package must include coverage of all EHB categories.

Since many states have not yet selected their ABPs and states have the authority to create new
ABPs, there is still time for MTFNPs in Medicaid expansion states to advocate for inclusion of
nutritional counseling and home-delivered meals. In order to expand Medicaid, each state must
submit an amendment to their Medicaid state plans to the federal government describing their
new ABPs. Prior to initiating this amendment, states will need to provide advance notice to the
public and a “reasonable opportunity” for comment.® Note that some states have also begun

56 See Glossary: What Are My Preventive Care Benefits, WWW.HEALTHCARE.GOV, https://www.healthcare.gov/what-
are-my-preventive-care-benefits/ (last visited Dec. 1, 2013).

* USPSTF A and B Recommendations, UNITED STATES PREVENTIVE SERVICES TASK FORCE,
http://www.uspreventiveservicestaskforce.org/uspstf/uspsabrecs.htm (last visited Dec. 1, 2013).

%8 For a list of United States Preventive Services Task Force (USPSTF) A and B Recommendations, see USPSTF A and
B Recommendations, UNITED STATES PREVENTIVE SERVICES TASKFORCE,
http://www.uspreventiveservicestaskforce.org/uspstf/uspsabrecs.htm (last visited Dec. 1, 2013).

42CFR. § 440.300, et seq.; see also .Frequently Asked Questions on Essential Health Benefits Bulletin, (Nov. 16,
2011), CTRs. FOR MEDICARE & MEDICAID SERVS .available at

http://www.cms.gov/CCIIO/! Resources/Files/Downloads/ehb-fag-508.pdf.

42 C.F.R. §440.386 (new as of July 2013).

18



to use 1115 Medicaid waivers to implement their expansion programs rather than a state plan
amendment.® The 1115 waiver process also requires opportunities for public comment. In this
context the opportunity for comment must be at least 30 days and the state must hold a
minimum of two public hearings.®> MTFNPs should participate in any public comment periods
and/or hearings to advocate for inclusion of their services.

Even prior to the public comment period, MTFNPs should also consider joining coalitions of
advocates for the chronically ill to collectively urge their state to cover medically-tailored food
and nutrition intervention services for all newly eligible beneficiaries or, in the alternative, to
develop different ABPs for these populations. ABPs for the chronically ill could include
nutritional counseling, home-delivered meals, more expansive case management and other
benefits that are particularly critical to this population.

However, it is important to note that under the ACA, newly eligible and existing Medicaid
beneficiaries might be treated differently when it comes to coverage of preventive services like
nutritional counseling.®® For the existing Medicaid population, in both expansion and non-
expansion states, the state is not required to make any changes to the current level of benefits
or cost-sharing. The federal government has tried to incentivize states to voluntarily cover
preventive services recommended by the USPSTF without cost-sharing for their existing
population, by increasing their Federal Medical Assistance Percentage (FMAP) funds by 1% if
they do, but this is not required. 54 Therefore, after Medicaid expands, some individuals within
the same state with similar medical profiles may not be entitled to receive the same services at
the same cost-sharing levels, even though they are both enrolled in the state’s Medicaid
program.

New Coordinated Care Options for Medicaid: Medicaid Health Homes (MHH)

In addition to expanding eligibility, the ACA creates the Medicaid Health Home option, a new
opportunity for states to provide additional care coordination and support services to
individuals on Medicaid who are living with chronic ilinesses. Medicaid Health Homes (MHH)
build on the concept of the Patient-Centered Medical Home (PCMH) model of care, which
emphasizes coordinated and holistic primary care services for patients as overseen by a

6! States that are using this process are usually opting for waivers because they are requesting permission to
expand Medicaid in the form of premium assistance for private plans rather than through the creation of new
Alternative Benefit Plans (ABPs) in their existing Medicaid programs. In this model, the state instead uses Medicaid
dollars to help newly eligible enrollees purchase qualified health plans (QHPs) on the new private health insurance
marketplaces. See, for example, THE ARKANSAS HEALTH CARE INDEPENDENCE PROGRAM (PRIVATE OPTION)-DEMONSTRATION,
(Sept. 27, 2013) available at http://www.medicaid.gov/Medicaid-CHIP-Program-Information/By-
Topics/Waivers/1115/downloads/ar/ar-private-option-ca.pdf.

€2 42 CFR § 431.412. _

8 Existing Medicaid Beneficiaries Left Off the Affordable Care Act’s Prevention Bandwagon, Sara E. Wilensky and
Elizabeth A. Gray, Health Affairs 32 No. 7 (2013), 1188-1195.

64 SARA ROSENBAUM, HEALTHREFORMGPS, UPDATE: MEDICAID PREVENTIVE SERVICES COVERAGE INCENTIVE FOR TRADITIONAL ADULT
BENEFICIARIES COVERED UNDER THE STANDARD MEDICAID PROGRAM (Feb., 21, 2013), available at
http://healthreformgps.org/wp-content/uploads/Rosenbaum-Medicaid-Prevention-Incentive-SMD. pdf.

19



particular provider or group of providers. Many Medicaid programs (like MassHealth in
Massachusetts, for example) and/or private MCOs are likely to require most enrollees to get
their primary care from a PCMH in the future.

The MHH option is a formal Patient-Centered Medical Home for Medicaid recipients living
with two or more specified chronic health conditions, or who have a specified chronic
condition and are considered to be at risk for another. MHHs have a particular emphasis on
providing integrated behavioral health services, meaning that MHHs must have a plan to
ensure access to coordinated primary care, mental health, and substance-use disorder
services. States that take up the MHH option receive increased federal matching dollars for
the provision of MHH care coordination services.5 These services must at least include:
comprehensive care management and coordination; health promotion; comprehensive
transitional care and follow-up; incorporation of patient and family support; and referral to
community and social support services. Any state can create MHHs regardless of whether the
state participates in the Medicaid expansion.

MHH providers are expected to coordinate all aspects of a patient’s health, including chronic
disease management, and must help to connect the patient with outside community social
supports as needed. States have the option of allowing three different types of entities to serve
as an MHH: 1) a designated provider, such as physician or health center; 2) a team of health
professionals, which may include a nutritionist; or 3) a health team, which must include a
nutritionist, among other providers. Although states have discretion in whether and how to
offer MHHs, the law’s specific mention of nutritionists in two types of provider categories
indicates that nutrition services should be part of care delivery, management, and coordination
in all MHHs. Moreover, MHHs need to meet specific quality metrics. CMS has suggested that
such metrics include documentation of the number of enrollees who receive an Adult Body
Mass Index (BMI) assessment and reduced acute inpatient readmission, both of which can be
improved by access to nutrition services and/or home-delivered meals.®® The MHH's focus on
comprehensive, holistic, and cost-effective care for chronically ill individuals aligns with the
mission and client population served by MTFN Ps, creating an important opportunity for
partnership and integration.

% Health Homes, MEDICAID, http://www.medicaid.gov/Medicaid-CHlP-Program-lnformation/By~Topics/Long-Term-
Services-and-Support/lntegrating-Care/Health-Homes/Health-Homes.html (last visited Dec. 1, 2013).

* ACA, 42 U.S.C. § 2703 (2010); see also CTRS. FOR MEDICARE & MEDICAID SERVS. Re: Health Homes for Enrollees
with Chronic Conditions 8 (Nov. 16, 2010), available at http://downloads.cms.gov/cmsgov/archived-
downloads/SMDL/downloads/SMD10024.pdf.

*” ACA, 42 U.S.C. § 2703(a) (2010).

% CTRS. FOR MEDICARE & MEDICAID SERVS. Re: Health Homes Core Quality Measures (Jan. 15, 2013), available at
http://www.medicaid.gov/FederaI-PoIicy-Guidance/downloads/SM D-13-001.pdf.

20



Opportunities for Medicaid Advocacy

In traditional Medicaid, any coverage of nutrition services, including home-delivered meals and
nutritional counseling, is optional for states. As a result some states only cover nutritional
counseling and/or home-delivered meals on a very limited basis, while others do not cover
these services at all. As Medicaid programs expand under the ACA, newly eligible Medicaid
beneficiaries will gain access to coverage of nutritional counseling for certain conditions, as
defined by the USPSTF, but not all states will choose to expand their programs, and home-
delivered meals are not included as part of the newly required services. 69

MTFNPs could advocate for their state Medicaid programs to begin to cover, or expand existing
coverage of, both nutritional counseling and home-delivered meals as part of their current
Medicaid benefit plans, and as part of ABPs for newly eligible enrollees in Medicaid expansion
states. If states do not already cover these services, this would require a legislative or
administrative change, depending on the state. Some states require legislative approval prior to
making a change to Medicaid benefits, while others only require administrative approval by the
state Medicaid office. In the first instance, state advocates would need to urge passage of a
state law that requires the state Medicaid program to cover nutritional counseling and/or
home-delivered meals. In other states, advocates may be able to work directly with Medicaid
administrative officials to make this change.

In either case, in order to change Medicaid benefits, states must ultimately amend their
Medicaid state plans or apply for waivers, and all proposed changes must be approved by the
federal government. There are no federal restrictions that prohibit the ability of a state to offer
either nutritional counseling or home-delivered meals.”® Because of the broad flexibility given
to states in defining the amount, duration and scope of offered benefits, it is possible for
nutritional counseling or home-delivered meals to be included as a benefit under one of the
existing mandatory or optional categories (such as physician services or preventive services), or
as a separate CMS-approved benefit. In addition to advocacy at the state level, as will be
discussed later in the paper, the federal standards for essential health benefits (EHB)
requirements will be reviewed and potentially revised in 2016, at which time there may be
another opportunity to advocate for inclusion of MTFNI as a required benefit.

% Eor a list of United States Preventive Services Task Force (USPSTF) A and B Recommendations, see USPSTF A and
B Recommendations, UNITED STATES PREVENTIVE SERVICES TASKFORCE,
http://www.uspreventiveservicestaskforce.org/uspstf/uspsabrecs.htm (last visited Dec. 1, 2013).

7 some states may have restrictions that prohibit entities from billing Medicaid for services that are provided for
free to non-Medicaid clients, which may have an impact on the ability of Medically-Tailored Food and Nutrition
Intervention Providers to bill Medicaid clients while continuing to offer their services free of charge to other non-
Medicaid clients. However, this is not a requirement in federal Medicaid law. For a brief discussion of this issue in
the context of the Ryan White Program, see NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF STATE AND TERRITORIAL AIDS DIRECTORS AND THE
HARRISON INSTITUTE FOR PUBLIC LAW, GEORGETOWN LAW , STATE HEALTH DEPARTMENT BILLING FOR HIV/AIDS AND VIRAL HEPATITIS:
AN ANALYSIS OF LEGAL ISSUES IN FIVE STATES (Feb. 2013), 7-8, available at: http://nastad.org/docs/NASTAD-Harrison-
Report-HD-Billing-Legal-Regulatory-Challenges.pdf.

21



In states that choose to establish MHHs, MTFNPs can move to establish relationships with these
new care teams as a community-based resource for their MHH clients. MHH providers are
committed to a team-based care structure that provides case management and connects high-
needs patients to community-based services. This means that they are already attuned to their
patients’ whole health, and therefore likely to appreciate the value of MTFNI as a key
component of effective care.

To make the case for inclusion of MTENI in Medicaid, new Medicaid benefit packages, and
Medicaid Health Homes, MTFNPs will need to demonstrate the potential for cost savings and
health benefits. While available research supports the idea that the provision of medically-
tailored home-delivered meals coupled with nutritional counseling is an effective intervention,
MTFNPs will need to think strategically about how to track the impact of their services within
their own client communities. As decision-makers realize the value of nutritional counseling and
home-delivered meals, MTFNPs will have greater success in advocating for inclusion of their
services in.routine health care.

B. Medicare

Like Medicaid, Medicare offers reimbursement opportunities for MTFNPs. Individuals who are
enrolled in Medicare Advantage or in a Medicare Special Needs Plan can receive home-
delivered meals and nutritional counseling as part of their covered benefits under certain
circumstances. The ACA has created new care delivery structures in Medicare called
Accountable Care Organizations (ACOs). ACOs are incentivized to incorporate services that
reduce the cost of care while improving health outcomes, making them excellent potential

partners for MTFNPs.

Medicare: An Overview

Medicare is the federal health insurance program that covers most people over the age of 65 as
well as disabled individuals regardless of age (disabled individuals must have been disabled for
more than twenty-four months or have end-stage renal disease). Medicare offers four types of
coverage: hospital insurance (Part A), medical insurance (Part B), Medicare Advantage (Part C)
and prescription drug coverage (Part D). People enrolled in Part A and/or B receive coverage
directly from Medicare, while people enrolled in Part C receive all Part A and B services through
a private MCO.”? Unlike Medicaid, which is a state and federal partnership, Medicare is entirely
a federal program, and benefits and eligibility are more consistent across states for Part A and B

services.

71Medicare, SOCIAL SECURITY, http://www.socialsecurity.gov/pubs/EN-05-10043.pdf (last visited Dec. 1, 2013).
22



Medicare Coverage of Nutritional Counseling

Medicare covers medical nutrition therapy under its Part B services for people with non-dialysis
kidney disease, diabetes, or who suffer from obesity, and those who have had a kldney
transplant. All must first receive a referral from a doctor or health care provuder 2 Medicare
defines medical nutrition therapy as “nutritional assessment, one-on-one counseling, and
therapy through an interactive telecommunications system provided by a registered dietitian or
Medicare-approved nutrition professional.”73 Registered dietitians may enroll directly as
Medicare providers by obtaining a National Provider Identifier and completing the Medicare
enrollment process.74 The registered dietitian can then bill Medicare directly for nutritional
counseling services.

Medicare Coverage of Home-Delivered Meals

In general, while Medicare Parts A and B cover some limited home health and long-term care
services, they do not cover home-delivered meals.”” However, under Medicare Part C
(Medicare Advantage), individuals may choose to receive Medicare benefits through private
MCOs, called Medicare Advantage (MA) plans. The federal government gives each MA plana
per-member per-month (PMPM) payment (similar to Medicaid MCOs) to provide standard
Medicare services, and, like other MCOs, the plan assumes the risk if services cost more than
the capitated amount.”® Unlike general Medicare Part A and B services, MA plans can offer
nutritional counseling to a broader array of beneficiaries by offering these services as a
supplemental benefit.”” MA plans may similarly provide coverage of home-delivered meals as a
supplemental benefit under specific circumstances. In particular, MA plans may cover home-
delivered meals “if the service is: 1) needed due to an iliness; 2) consistent with established
medical treatment of the iliness; and 3) offered for a short duration.””® There are two specific
circumstances under which MA plans can cover meals if the above criteria are met. First, meals
may be offered to individuals immediately following surgery or an inpatient hospital stay, as
long as the meals are only provided for a temporary period, and are ordered by a physician or
non-physician practitioner. Second, meals may be covered for individuals with chronic

72 Nutrition therapy services (medical), MEDICARE, http://www.medicare.gov/coverage/nutrition-therapy-
gaervices.html (last visited Dec. 1, 2013).

Id.
74 The National Provider Identifier, MEDICARE, http://www.cms.gov/Regulations-and-Guidance/HIPAA-
Administrative-Simplification/NationalProvidentStand/downloads/npi_fs _geninfo_010906.pdf (last visited Dec. 3,
2013); Medicare Enrollment for Physicians, Non-Physician Practitioners and Other Health Care Suppliers 3 (2009),
MEDICARE, available at http://www.cms.gov/Medicare/Provider-Enroliment-and-
Certification/MedicareProviderSupEnroll/downloads/Suppliers.pdf.
Hiome health services, MEDICARE, http://www.medicare.gov/coverage/home-health-services.htmi (last visited Dec.
1, 2013).
76 KAISER FAM. FOUND., MEDICARE ADVANTAGE FACTSHEET, (Nov. 25, 2013), available at http://kff.org/medicare/fact-
sheet/medicare-advantage-fact-sheet/.
7 Medicare Managed Care Manual 35-37, MEDICARE, http://cms.gov/Regulations-and-
guidance/Guidance/Manuals/Downloads/mc86c04.pdf (last visited Dec. 1, 2013).

Id.

23



conditions like hypertension or diabetes, if such meals are ordered by a physician or non-
physician practitioner, are provided for short period of time, and are part of a program
intended to “transition the enrollee to lifestyle modifications.””

There are also specific kinds of MA plans, called Special Needs Plans (SNPs), that limit eligibility
to certain targeted groups of individuals and that may offer benefits beyond those of regular
MA plans. There are three kinds of SNPs: SNPs for different groups of individuals with certain
specified chronic illnesses (C-SNPs);® institutional SNPs for individuals living in nursing homes
or who require nursing care at home (I-SNPs), and dual eligible SNPs (D-SNPs).5! D-SNPs that
participate in a particular Benefits Flexibility Initiative can choose to offer home-delivered
meals at no additional cost to enrollees, and without the restrictions imposed on regular MA
plans.?2 SNPs are not available in every area, and states vary with regard to the types of SNPs
that may be available.

In addition to home-delivered meal services specifically authorized by Medicare, some MA
plans independently choose to offer coverage of home-delivered meals by partnering with
nutrition service organizations such as Meals On Wheels, or by offering home-delivered meals
as part of an expanded plan that recipients can obtain by paying extra money.® In both these
instances, the meals are not considered an actual Medicare benefit.

Accountable Care Organizations (ACOs) in Medicare

Accountable Care Organizations (ACOs) are a new method of organizing care delivery and
payment.® An ACOis a partnership of health care providers whose reimbursement is partially
contingent on meeting quality metrics and reducing care costs. A group of providers, including
but not limited to hospitals, managed care organizations, surgery centers, and physician
practices, may apply to become an ACO under Medicare. There are several initiatives underway
in which ACOs are working to provide better care coordination among Medicare Part A and B
services to ensure better health outcomes and lower costs. For the first phase of these projects, -
the ACO providers will continue to receive fee-for-service reimbursement from Medicare for

79
Id.
% For a list of the chronic conditions that make an individual eligible for C-SNPs, see Guide to Medicare Special

Needs Plans, CTRS. FOR MEDICARE & MEDICAID SERVS.(Nov. 2011) http://www.medicare.gov/Pubs/pdf/l1302.pdf
(last visited Dec. 1, 2013).

= Frequently Asked Questions About Special Needs Plans, MEDICARE, http://www.medicare.gov/sign-up-change-
plans/medicare-heaIth—plans/medicare-advantage-pIans/speciaI-needs-plans-faq.html#collapse-3318 (last visited
Dec. 1, 2013).

8 Note to All Medicare Advantage Organizations, Prescription Drug Plan Sponsors, and Other Interested Parties,
MEDICARE 105-109 (2012), available at http://www.cms.gov/Medicare/Health-
Plans/MedicareAdvthpecRateStats/downIoads/Announcement2013.pdf.

® Medicare Managed Care Manual 37, MEDICARE, http://cms.gov/Regulations-and-
Guidance/Guidance/Manuals/DownIoads/mc86c04.pdf (last visited Dec. 1, 2013).

8 Accountable Care Organizations, CTRS. FOR MEDICARE & MEDICAID SERVS.
http://www.cms.gov/Medicare/Medicare-Fee—for-Service-Payment/ACO/index.html?redirect=/ACO/ (last visited
Dec. 1, 2013).

24



services provided under Medicare Part A and B. If the ACO meets Medicare-defined quality
metrics, such as low readmission rates for patients with certain conditions who are treated by
ACO providers, and the overall care costs for patients treated by the ACO are lower than
predicted, Medicare will pay the ACO part of the cost savings it helped generate.85 The ACO
payment structure encourages providers to coordinate services and to pay close attention to
patients’ health outside of appointments, both to meet the quality requirements and to reduce
overall costs.

Currently, most ACOs are in the early stages of development and bill Medicare on a fee-for-
service basis for Part A and B services, which includes nutritional counseling only for certain
individuals and does not cover home-delivered meals. Over time, ACOs that meet certain
milestones for quality and cost-savings will move towards a capitated per-member per-month
rate (PMPM, similar to the payment method for MCOs), which will allow them to have more
flexibility in providing services that Medicare might not ordinarily cover.® This flexibility will
create an opportunity for MTFNPs to contract with ACOs to provide non-traditional benefits
that improve health outcomes and lower costs, like home-delivered meals.

Pursuing Medicare Reimbursement

As with Medicaid, Medicare offers opportunities for MTFNPs to receive reimbursement for
nutritional counseling and/or home-delivered meals. For reimbursement of home-delivered
meals, MTFENPs could partner with the Medicare Advantage (MA) plans in their state that offer
home-delivered meals either as part of the plan’s existing supplemental services or as part of a
D-SNP, as well as with MA plans that offer additional home-delivered meal benefits outside of
Medicare. MTFNPs could also reach out to MA plans that do not currently offer home-delivered
meals to urge them to provide these services as a way to improve the health of their enrollees
and cut down on costs. As with Medicaid HCBS, some MA plans may already have contracts for
food services. MTFNPs should be prepared to make the case for why their services are unique
and more likely to result in cost savings and improved health outcomes among the plans’
enrollees.

ACOs’ emphasis on delivering coordinated “whole-person” care in order to yield better
outcomes aligns with the mission of MTFNPs, who have long recognized the critical role of
nutrition services in achieving maximum health. To the extent that MTFNPs can demonstrate
their expertise in providing nutrition services and show that these services play a huge role in

8 accountable Care Organization 2013 Program Analysis, CTRS. FOR MEDICARE & MEDICAID SERVS. 11, (Dec. 21, 2012),
available at http://www.cms.gov/Medicare/Medicare-Fee-for-Service-
Payment/sharedsavingsprogram/Downloads/ACO-NarrativeMeasures-Specs.pdf.

% See Accountable Care Organizations, CTRS. FOR MEDICARE & MEDICAID
SERvs.http://www.cms.gov/Medicare/Medicare-Fee-for-Service-Payment/ACO/index.html?redirect=/ACO/ (last
visited Dec. 1, 2013); Pioneer Accountable Care Organization (AC) Model Program Frequently Asked Questions 3,
CTRs. FOR MEDICARE & MEDICAID SERVS.http://innovation.cms.gov/Files/x/Pioneer-ACO-Model-Frequently-Asked-
Questions-doc.pdf (last visited Dec. 1, 2013).

25



reducing medical costs and improving the efficacy of medical treatment, they will be in a strong
position to seek reimbursement for their services from an ACO.

C. Dual Eligible Programs: PACE and Integrated Care Organizations
(ICOs)

Dual eligible programs provide care for low-income elderly or disabled people that are eligible
for both Medicare and Medicaid. The populations that these programs serve are likely to have
high medical needs, including the need for nutritional services. While there are many different
dual eligible initiatives, this section examines the Program of Ali-Inclusive Care for the Elderly
(PACE) as a potential partner for MTFNPs and discusses other dual eligible demonstration

projects.

Overview and Opportunities: The Program of All-Inclusive Care for the Elderly
(PACE)

The Program of All-Inclusive Care for the Elderly (PACE) is a joint Medicare-Medicaid program
(based on a capitation model) that states can implement to help keep elderly people in their
homes and communities instead of in institutionalized care.®’ PACE Elder Service Plans (ESPs)
provide all benefits authorized by Medicare and can also include a range of additional medical
and social services, including nutritional counseling and home-delivered meals.®® PACE
programs are operated by non-profit agencies. Clients who enroll in a PACE ESP agree to
receive health services only from their PACE ESP organization.%® Thirty-one states currently
have PACE programs, but services may not be available in every town. To qualify for PACE
services, an individual must be age 55 or older, require a nursing facility level of care, and live
within a PACE’s service area.® In addition to dual-eligibles, PACE also serves individuals who
meet these criteria who have only Medicare or Medicaid. °*

As with HCBS waivers and Medicare, MTFNPs can partner with a PACE organization and receive
reimbursement for providing MNT and home-delivered meals to the PACE’s critically ili clients.
MTFNPs should research whether their state currently offers PACE, and if so, which nonprofit
entity administers the program.

& PACE, MEDICARE, http://www.medicare.gov/your-medicare-costs/help-paying-costs/pace/pace.html (last visited
Dec. 1, 2013).

% 1d.

* For a list of PACE programs in each state, see NATIONAL PACE AssOCIATION, PACE IN THE STATES, (Jan. 1, 2013)
available at http://www.npaonline.org/website/downIoad.asp ?id=1741&title=PACE_in_the_States.

* Quick Facts about Programs of All-inclusive Care for the Elderly (PACE), CTRs. MEDICARE & MEDICAID SERV.,
http://www.npaonline.org/website/download.asp?id=2378&title=Quick_Facts_about_PACE_(CMS_PubIication)
(last visited Dec. 3, 2013).

.

26



The ACA and Dual Eligible Demonstration Projects

Dual-eligibles demonstration projects experiment with new models of care delivery that aim to
improve care for individuals who are dually eligible for both Medicaid and Medicare. These
groups often require more health care services and incur more health-related costs than the
general population. Because MTFNPs often serve individuals with complex health care needs,
there may be significant overlap between the dual-eligible enrollees being targeted in these
projects and clients in need of MTFNP services. Currently, for dual-eligible individuals, Medicare
provides the bulk of primary care services, while Medicaid covers particular Medicare cost-
sharing and premium requirements, and often provides direct coverage of long-term care
services.” Because each program covers different services and may involve different
reimbursement methodologies, the provision of care can be inefficient. The new dual-eligibles
demonstration projects aim to encourage new systems that provide better quality care for this
population while lowering health costs. The ACA created the Medicare-Medicaid Coordination
Office (MMCO) to assist states in integrating care for dual-eligibles as well as the Center for
Medicare and Medicaid Innovation (CMMI), which is charged with testing, evaluating, and
replicating innovative models of care.”

For instance, Massachusetts began implementing a dual-eligibles demonstration project,
“OneCare,” in spring 2013 whereby certain managed care groups, called Integrated Care
Organizations (ICOs), receive a streamlined, capitated PMPM rate comprised of blended
MassHealth (Medicaid) and Medicare funding.’ The ICOs provide coordinated medical and
behavioral health services, long-term care, and prescription drugs to dual-eligible individuals
aged 21 to 64. Like MCOs, ICOs have discretion to provide additional benefits and community-
based support as needed or requested by the client. They can also subcontract with other
providers to offer these services. The overarching goal of Massachusetts’ ICO demonstration
project is to provide coordinated services that result in better patient health outcomes and
lower health costs.

92 £or more information on Medicare and Medicaid dual eligibles generally, see KAISER FAMILY FOUNDATION,
MEDICARE’S ROLE FOR DUAL ELIGIBLE BENEFICIARIES (2012), available at http://www.kff.org/medicaid/upload/7846-
03.pdf.

%3 state Demonstrations to Integrate Care for Dual Eligible Individuals, CTR. MEDICARE & MEDICAID SERV.,
http://www.cms.gov/Medicare-Medicaid-Coordination/Medicare-and-Medicaid-Coordination/Medicare-Medicaid-
Coordination-Office/StateDemonstrationstolntegrateCareforDualEligibleindividuals.html (last visited Dec. 1, 2013);
see also FAMILIES USA, DUAL ELIGIBLE DEMONSTRATION PROJECTS: TOP TEN PRIORITIES FOR CONSUMERS ADVOCATES,
www.Communitycatalyst.org,

http://www.communitycatalyst.org/doc_store/publications/T op_Ten_Duals_Projects_Guide_Advocates.pdf.

% For a general overview of the Massachusetts Dual Eligibles Demonstration Project, see KAISER FAM. FOUND.,
MASSACHUSETTS’ DEMONSTRATION TO INTEGRATE CARE AND ALIGN FINANCING FOR DUAL ELIGIBLE BENEFICIARIES (2012), available
at http://www.kff.org/medicaid/upload/8291-02.pdf. For more detailed information on the Massachusetts project
as well as current updates, see Integrating Medicare and Medicaid for Dual Eligible Individuals, MASSACHUSETTS
EXECUTIVE OFFICE OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES, http://www.mass.gov/eohhs/provider/guidelines-
resources/services-planning/national-health-care-reform-plan/federal-health-care-reform-initiatives/integrating-
medicare-and-medicaid (last visited Dec. 1, 2013); and ONE CARe: Masshealth Plus Medicare, MASSACHUSETTS
EXECUTIVE OFFICE OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES, http://www.mass.gov/eohhs/consumer/insurance/onecare/ (last
visited Dec. 1, 2013).

27



Many other states are undertaking similar dual-eligibles demonstration projects. These may
present opportunities for MTFNPs to partner with ICOs or other provider entities to offer
nutrition services as a means of improving health and lowering costs for a high-needs
population.

Dual Eligible Programs: Opportunities for Advocacy

Both PACE and the new dual eligible demonstration projects initiated by the ACA may provide
partnership or integration opportunities for MTFNPs to provide nutritional counseling and
home-delivered meal services. Because dual eligible programs target enrollees with chronic
conditions and significant health care needs, there may already be significant overlap between
enrollees in a particular dual eligible program and a MTFNP’s existing (or potential) client base.
MTENPs’ contributions to holistic, preventive, and community-based care make them ideal
partners to advance the goals of each of these models. In addition, partnerships with dual
eligible demonstration programs can provide a key opportunity for MTFNPs to collect
information to demonstrate their program efficacy, as MCOs/ICO may have the tools,
infrastructure and incentive to collect detailed data on health and cost outcomes for

participants.

D. Opportunities for MTFNPs Through Future Medicare and
Medicaid Innovation Initiatives

Along with expanding eligibility and benefits, as well as creating new care delivery models
described above, the ACA places a large emphasis on the development of new and innovative
models of care and payment. In particular, the ACA established the Center for Medicare and
Medicaid Innovation, which periodically issues Requests for Proposals for innovative care
models. These grants present additional opportunities for MTFNPs to partner with health care
providers and/or payors to evaluate the effect of providing nutrition services. Evaluating the
effect of nutrition services could be the overarching goal of the proposal, or a tangential
component (e.g., offering nutrition services to a target population as part of a larger project to
evaluate alternative payment models). For example, CMMI recently released a request for
proposals under its Health Care Innovation Awards Program to evaluate new payment models,
and several different MTFNPs applied in partnership with health care providers and/or
payors.%® Partnerships with health care entities such as hospitals and/or MCOs are critical in
pursuing opportunities with CMMI, because these entities will have experience with and
capacity for more complex health care project planning, data collection, and evaluation that
these grants often require and that MTFNPs may not have.

% The original Request for Proposal may be reviewed at: Health Care Innovation Awards, CTRs. FOR MEDICARE &
Mepicaip SERvs., http://innovation.cms.gov/initiatives/ Health-Care-Innovation-Awards/Round-2.html (last visited
Dec. 7, 2013).

28



Many state Medicaid programs are also looking for innovative ideas for improving care and
reducing costs. For example, the New York Medicaid program recently created a new initiative
to use state Medicaid funds to provide housing for some of its most medically vulnerable
recipients.96

As well, many hospitals that serve Medicare patients are searching for similar interventions due
to new requirements in the ACA mandating that CMS reduce payments to hospitals with high
numbers of patients who are readmitted to the hospital within 30 days of discharge. In
particular, the Hospital Readmissions Reduction Program requires hospitals that provide acute
inpatient services to meet these standards with respect to their Medicare patients age 65 and
older who suffer from heart attacks, heart failure, and/or pneumonia.”’

As a result, many hospitals are now looking for new ideas to reduce readmissions for their
Medicare patients, including the use of home-delivered meals. For example, Steward Health
Care System in Massachusetts, which was penalized by this new Medicare law, recently
initiated an experimental, time-limited program to provide home-delivered meals for 55 of
their heart-failure patients in 3 of their hospitals.”® In addition, Newton-Wellesley Hospital’s
Vernon Cancer Center recently began to provide home-delivered meals to some of their more
vulnerable patients. These examples illustrate the wiIIingneSs of some hospitals to think outside
the box and look to home-delivered meals programs for solutions.*

Again, the key to MTFNP success for integration into these initiatives will be in their ability to
collect and use data to demonstrate the impact of nutrition services on health improvement
and cost savings. The more that data demonstrates a positive impact on the specific quality
metrics used to measure the performance of payors and/or providers in these new models, the
more successful MTFNPs will be in forming future partnerships.

% See Matt Chaban, Housing for the Homeless-Built With Medicaid Money, NY DALY NEws, (Oct, 8, 2013)
http://www.nydailynews.com/new-york/bronx/housing-homeless-medicaid-money-article-1.1479796; SUPPORTIVE
HousING NETWORK OF NY, MEDICAID REDESIGN, http://shnny.org/budget-policy/state/medicaid-redesign/ (last visited
Dec. 7, 2013); New York State Medicaid Redesign Team (MRT) Waiver Amendment, NY STATE DEPT. OF HEALTH 57
(Aug. 6, 2012) available at http://www.health.ny.gov/health_care/medicaid/redesign/docs/2012-08-
06_waiver_amendment_request.pdf.
%7 Readmissions Reduction Program, CTRs. FOR MEDICARE & MEDICAID SERVS.,
http://www.cms.gov/Medicare/Medicare-Fee-for-Service-Payment/AcuteinpatientPPS/Readmissions-Reduction-
Program.html (last visited Dec. 7, 2013); see also HEALTH AFFAIRS, HEALTH POLICY BRIEF, MEDICARE HOSPITAL READMISSIONS
REDUCTION PROGRAM, (Nov. 12, 2013) available at
http://healthaffairs.org/healthpolicybriefs/brief_pdfs/healthpolicybrief_102.pdf.
% Liz Kowalczyk, Healing Meals, Hospitals Hope That Sending Healthful Food to Patients’ Homes Will Keep Them
From Coming Back, THE BOSTON GLOBE (June 10, 2013) http://www.bostonglobe.com/lifestyle/health-
wellness/2013/06/09/hospitals-reach-into-patients-homes-deliver-healthy-smoked-tofu-but-also-bbg-shrimp-
g;:ampi/QSqNQichUNxaquRWszI/story.html.

Id.

29



E. Private Insurance

Like public health insurance programs, private insurers also have a powerful incentive to adopt
care innovations that reduce the cost of care for their neediest enrollees. Because MTENPs
provide a service that is proven to both reduce health care costs for high-need patients and
improve outcomes, they are well-positioned to contract with private insurers for
reimbursement of their services. In addition to contracting with individual private plans,
MTFNPs can also advocate for strong federal and state-level requirements for the Qualified
Health Plans (private insurance plans) sold in each state’s online health insurance marketplace.

Private Insurance and the ACA: An Overview'®

Prior to the ACA, private insurers might have refused coverage to someone living with HIV/AIDS
or other complex health conditions. Now, they can no longer refuse to cover any individual
based on a pre-existing health condition, nor can they discriminate against medically-needy
clients in administering coverage. Private health insurers can no longer charge a higher
premium to women than to men. The ACA also prohibits private plans from containing annual
or lifetime limits on coverage. This means that MTFNP clients are more likely to enroll in private
insurance, and that private insurers will be motivated to find ways to reduce costs for clients
they would have previously excluded.

In addition to making private health insurance more accessible for medically-needy individuals,
the ACA will improve the ability of low-income individuals to afford private health insurance by
providing premium tax credits and copayment subsidies. in every state (regardless of whether
that state chooses to participate in the Medicaid expansion), people with incomes between 100
and 400% of FPL (between $11,490 and $45,960/year for an individual) who are not eligible for
Medicaid will be able to receive tax subsidies to help them with private health insurance plans’
premiums. In addition, people with incomes between 100 and 250% of FPL (between $ 11,490
and $28,725/year for an individual) will be eligible for subsidies to meet private health
insurance plans’ patient copayment obligations. These insurance plans, called Qualified Health
Plans (QHPs) are available in every state through new, online marketplaces (also referred to as
“exchanges”). In some states, these marketplaces are operated by the federal government,
while in other states, marketplaces are run by the states themselves. Regardless of how the
marketplace operates, individuals in every state are able to assess eligibility for tax credits and
subsidies, compare health plans in terms of costs and covered services, and purchase QHPs
through a single, streamlined application.

As with Medicaid, all QHPs (and most other private plans outside of the marketplace) will now
have to provide coverage of all ten categories of Essential Health Benefits (EHBs) as well as
coverage without cost-sharing of preventive services that receive an “A” or “B” rating from the

®eora comprehensive summary of the Affordable Care Act, see KAISER. FAM. FOUND., Focus ON HEALTH REFORM:
SUMMARY OF THE AFFORDABLE CARE ACT, P.L. 111-148, (April 23, 2013) available at
http://kaiserfamilyfoundation.ﬁles.wordpress.com/2011/04/8061-021.pdf.

30



USPSTF, including nutritional counseling for certain populations.’® The USPSTF gives a “B”
rating to nutritional counseling “for adult patients with hyperlipidemia and other known risk
factors for cardiovascular and diet-related chronic disease.”*°* Similar to Medicaid, EHB services
will be defined in reference to a private health plan chosen by the state as a benchmark.'® To
the extent that a state benchmark covers MTFNI as part of an EHB category, all other private
plans must match that coverage. Even if MTFNIs are not specifically included in the benchmark
plan, EHB requirements represent the floor, not the ceiling, for private plans.

As more clients obtain private coverage, it will be important for MTFNPs to assess QHPs to
determine the degree to which medical nutrition therapy or additional services such as home-
delivered meals are covered. For example, the Georgia CoventryOne POS Plan, one of the QHPs
offered in Georgia’s marketplace, includes coverage for education and nutritional counseling in
connection with morbid obesity, pre-diabetes, diabetes, coronary artery disease, pregnancy,
renal disease, hypertension, childhood obesity, eating disorders or hyperlipidemia, as long as
these services are provided by a registered dietitian or provider.'®*

Private Insurance Coverage of Medically-Tailored Food and Nutrition Intervention
Services: Opportunities for Advocacy

Beyond covering USPSTF-recommended nutritional counseling services, there are no federal
requirements for covering nutrition services such as home-delivered meals within any of the
EHB categories. Because all states have already selected their private plan benchmarks, there is
little room for state-based advocacy around private EHB requirements at this time. Nationally,
however, advocates continue to urge the federal government to issue more comprehensive,
federal EHB standards, and some groups continue to actively push for the inclusion of MNT and
home-delivered meals, particularly for individuals with chronic health conditions.'® Moreover,
the federal standards for state EHBs will be reviewed and potentially revised in 2016, at which
time states may consider whether to add additional services. To the extent MTFNPs may
demonstrate improved health outcomes and reduced costs resulting from medical nutrition
therapy and home-delivered meals, they may be in a better position to advocate for inclusion

101 45 C.F.R. §156.100, et seq.; see also Essential Health Benefits Bulletin, (DEc. 16, 2011) CTRs. FOR CONSUMER
INFORMATION AND INSURANCE OVERSIGHT, available at
http://www.cms.gov/CClIO/Resources/Files/Downloads/essential_health_benefits_bulletin.pdf.

192 (JSPSTF A and B Recommendations, UNITED STATES PREVENTIVE SERVICES TASK FORCE,
http://www.uspreventiveservicestaskforce.org/uspstf/uspsabrecs.htm (last visited Dec. 1, 2013).

103 Eor more information on state benchmark plans, see Additional Information on Proposed State Essential Health
Benefits Benchmark Plans, CTRS. FOR CONSUMER INFORMATION AND INSURANCE OVERSIGHT,
http://www.cms.gov/CClIO/Resources/Data-Resources/ehb.html (last visited Dec. 9, 2013).

104 CoVENTRY HEALTH CARE OF GEORGIA, INC., COVENTRYONE POINT OF SERVICE (“POS”) INDIVIDUAL MEMBER CONTRACT, 25
(2014), available at
http://coventryone.com/web/groups/public/@cvty_individual_c1/documents/document/c074200.pdf.

105 Eor more information on federal health reform advocacy on behalf of individuals living with HIV/AIDS, see HIV
HEALTH REFORM, http://www.hivhealthreform.org/ (last visited Dec. 1, 2013) as well as comments submitted by the
Association of Nutrition Services Agencies (ANSA) in response to the EHB Bulletin of January 2012.

31



of nutrition services and home-delivered meals by 20186, either as their own category or as part
of the required preventive services or chronic disease management categories.

As with Medicaid and Medicare, the ACA offers opportunities for MTFNI providers to build
relationships with insurers to advocate for coverage of their services as critical interventions
that reduce costs and improve quality. The most persuasive argument for MTFNI integration
into private insurance is the intervention’s potential for cost reduction, and MTFNPs should be
prepared to explain the economic value of their services and project cost-savings for the
insurer.

32



€t

B SI )40MI3U 3YL “HjIoMlau
S,Q0W 3y} UIYHM s0IAIS
Sule3go Jualjd ay3 se 8uo|
SE ‘S?I1AJ9S Yajeay Jusid
||e SJ3A02 pue 23y dipolsad
- 33s e sadieyd sainsul

3yl JOMiI3U B pue Jainsul
ue :sjied oml sey OJW uy

. ‘uopeydes ay} ueyy asow
~ 3502 SDIIAIDS ||BIDAO Ji S

k2t

‘waojas AJaAlap ssalppe
‘wesSoud ajesedas e
23ead ‘pieIIPAN jeuohipeny

10j S32IAIRS 0] WAY) 103.1p
pue Aujiqi8s 104 2jdoad
31en|eAd suolleziuedlo ayL

'sianem (2)ST6T

SEOH @Y1 Ja1s|uiwpe

03 suoijezjuesio yjo04d
-uou 309}3s Aew sajels
‘Bunyas pazijeuopniiisu) ue
Jo peajsul Ajunwiwod ayy
ut an|| sjdoad asoyy djay o3

9y} sieaq pue ‘sjenpiAlpul Jo yed aq isnf pjnod ‘1oniem e Buiinbaa |  sjdoad Apiapie o pajqesip
40} S321AI8S puny 03 jed S2IAIDS STTT “1dd4 %00C ueyl Jayied ueid aiels 01 SIS pIeIIPAIN
paieyded e pted st 0OOW 01 dn AJH Yum sjenpialpui | e jo ued se sdnosS pajesiel | - |euonipesi-uou apinosd
 Uue ‘|esauas uf "aiedipaiy Jie 01 pieaipay apinosd 0} SI2IAI3S 1J10ads SEIH | 01 Wiayl SMojje 1ey] Jaaiem
Ul S|ENPIAIPUL JO§ SODN 3J@ | 0} JaAleM STTT ue sasn | papuedxa apirosd 03 sajeys (2)STET SEOH 40 pupy ainynans
sue|d 28ejueApy aJedipain Y “82-ajqixals aq ued SMOJ|e JUdWpUBWE SIUL 3wWos aAeY $31e1S ISON Jiseg
TUoREMpHOWEIO pUE| . . oo (ot e e
saIuLISWINIIL Jenojed uj | i e e b i
Ajuo sieaul pasaAljap-swioy (s|eaw pasantjep .~ (sjeaw pasenyep
1 apnjoup ued ((sedjaes 3=_ 3228 ﬁaﬂ%&b .nEOn apnpul :w& e -oEoc apnpuj ued)
_g_aacz pue uepisAyduo | - -uouJo/pue papuedxa | mthwm [B21paWI-UOU PUR | 3223 [eaipawi-uou pue paJayo
 siseydui) seouos [ | ay0 03 Ajqp@} eosg | [e1paw paseq-Ayjunuiiion | [Epew peseq-Ayunuwiod | saoimas
uonezijeuonmsul
R ; : Suunbad jo Juiod ayj ie Jaysy
(s|enpiaipul pajqesip pue Aypqi8ie | 99194 j3ou Aew so Aews Ing Jo aJed jo [aAd] Ayjioey | uoneindod
+G9 sade asoyl) sjenplaipul puedxa 10/pue sdnoJ§ |  sadjasas paseq Ajunwiwod | Suisinu e Jo paau u sjdoad [TETTo)
m_em__w-es_uoz 3a8Je1 01 Ajjiqixaj} peoig pasu oym sienpiaipu] | (+09) Ayape Jo pajgesia 1s8ie]
iquRuaddng pia Y } 921n0S
10/pu2 (D ued) aIENpIY BresiuenN piednayy DIEJPBIN Suipund
3B piedlpa (d)ST6T
SJI9AIE/\ UOnBIISUOWRQ uawpudwWYy (sgoH) se21n198 paseg
adejuenpy asedipaN pue ydseasay STIT uejd a1ess (1)ST6t -Ajjunwwo) pue SWoH




ve

ul s3ualp s,00 Y3 4oy
a.ed 03 paaude aney oym
slapiaoid aued jo dnous

oow 2:_
_ Eo.c «cmE>ma 4oy uinyas

- Penuod ‘_oxvcm Apdaup
~ SIIIAIIS JOAEM JWOS

ou.sEn Aew ‘suonijezjuedio

- 3YL'0DW ue yum

. w_aeaa 193UU0? osje Aew

uco:mu_:mm._o 8unenjeas

8y pue ‘saointas
. J9AIBM SEIH JaAIj9p 03
SOJIN 3sn osje saje}s awos

51

S "31q1811° ase Aayy Yyaiym

SENET]
jeuoniesadp




S€

‘Ajunwiwod

ay3 uj suaypd dedy pue sawoIno

~ anosdwi Jey} sweiSoud ased usisap
03 Aujiqixa|j Juesyiusis sey 0D1 YL

‘uonejndod 3|qeJaUINA & 01 318D
pazijenpiAlpu ‘Baisuayadwon JaARP

03 JaJnsul 3yl Yum pue Jay3asoy Ajasop |

syJom siapiaold ased Aseuljdiosipaaiul
J0HOMIBU 3y} ‘|3poUl (HINDd) awoy

_8_@0& um..wucwo.pcung oy mc_m:

muu_awm

ﬁ_@os Ew__u e 9_2,8 vcs aJedpsin

~ pue piesipsN wouy uswied spolsed
3UO $3AI2234 )] 3YL "s1d9(oud s3|qI8Ia
jenp mau ay3 uj Sunpedidised siedipsiy

.:o_umu_ﬁw._o ;

39Vd 34 ﬁ:es S30|AJ3S [BJ{paW

© . |je A1@224 Ishw SUBLYI 3IVd
‘[enpIAIpUl Yoea 03 PaUMe SaJIALBS
JaAj|ap 01 Ajasopd yiom (uopieziuesio
30vd 8yl Aq pakojdwa Ajioauip)

~ siapinosd ased s uoijeziuesio

- 39Vd BYL Japutewa. ay3 Aed Juaip

. 9yl Jo/pue (Jagqluaw piedipa € S|
JUBD Y3 1) pIedIpaN ‘uoneziuedio
IDVd 33 03 JuswiAed sipoyiad 18s

- 9y} Jo 1ed shed aseaipa “a|qissod

'$§3502 3dNpaJ pue
Ajijenb saoiduii 1eY) SusWaA0LdLY
‘ 2.4ed udisap o3 Jainsul 3y}
 yum pue 19313803 AjaSO|D S}IOM
- siapinoad aJed Jo jiomiau ay |

‘siseq
8_>._mm¢£.m£ e uo a2unos Sulpuny
. ay3 sadieyd Ajjesauad 0OV ayL

*$3509
mmw_e U ummmo_ s 359. 8uipuny

- 3yy ui aleys Aew pue ‘Ayjenb

© BujuieuRW BfIYM $1502 $BINPAJ
U §1 sBujaes s,224n0s Bujpuny

3Y3 Ul sdeYS 0DV Uy "Adudiiye
pue Ajjjenb Buinoidwi uo

pue piedipa\ Joy 21qi8ije Ajjenp | se 8uoj se Ajjunwwod a3 ui 3jdoad m:u& B UYJIM Y40M]3U pdj-Japinosd aJnPNIS
9jdoad Joj QDN pazijerdads e s| QD Uy - Ajsapja doayj 03 pausisep si IDVd pajeda3ul Apysn e sy Ou< uy Jiseg
T : \ T [ (185 aARuaAdld Uo siseyduis Ge | %
;Es ‘sjeaw pasaAjjap-awioy apnjoul mt.x_asm

. {s@oindes vmwmn.EE:EEcu *o ~ ued ‘sadiAIas paseq-AyuNwWwo? vmmss Ajunwiwiod pue UOHeUIPIO0D paJayo

wmcﬁ apnjoul ues osje) S01AJSS [EIIPIN 06 aguel mmvauca S3TIAIBS [RIIPAN | U0 mmassn_.:o Yam 6@9?.2 {e2IpaN CERTTVETS
: - spaau Yijeay |esoineyaq | - eale
._o\_ucm aJed yjeay xajdwiod aJow yum |  BJIAIBS S :oamw_cmm;o 3OVd Uiyum

sienpiaipui Suiyasie; uayo ‘eiedipaiy pue Jays8iy 10 a4ed Jo [9A3] Aujioey ~ spaau aJed ydiy yum sjdoad uo uonejndod

jusyd 1981e)

pue piedipajA Yioq Joy 3|qidi|e 3|doad

Suisanu e jo paau ul ‘+G5 3jdoad

m:u& e ::3 ﬁ:m_%m.- asedipay

Ry e " a8eJaA0d

zeué@k 84 w»@ﬁw% 324n0S

Ajuiof sienipein pue DIEDIPBN piEdIpaiN Yhieua 2y §184g &mu m} ‘piesipaiN Suipung
{mau)

{s0d1) suoizeziuedio siely psieidaiuy
Jo/pue ‘sydafoad sa|qi8ij3 jena

(3ovd) Atepia sy
40} 34e) dAISNPU|-|IY jo wesdoid

s4edipaiy Yum Buppom {(00V)
suofiezjuediQ aie) ajqeiunoNy




9t

diysiauped
1o} ase)
ay3 Supjey

slpuay
jeuonesadp




Ill. Conclusion: Recommendations for Medically-

Tailored Food and Nutrition Providers

In a post-Affordable Care Act world, the health care landscape is rapidly evolving, favoring cost-
effective innovations in care delivery that view the patient as a whole person with a set of
varied and complex interrelated health needs. This period of dynamic change in health care
access and delivery represents a unique opportunity for medically-tailored food and nutrition
intervention services to become a widely-recognized core component of quality heaith care.
Every health insurance program and private insurer is seeking to improve health outcomes
while at the same time reducing the cost of care. The provision of nutritionai counseling and
medically-tailored, home-delivered meals to those with acute or chronic illnesses is a cost-
effective intervention that produces measurable positive results for patients. It can shorten the
length of a hospital stay, reduce the need for hospital admission, and increase the likelihood
that a patient will be able to return to his or her home and community after a hospita!ization.m
Medically-tailored food and nutrition intervention providers (MTFNPs) are well-positioned to
integrate their services into current and emerging health care delivery systems. This paper
examined several opportunities for MTFNPs to expand both their client base and the ability to
support their operations through reimbursement for meal-delivery and nutritionai counseling
services. We conclude by setting forth the following recommendations for MTFNPs as they
move forward with efforts to integrate into new and existing health care programs and delivery
models. Regardless of which program-specific opportunities individual MTFNPs choose to
pursue, the implementation of these recommendations will create an environment that is
conducive to integration of medically-tailored food and nutrition intervention services into
health care delivery for people with chronic and acute debilitating iliness.

i. Become familiar with the administrative structure of your state’s

Medicaid program. MTFNPs will need to understand how the Medicaid program
operates and who or what entity has the ability to change its requirements, request
waivers to expand coverage, move for amendments to the state plan, or design
innovative demonstration projects.

2. Advocate for expanding your state’s Medicaid program in accordance
with the ACA, and push for comprehensive Alternative Benefits Packages
(ABPs) that include medically-tailored food and nutrition intervention
services for newly eligible Medicaid beneficiaries. Some states have declined
to expand the Medicaid program to cover individuals up to 133% of the FPL. MTFNPs
should continue to push for expansion, as many of their current clients wili likely
become eligible for coverage.

196 il Gurvey, Kelly Rand, Susan Daugherty, Cyndi Dinger, Joan Schmeling, and Nicole Laverty, Examining Health
Care Costs Among MANNA Clients and a Comparison Group, Journal of Primary Care & Community Health (June
2013), 4-5.

37



In states that are expanding Medicaid, MTFNPs should advocate for inclusion of their
services in all ABPs and/or for the creation of special ABP packages that include
medically-tailored food and nutrition intervention services for people with certain
chronic and serious conditions.

. Become familiar with the new coordinated care delivery models in your

state. New care delivery models created by the ACA emphasize outcome-driven
coordinated patient care. States may choose to implement an Integrated Care
Organization for dually eligible Medicaid-Medicare beneficiaries, Medicaid Health
Homes for individuals with certain chronic conditions, or Accountable Care
Organizations in Medicare. Innovation in care delivery is incentivized for these health
care models, and MTFNPs are well-positioned to contract with them for client referrals
and/or reimbursement of medically-tailored food and nutrition intervention services.

. Evaluate MTFNI coverage and build relationships with private insurers
who are offering new QHPs in your state’s marketplace. New tax credits and
subsidies will expand access to the private health insurance market for low-income and
medically vulnerable individuals for whom private insurance was previously unavailable.
Private insurers looking to reduce health care costs for medically needy individuals are
ideal partners for MTFNPs.

. Advocate for inclusion of medically-tailored food and nutrition
intervention services in Essential Health Benefits in 2016. There is an
opportunity to review and revise the federal requirements for the Essential Health
Benefits (EHBs) package for both Medicaid and the private market in 2016. EHBs set the
floor for coverage of different services in private insurance plans offered through the
ACA marketplaces and for Medicaid coverage packages for people who become newly
eligible through the Medicaid expansion. The inclusion of medically-tailored food and
nutrition intervention services as a specific component of EHBs would dramatically
increase the opportunities for MTFNPs to contract with Medicaid and private insurers,
and for vulnerable MTFNP clients to receive the meals and nutritional support they need
to heal and thrive.

. Be prepared to make the case for why medically-tailored, home-delivered
meals are different from other meal delivery programs. Regardless of
whether MTFNPs are proposing to contract with public or private health insurers, they
will need to demonstrate that their services are uniquely appropriate for integration
into preventive and acute medical care. MTFNPs will need to clearly articulate why their
services will result in better health outcomes and lower costs for patients and insurers.

- Form an ongoing data collection plan. MTFNPs should be able to demonstrate
the psychosocial and economic value of their program services by collecting and
analyzing relevant client data.

38



Finally, we recognize that providing medically-tailored, home-delivered meals to people with-
chronic or acute illness is just one piece of a broader food as medicine revolution. Maintaining
and regaining health begins with paying close attention to the quality of the food available to
fuel our bodies every day. With diet-related chronic diseases on the rise, we cannot afford to
ignore the role that food plays in preventing or exacerbating serious health conditions. Across
the board, advocates should push for wider recognition of the strong link between food and
health and support measures that help all people obtain the healthy, high-quality food they
need to thrive. The services provided by MTFNPs are critical because they address the
nutritional needs of those whose health is most vulnerable. In the broader movement to
recognize food as a core component of health and health care, ensuring that health insurance
translates into access to nutritious meals for the critically ill is an excellent place to start.

39



Appendix: Overview of Food Support Programs

This Appendix provides an overview of four federal food benefit programs which may offer
additional funding opportunities for MTFNPs. Even when there are no current opportunities for
MTFNPs to seek reimbursement through these programs, the program overviews may be
helpful as MTFNPs think about how their services might evolve in the future and what programs
exist to help fill existing nutritional gaps for their clients. The programs described here include:
(i) the Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program (SNAP), (ii) nutrition services funded by Title
Il of the Older Americans Act, (iii) the Child and Adult Care Food Program {CACFP), and (iv) the
Special Supplemental Nutrition Program for Women, Infants, and Children (WIC). These
programs exist to supplement the food needs of low-income and elderly individuals, and
encompass a variety of distribution models, such as individual retail food benefits, home
delivery through subsidized programs, and nutrition programs in child and adult care centers or
communal living facilities.

i. SNAP: An Overview

The Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program (SNAP) is a federally-funded and state-
administered program that promotes access to nutritious food for low-income households.’
SNAP benefits may be used toward “any food or food product intended for human
consumption,” including frozen foods and meals, % but in general may not be used to purchase
hot food or take-out food.'” Beneficiaries use Electronic Benefits Transfer (EBT) debit cards
automatically loaded with SNAP credits to purchase food at authorized retailers.!® Nationally,
SNAP beneficiaries tend to underutilize the program: only 72% of SNAP-eligible persons and
41% of food insecure households are enrolled.**

A household is eligible for SNAP benefits if its members meet certain income guidelines and it
has $2,000 or less in countable resources ($3,000 in the case where at least one member is 60

77 CFR.§271.1.

7 CFR §271.2.

% The Food Stamp Act of 1977 creates an exception to the hot foods restriction, authorizing states to create
discretionary Restaurant Meals Programs expanding SNAP retailer eligibility to restaurants serving hot meals,
although EBT payment at such locations is limited to elderly, disabled, or homeless beneficiaries. 7 C.F.R. § 278.1.
197 CFR.§274.7.

o, Sheri Weiser, et al., Food Insecurity is Associated with Greater Acute Care Utilization among HiV-Infected
Homeless and Marginally Housed Individuals in San Francisco, J. OF GEN. INTERNAL MED. (2012). The United States
Department of Agriculture (USDA) defines food security as “access by all members at all times to enough food for
an active, healthy life. Food security includes at a minimum: (1) the ready availability of nutritionally adequate and
safe foods; and (2) assured ability to acquire acceptable foods in socially acceptable ways (that is, without
resorting to emergency food supplies, scavenging, stealing, or other coping strategies).” See Food Security, U.S.
DEPT. OF AGRIC., http://www.fns.usda.gov/fsec/ (last visited Dec. 7, 2013). By contrast, “food insecurity” is limited or
uncertain availability of nutritionally adequate and safe foods or limited or uncertain ability to acquire acceptable
foods in socially acceptable ways. For more information on food insecurity and how it is measured, see Food
Insecurity, ECONOMIC RESEARCH CENTER, U.S. DEPT. OF AGRIC., http://www.ers.usda.gov/topics/food-nutrition-
assistance/food-security-in-the-us/measurement.aspx#insecurity (last visited Dec. 7, 2013).

40



years of age or older, or disabled).'? As discussed below, there are a number of different ways
that an MTFNMTFNP could become authorized to accept SNAP benefits from clients. Three
main options include being authorized as a retail food store, as a meal-delivery program, or as a
communal dining facility or group living arrangement.

Authorization as a Retail Food Store'*

A store can become an eligible food retailer under SNAP if it meets one of criteria: (1) it sells on
a continuous basis at least three foods from each of four staple categories (breads/cereals,
fruit/vegetables, meat/fish/poultry, and dairy products) and at least two of the categories sold
include perishable foods; or (2) over fifty percent of the store’s gross sales consists of staple
foods.™™ Frozen meals are included in the staple food category of the main ingredient (as
determined by the USDA Food and Nutrition Service (FNS)) and count as one staple variety.**
Staple foods do not include coffee, tea, cocoa, soda, candy, condiments, spices, and prepared,
ready-to-eat foods.*® Vendors interested in becoming authorized to receive SNAP payments
can contact a local FNS field office to file an application.’”” Amendments to the 2014 Farm Bill
directed the USDA to issue regulations that add “governmental or private nonprofit food
purchasing and delivery services” to the definition of “Retail Food Store” if the service met
three requirements. First, the service must purchase food for and deliver food to individuals
who are unable to shop for food and are either older than 60 or physically or mentally
handicapped. Second, the service must notify the purchasing households of any delivery fee
associated with the transaction (SNAP recipients may not use SNAP benefits to pay the delivery
fee). Third, the service must sell meals at the price the service has paid for the food without any
additional cost markup.*® The future regulations based on these amendments may offer
additional opportunities for MTFNMTFNPs to receive SNAP benefits beyond becoming
authorized as a meal delivery service (addressed below).

Authorization as a Meal Delivery Service

In addition to retail food stores, organizations that provide meal delivery services to certain
categories of eligible SNAP beneficiaries can also become authorized to accept SNAP.'° To

MICFR.§ 273.8(b); General information on SNAP eligibility may be found at Supplemental Nutrition Assistance

Program Eligibility, U.S. DEPT. OF AGRIC., http://www.fns.usda.gov/snap/eligibility (last visited Dec. 7, 2013); 7 C.F.R.
§273.9 (2012).

' see generally, Retail Store Eligibility USDA Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program, U.S. DEPT. OF AGRIC,,
http://www fns.usda.gov/snap/retail-store-eligibility-usda-supplemental-nutrition-assistance-program (last visited
Dec. 7, 2013).

7 CF.R. §278.1(b).

7 C.F.R. §278.1 (b)(1)(ii)(C).

167 C.F.R. §278.1 (b) (eligible retailers include organizations with stationary stores which make home deliveries to
SNAP households). Note that “perishable” can include staple foods that are frozen.

17 store Owner's Guide to SNAP Food Stamps, MASSRESOURCES.ORG, http://www.massresources.org/snap-store-
owners-guide.htmi#apply (last visited Dec. 7, 2013).

1187 U.S.C. § 4003 (b).

7 CF.R. §278.1(d).

41



qualify under the meal delivery category, a program must generally be a nonprofit organization
that contracts with the state or local agency to prepare and provide lower-cost meals to elderly
individuals (60 years of age or older) and to individuals who are physically or mentally disabled
to the extent that they are “unable to adequately prepare all of their meals,”’2° Spouses of
these eligible individuals can also receive meals. 2! There are similar restrictions on the
categories of individuals who are allowed to use their benefits to pay for home-delivered meals.
Only SNAP-eligible individuals 60 years of age or over, or SNAP-eligible individuals who are
housebound and disabled to the extent that they are unable to adequately prepare all their
meals and their spouses, may use SNAP benefits to purchase home-delivered meals from an
authorized provider. '

Meal delivery services authorized under this category may operate as one of two models. They
may either sell meals to beneficiaries or accept voluntary donations from beneficiaries. Under
the first model, a retailer or other service charges all of its clients for its services. For example,
Somerville-Cambridge Elder Services of Massachusetts currently provides home-delivered hot
meals via its Meals-on-Wheels Program and accepts SNAP as payment from enrollees. 12 In this
model, the vendor may also allow individuals to purchase meals with funds other than SNAP
benefits. Under the donation model, a retailer or other program provides its services for free,
but accepts voluntary payments from clients who wish to contribute. In this model, enrolled
SNAP beneficiaries may make voluntary donations of their benefits in an amount of their
choosing. Northwest Senior & Disability Services of Oregon, for instance, accepts donations of
SNAP benefits for its Meals-on-Wheels programs.12*

Authorization as a Communal Dining Facility or Group Living Arrangement

Finally, certain communal dining facilities and group homes can also collect SNAP payments
from their residents for meals served in those facilities, 125 To be authorized as a communal
dining facility, an entity must be a public or private establishment that prepares and serves
meals to individuals over age 60 or to persons receiving Social Security Income (SSI). *? To be
eligible as a group living arrangement, an entity must be a state-certified public or private
nonprofit residential setting serving no more than sixteen residents.’?” An entity authorized as
a group living arrangement can only receive SNAP payment from residents of the home who are
blind or disabled.?®

%7 CFR.§271.2.

121 | d

227 CF.R. § 274.7(2)(g).

2 Nutrition Services, SOMERVILLE-CAMBRIDGE ELDER SERVICES,
http://www.eIdercare.org/Services_Nutrition/Nutrition_MainPage.shtm (last visited Dec. 7, 2013).
1 Food Stamp Donation, NORTHWEST SENIOR & DISABILITY SERVICES, http://www.nwsds.org/meals-on-
wheels/donations/food-stamp-donation/ (last visited Dec. 7, 2013).

7 CF.R.§278.1(f).

267 CFR.§271.2.

127 I d

128 Id.

42



SNAP: The Take-Away

MTFNPs that deliver staple foods to elderly or disabled people who are unable to prepare their
own meals are most likely to be able to qualify as vendors under the home-delivered meals
programs category. However, there are several issues for an MTFNP to consider before deciding
to seek authorization as a SNAP vendor. First, no vendor of any type can treat SNAP
beneficiaries any differently than other clients, meaning that if the vendor allows some
individuals (who do not have SNAP benefits, for example) to receive meals for free, it cannot
require other individuals to use their SNAP benefits, but can only request or suggest a voluntary
SNAP donation.?® Therefore, unless a MTFNP began charging all of its clients, the MTFNP could
not require SNAP payment from anyone, but instead could only accept donations. if an
MTFNP’s clients are largely eligible for SNAP but do not exhaust their benefits every month, the
MTFNP could consider charging a low fee for meals to all clients, and allowing SNAP
beneficiaries to use their SNAP benefits as payment. For MTFNPs who would like to retain their
original ability to offer services free of charge to those who need it, and/or whose clients either
do not qualify for SNAP or use all of their SNAP dollars every month, the donation model may
be more appropriate.

Second, as with health coverage options, in assessing the possibilities of accepting SNAP
payments, an MTFNP would also need to weigh the administrative costs of accepting payment
against the likely benefits. Administrative costs include the cost of adopting the technology
required to accept SNAP benefits, such as electronic Point-of-Sale terminals capable of
processing EBT cards. A wireless POS terminal can cost up to $1000 to install and program, plus
monthly charges or fees on transactions. 130 yowever, if an MTENP averages $100 per month in
SNAP transactions, it may borrow a POS terminal from the government for free. In the
alternative, if a vendor averages less than $100 per month, or lacks electricity or a phone line,
vendors may fill out paper vouchers for each transaction.™!

Third, to gain an accurate assessment of the potential financial benefits, an MTFNP would need
to know the percentage of its clients eligible for SNAP and the amount of SNAP benefits those
clients have left at the end of the month, if any. If many of the MTFNP’s clients are SNAP-
eligible but do not use all of their benefits, developing a strategy whereby the MTFNP
incorporated donated SNAP benefits into its program could be framed as a way to allow clients
to give back to the MTFNP and support the provision of meals to themselves and others.

297 C.F.R. §278.2(b).

130 A MANDA BAESLER, MINN. DEP'T OF AGRIC., HOW TO IMPLEMENT SNAP AND EBT INTO YOUR FARMERS' MARKET 16-17 (2010),
available at http://www.mda.state.mn.us/food/business/~/media/Files/food/business/ implementsnapebt.ashx.
131 iow to Accept SNAP Benefits at Your Store, U.S. DEPT. OF AGRIC.,
http://www.fns.usda.gov/snap/retailers/accepting-benefits.htm (last visited Dec. 7, 2013).

43



ii. Title Ill of the Older Americans Act: An Overview

Title IIl of the Older Americans Act authorizes the Nutrition Services Program for the elderly.
This program provides grants to state agencies on aging to support congregate and home-
delivered meals to individuals over the age of 60.1*2 One of the program’s core missions is “to
promote the health and well-being of older individuals by assisting such individuals to gain
access to nutrition and other disease prevention and health promotion services to delay the
onset of adverse health conditions resulting from poor nutritional health or sedentary
behavior.”** states route Title Il funding to Area Agencies on Aging (AAAs), which in turn
support nutrition services, including home-delivered meal programs.’ In Massachusetts, for
example, eligible individuals receive services through AAAs and/or Massachusetts’ Elderly
Nutrition Program sites."** These sites provide services directly or contract with other providers.
Such home-delivered meal programs must provide meal recipients with at least one meal per
day at least five days per week (unless a lesser frequency is approved by the state agency), and
frozen meals are explicitly authorized by the statute.’®® Funded programs must also provide
“nutrition education, nutrition counseling, and other nutrition services . . . based on the needs
of the meal recipients.”**’ There is no income test for these services, but recipients must be
aged 60 or older, and homebound.®*® The spouse of the recipient is also eligible. Services may
also be available to individuals under age 60 with disabilities or who are handicapped, if they
reside in a housing facility occupied primarily by the elderly,

Title Ill: The Take-Away

Similar to the partnerships described in the health section, an MTFNP could consider
contracting with an AAA to support its home-delivered meals program.** The main concern
with such a contract is the low meal reimbursement rate. The primary goal of the OAA Nutrition
Services program is to prevent hunger, rather than treat or prevent iliness. By contrast, MTFNPs
may produce a wide variety of medically-tailored meals to serve people with a variety of critical
illnesses, and in doing so run higher operational costs than hunger-focused programs.
Therefore, while an MTFNP may be eligible to partner with an AAA and receive funds through

32 KRISTEN J. CoLELLO, CONG. RESEARCH SERV.,RS21202, OLDER AMERICANS ACT: TITLE |1l NUTRITION SERVICES PROGRAM, 1
(2010).
13 42 Us.C. § 3030d-21.
34 Area Agency on Aging, CITY OF BOSTON.GOV, http://www.cityofboston.gov/elderly/agency.asp (last visited Dec. 6,
2012); Area Agency on Aging, Mass.Gov, http://www.mass.gov/elders/area-agency-on-aging.html (last visited Dec.
7,2013).
3 For a list of program sites, see Massachusetts Elderly Nutrition Program Sites, Mass. EXec. OFF. ELDER AFF.,
http://www.mass.gov/elders/meaIs-nutrition/mass-eIderly-nutrition-program-sites.html (last visited Dec. 7, 2013).
1% 42 U.s.C. § 3030f(1).
722 U.S.C. § 3030f(2).
**® Home-delivered Meals Who Qualifies?, Mass. EXEc. OFF. ELDER AFF., http://www.mass.gov/elders/meals-
:nat;trition/home-delivered-meals.html (last visited Dec. 7, 2013). :

Id.
140 Currently, three AAAs in Boston provide home-delivered meals to the elderly. Area Agency on Aging, CiTY of
BosTON.GOV, http://www.cityofboston.gov/elderly/agency.asp (last visited Dec. 7, 2013).

44



the OAA for serving home-bound seniors, the OAA will likely pay the MTFNP far less than it
costs the MTFNP to produce and distribute the meals to those seniors. In order to determine
whether funding under this program may be a viable option, MTFNPs should contact their local
Area Agencies on Aging to learn more about reimbursement levels and contracting
requirements. As with other programs, MTFNPs should also assess eligibility among their
existing clients, decide whether to take on additional clients, and weigh participation costs
against the likely reimbursement amount.

iii. The Child and Adult Care Food Program: An Overview

The Child and Adult Care Food Program (CACFP) is a federally funded and state administered
program that enables nonresidential child and adult care institutions to integrate provision of
nutrition services and meals with day care services.**! The program reimburses child and adult
day care programs for meals they provide to their clients as long as the meals meet specific
nutrition requirements.**? Reimbursement rates vary depending on the income of the
individuals and/or families served by the program. 143 Unlike SNAP, program benefits are
distributed to care centers rather than to individuals or households. A care center may contract
with a food service company.'*

Federal regulations pertaining to CACFP define “adult day care center” as a government-
approved organization that provides nonresidential adult day care services to functionally
impaired or elderly adults (adults over age 60) in a group setting outside their homes, orin a
group living arrangement on a less than 24-hour basis.'** A person is “functionally impaired” if
she is physically or mentally impaired to the extent that her ability to live independently or
carry out activities of daily living is “markedly limited.”*® Adult day care centers must provide
enrollees with a structured, community-based group program that includes a variety of health
and social support services, and is based on an individual plan of care.’¥” Government-approved
child care centers (non-residential), settlement houses, neighborhood centers, and Head Start
programs, among other organizations, are also eligible for CACFP reimbursement.'*®

1417 C.F.R. § 226.1; For general information about the Child And Adult Care Food Program, see Child And Adult
Care Food Program, U.S. DEPT. OF AGRIC., http://www.fns.usda.gov/cacfp/child-and-adult-care-food-program (last
visited Dec. 7, 2013).

42 g acific nutrition and meal requirements can be found at: 7 C.F.R. § 226.20.

137 CF.R.§226.9.

1447 C.F.R.§226.21; 7 C.F.R. § 226.19a(b)(2).

157 C.F.R. §226.2.

146 1d. Activities of daily living include “cleaning, shopping, cooking, taking public transportation, maintaining a
residence, caring appropriately for one’s grooming or hygiene, using telephones and directories, [and] using a post
office.” Note that “marked limitations refer to the severity of impairment, and not the number of limited activities,
and occur when the degree of limitation is such as to seriously interfere with the ability to function
independently.”

77 C.F.R. § 226.19a(b)(2).

1487 C.F.R. § 226.17(b)(1), 226.2.

45



CACFP: The Take-Away

To the extent that MTFNPs provide hot congregate meals at adult day care centers, CACFP
reimbursement may be a way to defray the cost of these services.

iv. WIC: An Overview

The Special Supplemental Nutrition Program for Women, Infants and Children (WIC)is a
federally funded and state administered program that provides supplemental foods, health
care referrals and nutrition education to low-income pregnant, postpartum and breastfeeding
women, and infants and children up to age five who are at risk of poor nutrition.’*® A food
retailer is eligible to receive WIC benefits as payment for its goods if it meets state-determined
inventory requirements.**° In Massachusetts, for example, vendors must “operate a permanent,
fixed, retail establishment” and accept SNAP benefits, among other requirements.?** The WiC
program has more stringent inventory requirements than SNAP. in Massachusetts, WIC-
authorized businesses must provide juice, cheese, cereal, dairy and soy milk, eggs, iron-fortified
infant cereal, infant formula and baby food, peanut butter, beans and peas, tuna, fruits,
vegetables, whole grain bread, tortillas, tofu, salmon and sardines, 52 Prepared meals, frozen or
hot, are not on the list of covered items.

Although WIC has more stringent requirements for inventory, there is flexibility in the kinds of
operational models that may become WIC vendors. 153 In particular, states can authorize
retailers, home delivery or direct distributors.® For example, WIC in Vermont is primarily
administered through home delivery. % Each state WIC program is different however, and not
every state may allow home-delivery vendors. Entities wishing to become authorized as WIC
vendors must apply through their state or local WIC agency.

WIC: The Take-Away

“97CF.R.§246.1.

0 Massachusetts Women, Infants and Children Program Vendor Application Packet, Mass. EXEc. OFF. HEALTH AND
HUM. SERvs., http://www.mass.gov/eohhs/docs/dph/wic/vendor-app-packet.pdf (last visited Dec. 7, 2013).
Bl7CER § 246.12; see also Massachusetts Women, Infants and Children Program Vendor Application Packet,
Mass. EXEC. OFF. HEALTH AND HUM. SERV., http://www.mass.gov/eohhs/docs/dph/wic/vendor-app-packet.pdf (last
visited Dec. 7, 2013).

= Massachusetts Women, Infants and Children Program Vendor Application Packet, MASSACHUSETTS EXECUTIVE OFFICE
OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES, http://www.mass.gov/eohhs/docs/dph/wic/vendor-app-packet.pdf (last visited Dec.
7,2013).

137 CF.R. §246.12 (b).

154 14,

%5 etter Food, Better Health, VERMONT.GoV, http://healthvermont.gov/wic/food-feeding/wic-foods/Food_list.aspx
(last visited Dec. 7, 2013).

46



MTENPs may already provide many of the staple foods that are provided to WIC participants.
Some MTFNPs deliver bags of staple foods instead of prepared meals to clients who cannot
shop for themselves but are able to cook. In states that allow home delivery of WIC foods,
these MTENPs could seek to become WIC vendors. However, each delivered food package must

comply with WIC's strict requirements.

47



This paper was made possible with generous support from the M-A-C AIDS Fund.

© 2014

CENTER FOR HEALTH LAW
£ _§/&POLICY INNOVATION
g/ Harvard Law School













L&l rooa be iny iveaicine” « Ur. Feter Swanz

—

frequently asked questions blog

“Let Food Be Thy
Medicine”

October 17th, 2011

Hippocrates is considered the father of modern
medicine. One of his most famous quotes is “Let food
be thy medicine, and medicine be thy food”. These
words are often utilized for the eloquence with which
they express the importance of our daily food choices.
The relevance this phrase has is stronger than ever.
Nutrition is an underlying theme for just about every
health concern we may experience today. To address
the underlying causes, we must consider the influence
our diet has on our wellbeing. Today we will begin this
journey by exploring blood sugar imbalances and the
misconceptions that still prevail in our society regarding
fats in foods.

When considering our food choices and the impact on
our health, the first step relevant for today’s health
concerns is to address blood sugar imbalances. Blood
sugar imbalances are rampant in our culture. We tend to
overly consume highly processed foods and grains, and
simple sugars which contribute to an immediate jump in
blood sugar levels due to their high glycemic index. The
body responds by pumping out insulin from our
pancreas to lower the level of sugar in our blood.
Elevated blood sugars always cause an elevation in
insulin levels. Insulin in our body conveys two primary
messages. The first is that the blood sugar should be
stored for later use in the form of fat depositions. Let me
repeat this first point, elevated blood sugars and hence
elevated insulin levels signal our body to store foods
consumed as fat. The second is that insulin increases
the levels of systemic inflammation in our body.

Day in and day out after the insulin assault on the
unnecessarily high blood sugars, the blood sugar levels

http.//www.drswanz.com/2011/10/1 7/let-food-be-thy-medicine/

contact us

812-716-HEAL (4325)

NEWS SECTIONS

Homeopathic Medicine
Naturopathic Medicine
Nutritional and Lifestyle Support/Modification

Uncateqorized

NEWS

schedule an appointment

1/4



wrsrgun s LTLI UUU G 111y INSUIVIIG W st 1 wivr ey e

crash. This hypoglycemic state creates a sympathetic,
or stress, response from the body. The adrenal glands
release cortisol to help mobilize sugar from stores in the
body. At this point the individual typically feels jittery,
irritable, and quickly reaches for that sugary snack to
get through to the next meal. This pattern causes the
sugars to jump up again, insulin is released, and the
entire process repeats itself. For most people eating the
standard American diet (SAD) this happens every single
day. Eventually the pancreas fatigues and can no longer
release enough insulin to control the blood sugars and
the patient is diagnosed as a diabetic. Simultaneously,
the adrenals are exhausted and can no longer function
in their full capacity. Our body’s hormone systems are
affected by this constant stress and their functions are
interrelated. Years of poor dietary choices often require
an extensive amount of intervention to restore proper
body function and balance.

Fats generally confound us more than any other aspect
of nutrition. My 9 year old daughter helped me
understand why when she said, “Dad, it's a homonym.
You know, a word that sounds the same but has
different meanings.” She couldn’t be more correct. We
use the word “fat” to describe lipids in foods and when
referencing individuals that are overweight. Even though
the low-fat dietary craze of the 80’s would have us
believe that they are directly related, they most certainly
are not. But the mis-information remains and people still
worry that fats in foods will lead to becoming an
overweight individual. The result for our lifestyle from
this distorted view is that fats have been consistently
removed from foods and replaced with sugars. The end
product now has a higher glycemic index than the
original food and the increased insulin levels to control
the elevated blood sugar causes the body to store the
food as fat. As we have pulled fat from foods, individuals
have become more overweight and the incidence of
diabetes and heart disease has continued to climb; yet
we somehow continue to believe that fats in foods are
detrimental to our health. They aren’t, with one
exception.

Trans-fats, or hydrogenated oils, are pointless from a
dietary standpoint. There is no need for us to consume
them. Processed food manufactures continue to use
them because they add stability and shelf life to their
end products. They do this at the expense of our health.
Trans-fat consumption is related to poor cholesterol
levels and increased inflammation in the body, among

http://www.drswanz.com/2011/10/17/let-food-be-thy-medicine/ 2/4



Lel ro0a be 1Ny Medicine” « Dr. Peter Swanz

other things. The only way to be certain that trans-fats
are not in our food products is to read the full label. The
imprudent business that continues to create these
products have created a marketing ploy that will allow
them to write largely on the front of a package that it
contains “no trans-fats... per serving” as long as there is
less that 0.5 grams of trans-fats per serving. The
product itself certainly still has trans-fats in it, and so will
we if we don't read the ingredient list searching for the
key words: hydrogenated, partially hydrogenated, or
fully hydrogenated.

In general, foods are neither good nor bad for us. As we
begin to change our relationship with foods and
nutrition, it is vital to remember that the benefit or
detriment to our health is primarily from the quantity and
frequency with which we consume any particular food,
not a quality inherent to the food itself. For example, we
could consume too much water and actually die from an
electrolyte imbalance. Our objective should be to strive
for variation in our food regimen, focusing mostly on
veggies and fruits coupled with protein sources to
balance blood sugars. When ever possible and
affordable, we should buy local and organic. By
reducing our consumption of processed, high glycemic
foods and avoiding trans-fats we will improve our daily
energy with balanced blood sugars, decrease our
systemic inflammation, and better help protect ourselves
from the chronic lifestyle diseases that plague our
culture.

Posted in Nutritional and Lifestyle Support/Modification |

AREAS OF PRACTICE

NATUROPATHIC MEDICINE HOMEOPATHIC MEDICINE
NUTRITIONAL AND LIFESTYLE SUPPORT/MODIFICATION SCENAR THERAPY AND PAIN RELIEF

CONNECT WITH DR. SWANZ

THE LATEST FROM DR. SWANZ ON FACEBOOK THE LATEST FROM DR. SWANZ ON TWITTER

Join us on Facebook RT @robinswanz: https:/t.co/xJiSnGaL fh, Aug 11

Join us on twitter

http:/fwww.drswanz.com/2011/10/1 7/let-food-be-thy-medicine/

3/4



10/13/12017 LUL FUUU UG 111y IISMIVINIG W et @ waws — s

LATEST NEWS VIEW ALL 812-716-HEAL (4325)
JUNE 9TH, 2015 Get Directions

Summer time is here. Families all over are taking vacations. Some 3012 Eastpoint Pkwy
families are getting away for weekend excursions. Others are traveling Louisville, KY 40223

for a week or two at a time. Last year our family is less than a mile from
Universal Studios in Orlando, Florida spending a week with my dad. We
know keeping everyone fed [...]

Keep Reading

Meet Dr. Swanz  Areas of Practice ~What to Expect  Patient Stories  Frequently Asked Questions Blog Contact Us

Web Development & Search Engine Optimization

hitp:/iwww.drswanz.com/2011/10/1 7/let-food-be-thy-medicine/ 4/4









10/13/2017 Food Is Medicine | Project Open Hand

ject Qpen Hand's food is the best medicine
' for my diabetes.” _rossic, gavview

openhand.org i%/‘

donate | volunteer WE_

F ood is Love. Food Is Medicine.

At Project Open Hand, our medically-tailored food helps clients recover from
iltness, get stronger and lead healthier lives. Project Open Hand services assist
those with AIDS/HIV as well as critical illnesses such as breast cancer and
diabetes. We also provide daily warm, nutritious meals for seniors and adults with
disabilities fighting hunger. Project Open Hand's vision is that no one who is sick
or elderly in our community will go without nutritious meals with love.

Food Is Medicine Coalition

Project Open Hand is a proud founding partner of the Food Is Medicine Coalition
(FIMC). The FIMC is a volunteer association of nonprofit, medically-tailored and
nutrition services (FNS) providers from across the country, which includes our
sister organizations God's Love We Deliver (https://www.glwd.org/) in New York
City, Community Servings in Boston and Project Angel Heart

{https:z[Www.projectangelheart.orgz) in Denver, among others. The FIMC's

https:/lwww.openhand.org/about-us/food-is-medicine?gdid=EAlalQobChMl_vCQZaXu1gIwaSBCthkgB-EAMYAiAAEglABfD_BwE

1/4



10/13/2017 Food Is Medicine | Project Open Hand

purpose is to advance public policy that supports access to food and nutrition
services for people with severe and/or chronic illnesses. The FIMC promotes
research on the efficacy of food and nutrition services on health outcomes and
cost of care and sharing best practices in the provision of medically-tailored
meals of nutrition education and counseling.

Food = Medicine Pilot Study

Seeking a greater voice in the public health conversation, Project Open Hand
partnered with UCSF on scientific studies tracking data of health benefits
associated with Food as Medicine Our scientific collaboration with physicians
and researchers from UC San Francisco

(https:

% ] Y N T 'f E 3 3—.};. 5.2
STy E":,!ALJLV"QW ik‘_ﬁﬁ! SENE: D ~ ey f'\‘ S00-medic w’r@_n-axv ZW.\:! ve-ar d_

nutritious food is cruc1al for serving the critically ill.

The study, published in January of 2017 in the peer-reviewed Journal of Urban
Health (htip://link springer.com/article/i10.1007/s11524- (116-0129-7}, involved
more than 50 San Francisco and Alameda County residents living with Diabetes,
HIV/AIDS or dual diagnosis. The study showed increases in the number of people
with diabetes who achieved optimal blood sugar control and decreases in
hospitalizations or emergency department visits. Participants with diabetes also
consumed less sugar and lost weight through Project Open Hand's nutritious and
medically tailored meals. HIV-positive clients who received healthy food and
snacks for six months from Project Open Hand were more likely to adhere to
their medication regiments, and they, along with clients with Type 2 Diabetes,
were less depressed and less likely to make trade-offs between food and
healthcare, according to researchers at UCSF.

Zuckerherg San Francisco General Hospital - Project Open
Hand Partnership

Confronting the growing problem of food insecurity and its relation to chronic
disease, Project Open Hand and Zuckerberg San Francisco General Hospital have

partnered to create a fully integrated program of primary care, medically tailored
and 100% nutritious meals as well as related services among the medically
underserved adults of the Bay Area. The partnership, which launched in January

https:/lwww.openhand.orglabout-uslfood—is-medicine?gclid=EAIa!QobChM|_vC92aXu1gIwaSBCthkgB-EAMYAiAAEglAst_BwE 2/4



10/13/2017 Food Is Medicine | Project Open Hand
of 2016, involves select SFGH patients experiencing a high volume of
hospitalization and readmission rates due to chronic congestive heart failure, will
be referred to Project Open Hand. Discharged patients receive a bag of healthy
groceries from Project Open Hand and are offered opportunities to participate in
the study conducted by Project Open Hand nutritionists. Project Open Hand and
ZSGH have partnered to implement this pioneering program within the public
healthcare system in recognition of the impact and value of Food as Medicine as
well as the nation’s alarming trend of congestive heart failure. According to the
Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, upwards of 5 million Americans
suffer from congestive heart failure, leading to an estimated $35 billion in U.S.
healthcare costs each year.

Adults With Disabilities Meal Program at 730 Polk Street

In December of 2016, Project Open Hand opened a unique dining site at 730 Polk
Street for our Adults with Disabilities population. In that beautiful corner space
on Willow and Polk, we began serving a hot lunch for upwards of 50 clients/day.
This is the first Adults with Disabilities site in the San Francisco to exclusively
serve this population. It addresses a significant challenge of food insecurity
among adults with disabilities. The SF Department of Aging and Adult Services
("DAAS") requested that Project Open Hand launch this unique service, hoping to
close a gap in services and create a model for other agencies and community
centers throughout San Francisco. The program is completely funded by DAAS.

Getting To Zero Initiative

Launching in 2017, Project Open Hand will be offering a new form of delivery
service. We're taking our services to our clients' neighborhoods. With funding
support from the City of San Francisco and the Getting To Zero Coalition, Project
Open Hand is set to embark on a new mobile service delivery. We've added to our
delivery fleet and we'll be outfitting two vehicles to provide all of the services we
provide at 730 Polk Street (groceries, hot and frozen meals, nutrition and client
services). Our first two colocation sites will be in the most vulnerable and
underserved areas of the city: the Mission and Bayview neighborhoods. We'll co-
locate at Mission Neighborhood Health Center and Southeast Health Center
during peak client times and bring our services directly to the neighborhood.

https:l/www.openhand.org/about-us/food-is-medicine?gclid=EAIaIQobChMI_vC92aXu1gIwaSBCh0qu B-EAMYAIAAEQIASfD_BwE 3/4



10/13/2017 Food Is Medicine | Project Open Hand

1921 San Pablo Avenue
Oaklang, CA 94612
(510) 622-022
Email Us

San Francisco

Donate
Volunteey
Get Meals

Job Opportunities

Privacy Policy

https://www‘openhand.org/about-uslfood-is-medicine?gclid=EAlaIQobChMI_vCQZaXu1gIwaSBCthkgB-EAMYAiAAEgIAaﬂ)_BwE 4/4









Food Is Medlcme The Diet of Medsclnal Foods, SClence & History

Food Is Medicine: The Diet of Medicinal Foods, Science &
History

The Dier Hoience & History

‘ T sk —] L‘m'u”mi—ﬂ;} o -
| &~

Hippocrates was to thank for the famous guote, “Let food be thy medicine and medicine be thy food” —
which we translated to “food is medicine” and use as our motto. Still to this day medical doctors
and historians consider Hippocrates to be the founder of medici “rational science.”

.ar ici t i ht

« -nsidered to be one of the most influential figures in the history of medicine and healing, Hippocrates was
ahead of his time when, around the year 400 B.C, he advised people to prevent and treat diseases first and
foremost by eating a nutrient-dense diet.



Why is a calorie not just a calorie when it comes to your health, and how come it matters so much which
types of foods you get your calories from?Foods provide us with energy (calories), but they do much more
than that.

The foods you include in your diet also play a critical role in controlling inflammation levels, balancing bl~~d
sugar, regulating cardiovascular health (including blood pressure and cholesterol levels), helping the
digestive organs to process and eliminate waste, and much, much more. Did you know that certain anti-
nflammatory foods (https://draxe.com/anti-infl tory-f even contain powerful active
ingredients that help control how your genes are expressed?

Hippocrates and the Ancient Greeks weren't the only ones onto something when they studied the many
medicinal properties of foods. Many traditional systems of healing which have been practiced throughout
history — including Ayurvedic Medicine (https://draxe.com/ayurvedic-medicine/) and Traditional
Chinese Medicine, for example — have taught for thousands of years that food is medicine and a healthy
diet is a powerful tool for protecting one’s health.

Below you'll learn which medicinal foods we now know make the biggest impact in someone’s health overall,
which foods you should avoid most, and how to get started today eating a healing diet
s: ling-di

How Food Works Like Medicine

Perhaps more than anything else in our lives, the foods we regularly eat help determine whether or not we
will become ill, or remain healthy into older age. Whether vegetables, fruit, meat, oils or grains, foods con’ ™
influential substances including antioxidants, utrient - ! ient

vitamins, minerals, fatty acids, fiber and much more.

Nutrient deficiencies and toxicity from a poor diet are linked to nearly all modern health conditions. John
Hopkins University reports that some 80 percent of cancer patients are believed to be malnourished, and
that treatments used to battle cancer (like chemotherapy) only increase the body’s need for nutrients and
very high-quality foods even more. (Mmmﬂ&m@mummmm) You
probably already know that diabetes and hea " -heart-diseas
(currently the No. 1 killer in the U.S. and most industriolized nations) are also iIInesses that are highly
influenced by one’s diet — and the same can be said for allergies, autoimmune disorders like arthritis,
thyroid disorders and many more.

The expanding field of N " K (also called Nutritional
Genomics) is devoted to studying how food mfluences gene expressions and contributes to either health
and longevity or to disease and earlier death. The principles behind nutrigenomics can be summarized in
several key points: genes play a role in disease development and prevention; a poor diet can be a serious
risk factor for many diseases; nutrient deficiencies and toxic chemicals in low-quality foods have an effect
on human gene expressions; each person is different in terms of how much their genes/ health are
impacted by their diet; and a healthy but also iz iet axe. o

diet/) can be used to prevent, mitigate or cure chronic diseases. (2 (http Hnutngenomlgs ucggws edu/.
page=information) )



Some of the ways that medicinal foods specifically act like natural protectors against disease and help to
slow the effects of aging, include:

Decreasing & Controlling lnﬂammation = lnflammgtion is the root of most diseases

and a major contributor to the

effects of aging. Inflammation is a response from the immune system when the body perceives it's being

threatened, and it can affect nearly every tissue, hormone and cell in the body. Research also shows that
‘obesity has a strong inflalmmatory component a problem that now affects nearly two-thirds of all adults

[) - Hormones

affect every part of health, from your energy and cognitive abilities to your body weight and sex drive.
Abnormal hormonal changes contribute to accelerated aging, diabetes, obesity, fatigue, depression, low
mental capacity, reproductive problems and an array of autoimmune diseases. (4

ttp: .ncbi nih.go i PM 055
Alkalizing the Body — The human body keeps a tight grip on its internal pH level, working hard to keep it
around a pH of 7.36. Studies show that when it comes to the pH and net acid load in the human diet,
“there has been considerable change from the hunter-gather civilization to the present.” (s

(http://www.ncbi.nim.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3195546/) ) Processed, low-quality foods make the body
more acidic and allow diseases to thrive more easily. An alkaline diet (https://draxe.com/leptin-and-

dlkaline-foods/) (high in plant foods that are detoxifying) helps with cellular renewal and might promote
longevity.

Balancing Blood Glucose (Sugar) - Diabetes and weight gain are tied to poor insulin response and
other hormonal changes. Poorly managed blood sugar levels due to consuming high amounts of sugar
and processed carbohydrates can lead to cravings, fatigue, neurological damage, mood disorders,

hormonal balances and more. To sustain a https: Xe.co al-blood-
sugar/), experts recommend that low-glycemic and non-processed carbohydrates take the place of
refined, empty calories and added sugar. ttp: .ncbi.nim.nih.go c/articles/PMC397740

Detoxifying (https://draxe.com/detox-drinks/) & Eliminating Toxins — Toxicity is tied to poor digestive
health, hormonal changes and decreasing liver functioning. In modern society, we are bombarded by
chemicals from our diet and environment that contribute to inflaonmation, autoimmune diseases,
infertility, hypothyroidism, fibromyalgia, and so on.

Improving Absoi'ption of Nutrients — Many of today’s ilinesses are due to nutritional deficiencies and
high rates of free radical damage. The majority of processed convenience foods are stripped of their
natural nutrients or at least partly manmade, packed with synthetic ingredients and preservatives but
very low in vitamins, minerals, antioxidants, fiber and enzymes.



FOOD ' KEDICINE

GUIDETO Dr. Axe

“Let medicine be thy food
and let food be thy medicine."
-— Hippocrates, 400 B.C.

He advised people to prevent and treat
diseases first and foremost by eating a
nutrient-dense diet.

l Ayurveda and Traditional Chinese Medicine
(- have also taught for thousands of years that
food is medicine and a healthy diet is a

powerful tool for protecting one's health.

e Nutrient The expanding field
o 7, Perhaps deficiencies and of Nutﬂgenon?ics
( LB nl:ore toxicity fromapoor  (also called
N\ t a?‘ diet are linked to Nutritional
Wt anything nearly all modern Genomics) is
else in our health conditions. devoted to studying

lives, the foods we E.g., John Hopkins how food influences

regularly at help University reports ne expressions
determine u;:le_ther that some 80 g: d con't)rib e 5
or noltnteilrzr percent of cancer either health and
beco 4 patients are longevity, or to
remain healthy into believed to be disease and earlier
older age. malnourished. death.



N QO @

decreases and balances hormones alkalizes the body
control inflammation

e, 2 &

balances blood detoxifies and improves absorption
sugar eliminates toxins of toxins




7 of the Best Medicinal Foods

As we get older and our appetite starts to decline, we tend to consume less calories overall and, therefore,
our food choices matter more than ever. Research shows that as caloric intake and absorption of nutrier*s
drops among the elderly, rates of diseases including cancer and heart disease steadily increase.

To help prevent deficiencies and lower your risk for iliness, it's crucial to make every calorie count. Here are
six food groups that help protect you most:

1. Fresh/Raw Vegetables

Green vegetables (like kale, wheat grass and spinach, for example), sea vegetables and fresh vegetable
juices are considered some of the healthiest foods on earth, known to dramatically help slow aging
(https:/ Zgrqxg.gom[ how-to-naturally-slow-aging/). They help restore the body’s proper pH, prevent
nutrient deficiencies, curb hunger and detoxify the blood. They are also super low in calories, yet beaming
with antioxidants, phytonutrients and vitamin C, vitamin K, magnesium, potassium, iodine and fiber.

Antioxidants found in vegetables are an amazing thing: They develop within plants to protect the plant from
its damaging environment including ultraviolet radiation, predator pests, toxins and pollution. Phytonutrients
have the purpose of shielding plants from predators (and also provide their color, flavor and smell), and we
obtain the same benefits when we eat them.

Nearly all diseases including infections, osteoporosis and even cancer thrive in an acidic environment, but
by alkalizing your body naturally through eating more plant foods (especially fresh veggies), you help

prevent cellular damage. Veggies of all kinds help lower free radical damage (https:/ [graxe.cgmlﬁghr’“ =

free-radical-da e/) and control inflammation, plus many provide prebiotics and a high dose of fibe..

2. Organ Meats & Bone Broth

Organ meats, including beef or chicken liver (https:/ [draxe.com/chicken-liver-pate/). are some of the

most nutrient-concentrated foods available to us. Liver is a true superfood and exceptionally high in zinc,
iron, vitamin A, vitamin B2 and more. It might not seem appealing to you at first, but consider that a “nose
to tail” approach of eating animals has been practiced for thousands of years — and for good reason!

Consuming nu packed orgag ats {http:/ /www.mensfit , ,
cked-animal-organs) and all edible parts of an animal, plus making bone broth
" i ne-broth-for-di i iti ite/) with the

remaining parts that are normally discarded (like bones, skin and ligaments), provides us with hard-to-find

nutrients like collagen (https:/ Zdraxe.ggmthat-is—gollogen[ ), glucosamine and an abundance of

electrolytes and trace minerals. These nutrients help ward off and treat illnesses like irritable bowel disorders
(1BD), arthritis and joint pains, chronic fatigue, leaky gut syndrome, anemia and allergies.

3. Probiotic Foods

Probiotics are not only critical for optimal digestion, but also for overall immune function and health.

The digestive system (https:/ [draxe.com[how—your-digestive-system-works[ ) is the second largest ¢
of our neurological system and holds 80 percent of your entire immune system! A huge array of illnesses
actually stem from poor gut health, including thyroid imbalances, chronic fatigue, joint pain, psoriasis,
autism and food allergies.



The microbes that make up our gut flora are involved in weight control, appetite, inflammatory processes,

cognitive functioning and neurotransmitter production. (z
ttp: i ih. rti 0 ) This means that everything from your mood and

energy levels to your ability to prevent common colds is tied to your gut.

seneficial bacteria and other microbes living in the digestive tract thrive when we regularly replenish them
by consuming both probietic-rich foods (https://draxe.com/probiotics- enefits-foods-
supplements/) (like yogurt, kombucha, kefir and cultured veggies) and also those with prebiotics

(https:/ /draxe.com/prebiotics/) (like chicory, asparagus and articohokes).

4. Omega-3 Foods

A diet high in “good fats” is essential for controliing inflammation, cognitive health, hormone production,
cancer prevention, weight loss and cellular healing. Omega-3 fats are natural anti-inflammatories and help
counteract the effects of pro-inflammatory omega-6 fats, which are very high in modern-day diets. (8

(http:/ /www.ncbi.nim.nih.gov/pubmed/12480795))
The best sources of omega-3s (https://draxe.com/omega-3-foods/)include wild-caught fish like salmon,

sardines, halibut, tuna and mackerel. Other plant sources include walnuts, flaxseeds and chia seeds. Try to
avoid hydrogenated and partially hydrogenated oils, trans fats, soybean oil, canola oil and other vegetable
oils which are very high in omega-6s.

5. Healthy Fats

Not all fats are created equal (see directly above), but the certain good ones pack a lot of medicinal punch.
~“m lowering bad cholesterol and helping shed excess weight to giving you shiny hair and healthy nails,
your body will reap the benefits of healthy fats like avocado, grass-fed butter, ghee, coconut oil, MCT oil,
extra virgin olive oil and yes, omega-3 fats (such as found in wild-caught salmon.)

It's been been proved there is no evidence that dietary saturated fat increases a person’s risk for coronary

heart disease or cardiovascular disease. (g
http:/ / ajcn.nutrition. tent 2010/01/13/ajcn.2009.2772 ract

Additionally, a seven-year study of more than 48,000 women showed that low-fat diets don't lead to more

weight loss or less disease. (mmmnmmﬂmbmﬂb_mﬂ) And yet another study

found that, when subjects ate either a Med .
diet)) (which is loaded with heaithy fats), Iow-fat diet or Iow-carb dlet those followmg a hlgh fat, low-carb
meal plan not only lost the most weight, but also drastically reduced their bad cholesterol levels. (u

http: / [www.nejm.org/doi/full/10.1056 /NEJMoa0708681))

6. High-Antioxidant Foods

ntioxidants slow the effects of aging by decreasing free radical damage. A good indication that a food has
a high amount of antioxidants? If it's naturally brightly colored (red orange, yellow, green, etc.) chances are
it's supplying nutrients like beta carotene, resveratrol, flavanoids and more. Some of the best foods for

~htaining antioxidants ihngszl [d[axe.gom[top—lo—high—antioxidant-toods[ ) include: berries, red wine,

. W cocoa, acai, spiruling, leafy greens, fresh herbs and spices, cruciferous veggies and bright root veggies.

7. High Fiber Foods



Here’s a scary finding: it's estimated that less than 5 percent of Americans get the recommended amount
of dietary fiber they need each day! You might already know that dietary fiber helps keep you ‘regular” in
the bathroom, but did you know it's also very important for heart health, your entire digestive system and
gut, and even your immune system?

Fiber helps to reduce cholesterol and triglycerides, strengthens the colon walls, plays a role in regulating
blood sugar levels, helps prevent insulin resistance, and promotes the growth of beneficial probiotic
bacteria in your gut that influence immunity.

It's recommended that adults get at least 25-30 grams of fiber daily. (12

h tion/increasing fiber i ) High-fiber diets are associated with
better protection against obesity, cancer, cardiovascular diseases, digestive disorders and menstrual
problems (just to name a few). High-fiber foods (https://draxe.com/hiah-fiber-f s/) include leafy
greens, cruciferous veggies, avocado, coconut, starchy veggies, berries, nuts, seeds, sprouted legumes and
ancient grains.

The “Food Is Medicine Diet”: What It Looks Like In Action

Eating a healing diet (https:/ [drgxe.gom[negling-gigt[ ). filled with medicinal foods that help prevent and

treat diseases naturally, is easier than you might think. My Healing Foods Diet consists of eating roughly
equal amounts (33 percent each) of clean protein sources, healthy fats, and low glycemic carbohydrates in
the forms of fruits and vegetables. Each person’s needs are a bit different, but balance and eating a variety
of real foods is key.

Here’s what a “medicinal diet” looks like when use nutritional foods to your benefit:

* Organic Vegetables (all kinds, raw and cooked): especially those that are high in fiber and low-glycemic
including leafy greens, mushrooms, asparagus, artichokes, squash, sea vegetables, fresh herbs and so on

* Fresh Fruits: especially berries, citrus and melon, which are great sources of antioxidants

* Grass-Fed/Pasture-Raised Meats: - and free-range ts (h ://draxe.c cancer-

ting-cla-hi —in-grass-fed-beef/) offer not just protein, but also many fatty acids missing in the

Standard American Diet (SAD) such as aracodonic acid, congegated linoleic acid, and omega 3 fatty
acids. Turkey, beef, cage-free eggs, lamb, venison, fish and organ meats, and also raw dairy products are
all good choices

* Low-Glycemic Carbohydrates: in addition to fruits and veggies, this includes sprouted ancient grains
(gluten-free is best), soaked legumes and beans, nuts and seeds

* Healthy Fats: good sources include wild seafood, coconut oil/cream, real olive oil, avocado, nuts and
seeds

e Other Superfood ttps:/ /draxe.com/top-10-superfoods-what%E2%80%99s-in-vour-di %E2%80%A
& Condiments: these include other ingredients that highly nutritious, low in calories, and capable of
adding major flavor to food naturally. Sources include apple cider vinegar, garlic, raw honey, spices like
turmeric and cinnamon, cocoaq, sea salt, and stevia

* Healthy Drinks: the beverages you consume should be free from added sugar, hydrating, high in
antioxidants and low in sugar. Good choices include plain water or seltzer, herbal teas, fresh veggies
juices, bone broth, and coffee and red wine in moderation




Precautions When Following a “Food Is Medicine” Lifestyle

While a nutritional foods certainly help to promote overall health, it's still best to seek medical care from a
professional and not to discontinue any medications without being monitored or told to do so. As you've

2en, the majority of diseases can at least be partially prevented through a healthy diet and lifestyle, but
were are some instances when a diet filled with medicinal foods might not be enough.

Each individual is different in terms of how their genes react to certain foods, so for some people even if
they eat a perfect diet they might still develop an illness. Genetics certainly play a role in the development
of diseases like cancer, heart disease, autoimmune disorders, and more. Regardless of whether or not
someone’s disease or illness could have been prevented through a healthier lifestyle, eating a nutrient-
dense diet is still one of the best ways tc help manage symptoms and increase odds of recovery.

Final Thoughts On Food Being Medicine

e Because foods have an effect on inflammation levels, blood sugar, energy, hormones, brain and heart
health, they truly do act like medicine once consumed
e A healthy diet plays a role in how genes are expressed and can tip the scale in favor of preventing

disease, even if one runs in your family
¢ Some of the most medicinal foods there are include vegetables and fruits, organ meats, grass-fed meats,

healthy fats like coconut and seeds, sea vegetables and superfoods like cocoa and red wine

Read Next: Top 15 Anti-inflammatory Foods (https://draxe.com/anti-
flammatory-foods/)

Mythbusters: Exercise
Is Key for Weight Loss

Next story - (https://draxe. com/danger-foods/) 5 Danger Foods You're

Consuming on ¢
Regular Basis

GET FREE ACCESS!

Dr. Josh Axe is on a mission to provide you and your family with the highest quality
nutrition tips and healthy recipes in the world...Sign up to get VIP access to his eBooks
and valuable weekly heaith tips for FREE!

a

Froe eBook to boost 30 Gluten-Free Recipos Shopping Guide &
metabolism & healing & detox juicing guide premium newsletter
Your Best Email Register Today!

-T'S BE
exos @ @ ..

QOCTIONOSNAX

a3 Q@
NUPS:




S









"IV Y esnane sul MIVECUSIIVE @na 1ype 2 Uiabetes Patients | UC San Francisco

e e N R S e e e R § AR L St 4 5 e T 2 s IS Pt KBt ST D L R e i e bk i S B S Rt B e e,

Food is Medicine for HIV-Positive and Type 2 Diabetes

Patients

Study Finds Good Nutrition Improves Medication Adherence and Mental
Health

By Laura Kurtzman (https://www.ucsf.edu/bio/laura-kurtzman) on January 25, 2017

HIV-positive people who received e ,
healthy food and snacks for six -
months were more likely to adhere
to their medication regimens, and
they, as well as people with type 2
diabetes, were less depressed and
less likely to make trade-offs
between food and healthcare,
according to a new study led by
researchers at UC San Francisco.

‘he study was done jointly by
researchers from UCSF and from
Project Open Hand, a San
Francisco Bay Area nonprofit agency that has provided nutritious meals to low-income people with HiV
since 1985, and more recently to elderly people and those with other medical conditions, such as type 2
diabetes.

Evaluating Nutrition for Health

The study, which appeared online on Jan.17, 2017, in the Journal of Urban Health
(http://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/311524-016-0129-7) » Was designed to evaluate whether helping
people get medically appropriate, comprehensive nutrition would improve their health. Such food
assistance as an approach to improve medication adherence and health has been shown to be effective
in low-resource countries, but it has not been well studied in the developed world.

The study showed increases in the number of people with diabetes who achieved optimal blood sugar
control, and decreases in hospitalizations or emergency department visits, but because of the small
size, these changes did not reach statistical significance. Participants with diabetes also consumed less

sugar and lost weight.

~ve saw significant improvements in food security and in outcomes related to all three mechanisms
through which we posited food insecurity may affect HIV and diabetes health — nutritional, mental

https:llwww.uesf.edu/news/2017IO1I405651lfood-medlcine-hiv-posilive-and-type-z-diabetes-patlems 1/4



10/13/2017 FOOT IS VIEUIGH IS 1UL 1 13V-T USIMVYG Gt s ype = mrmm o= - —oo
health, and behavioral,” said Kartika Palar (http://ucsf.us13.Iist-manage.com/track/click?
u=eeb057768c79924cab3237922&id=12950d4a90&e=9ff52a4793) , PhD, an assistant professor of
medicine at UCSF and co-first author of the study. “For example, we saw dramatic improvements in
depression, the distress of having diabetes, diabetes self-management, trading-off between food and

health care, and HIV medication adherence.”

Fewer Fats, More Fruits and Vegetables

Researchers followed the participants for six months and found they consumed fewer fats, while
increasing their consumption of fruits and vegetables. Overall, those in the study had fewer symptoms
of depression and were less likely to binge drink. For those with HIV, adherence to antiretroviral therapy
increased from 47 percent to 70 percent.

The meals and snacks, which participants picked up twice a week, were based on the Mediterranean
diet and featured fresh fruits and vegetables, lean proteins, healthy fats like olive oil, and whole grains.
They were also low in refined sugars and saturated fats, based on current recommendations from the
American Diabetes Association and American Heart Association.

The meals and snacks fulfilled 100 percent of daily caloric requirements. Average energy requirements
used to design daily meals were 1,800 to 2,000 kcal for people living with HiV and 1,800 kcal for people
with type 2 diabetes. This threshold evolved to account for the varied energy requirements of individuals
of different sizes and metabolic needs.

“This study highlights the vital role that community-based food support organizations can play in
supporting health and weli-being of chronically ill populations who struggle to afford basic needs,” saic
Sheri Weiser (http://ucsf.us13.Iist-manage.comltrack/click?
u=eeb057768c79924cab3237922&id=df66ff307f&e=9ff52a4793) . MD, associate professor of medicine
at UCSF and senior author of the study.

May Be a Cost-Saving Measure

Providing healthy food may also be a cost-saving measure. The cost to feed each participant was $6.58
a day, or $1,184 for the six-month intervention, which is less than half the $2,774 cost per inpatient day
in a California hospital. Yet, Weiser said, “safety-net programs must be complemented by efforts to
address the drivers of food insecurity such as economic inequality and the high cost of housing.”

About two-thirds of those in the study were male and just over 70 percent were between 50 and 64
years old. About 80 percent were non-white and only about 17 percent were employed. Most were
receiving federai disability payments — SS| and/or SSDI — and about 20 percent were receiving food
stamps. Compared to participants living with HIV, those with type 2 diabetes were more likely to be
older, female, African-American, employed, and receiving food stamps.

The team plans to follow up with another six-month study of 200 HIV-positive clients in San Francisco
and Alameda counties. “Feeding people who are too sick to take care of themselves is at the core of our
mission,” said Project Open Hand CEO Mark Ryle.

https:llwww.ucsf.edu/newslzm7/01/405651lfood-medicine-hiv-positive-and-type-z-diabetes-patients 2/4



rova s vieaicine Tor HiV-Fositive and Type 2 Diabetes Patients | UC San Francisco

Other authors include Tessa Napoles (co-first author), Hilary Seligman (http://ucsf.us13.list-
manage.com/track/click?u=eeb057768c79924cab3237922&id=d7e48e6f68&e=9ff5234793) , and
Fredrick M. Hecht (http://ucsf.us13.list-manage.com/track/click?
u=eeb057768c79924cab3237922&id=cd830d2aea&e=9ff52a4793) » MD, of UCSF; Kimberly Madsen
and Mark Ryle, of Project Open Hand; Lee L. Hufstedler, of the UCSF-UC Berkeley Joint Medical
Program; Simon Pitchford, of Homebridge, Inc.; and Edward A. Frongillo, of the University of South

Carolina.

UC San Francisco (UCSF) is a leading university dedicated to promoting health worldwide through
advanced biomedical research, graduate-level education in the life sciences and health professions,
and excellence in patient care. It includes top-ranked graduate schools of dentistry, medicine, nursing
and pharmacy; a graduate division with nationally renowned programs in basic, biomedical, translational
and population sciences; and a preeminent biomedical research enterprise. It also includes UCSF
Health, which comprises top-ranked hospitals, UCSF Medical Center (https://www. ucsthealth.org/) and
UCSF Benioff Children’s Hospitais in San Francisco (https://www.ucsfbenioffchildrens. org/)

and Oakland (http://www. childrenshospitaloakland.org/main/home.aspx) — and other partner and
affiliated hospitals and healthcare providers throughout the Bay Area.

https://www.ucsf.edu/news/201 7/01/405651 ffood-medicine-hiv-positive-a nd-type-2-diabetes-patients 3/4



10/13/2017 Food is MediCINE TOr HIV-FOSILIVE iU 1YPT £ LIAUTITS | GUSTILS | W e & raiwee =

https://www.ucsf.edulnewslzm7/01/405651Ifood-medicine-hiv-positive-and-type-z-diabetes-patients 4/4



10/13/2017 Comprehensive and Medically Appropriate Food Support Is Associated with Improved HIV and Diabetes Health | SpringerLink
N Springer Link

Comprehensive and Medically
Appropriate Food Support Is Associated
with Improved HIV and Diabetes Health

Journal of Urban Health

February 2017, Volume 94, Issue 1, pp 87—99 | Cite as

 Kartika Palar (1) Email author (Kartika.Palar@ucsf.edu)
* Tessa Napoles (1)

° Lee L. Hufstedler (1) (7)

* Hilary Seligman (2)

* Fredrick M. Hecht (1)

Kimberly Madsen (3)

* Mark Ryle (3)

* Simon Pitchford (4)

* Edward A. Frongillo (5)

o Sheri D. Weiser (1) (6)

1. Division of HIV, Infectious Diseases and Global Medicine, San Francisco General
Hospital, Department of Medicine, University of California San Francisco (UCSF), San
Francisco, USA

2. Division of General Internal Medicine, San Francisco General Hospital, Department of
Medicine, UCSF, San Francisco, USA

3. Project Open Hand, San Francisco, USA

4. Homebridge, Inc., San Francisco, USA

5. Department of Health Promotion, Education, and Behavior, University of South
Carolina, Columbia, USA

6. Center for AIDS Prevention Studies, UCSF, San Francisco, USA

7. University of California Berkeley-University of California at San Francisco Joint
Medical Program School of Public Health, University of California Berkeley, Berkeley,
USA

Article
First Online: 17 January 2017

* 1Citations
e 37 Shares

Abstract

https:I/Iink.springer.com/article/10.1007/s11524-016-0129-7 1/16



10/13/2017 Comprehensive and Medically Appropriate Food Support Is Associated with Improved HIV and Diabetes Health | SpringerLink

Food insecurity is associated with negative chronic health outcomes, yet few studies have
examined how providing medically appropriate food assistance to food-insecure
individuals may improve health outcomes in resource-rich settings. We evaluated a
community-based food support intervention in the San Francisco Bay Area for people
living with HIV and/or type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM) to determine the feasibility,
acceptability, and potential impact of the intervention on nutritional, mental health,
disease management, healthcare utilization, and physical health outcomes. The 6-month
intervention provided meals and snacks designed to comprise 100% of daily energy
requirements and meet nutritional guidelines for a healthy diet. We assessed paired
outcomes at baseline and 6 months using validated measures. Paired t tests and
McNemar exact tests were used with continuous and dichotomous outcomes,
respectively, to compare pre-post changes. Fifty-two participants (out of 72 initiators)
had both baseline and follow-up assessments, including 23 with HIV, 24 with T2DM, and
=7 with both HIV and T2DM. Median food pick-up adherence was 93%. Comparing
baseline to follow-up, very low food security decreased from 59.6% to 11.5% (p < 0.0001).
Frequency of consumption of fats (p = 0.003) decreased, while frequency increased for
fruits and vegetables (p = 0.011). Among people with diabetes, frequency of sugar
consumption decreased (p = 0.006). We also observed decreased depressive symptoms
(p = 0.028) and binge drinking (p = 0.008). At follow-up, fewer participants sacrificed
food for healthcare (p = 0.007) or prescriptions (p = 0.046), or sacrificed healthcare for
food (p = 0.029). Among people with HIV, 95% adherence to antiretroviral therapy
increased from 47 to 70% (p = 0.046). Among people with T2DM, diabetes distress (p<
0.001), and perceived diabetes self-management (p = 0.007) improved. Comprehensive,
medically appropriate food support is feasible and may improve multiple health
outcomes for food-insecure individuals living with chronic health conditions. Future
studies should formally test the impact of medically appropriate food support
interventions for food-insecure populations through rigorous, randomized controlled
designs.

Keywords

Food Nutrition HIV Diabetes Community-based Food security Food support
Food assistance Intervention Medically tailored

Abbreviations

ARV

Antiretroviral

ED

Emergency department

GED

General Educational Development

https:/link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s11524-016-0129-7 2/16



10/13/2017 Comprehensive and Medically Appropriate Food Support Is Associated with Improved HIV and Diabetes Health | SpringerLink

HbA1c

Glycated hemoglobin

HFSSM

Household Food Security Survey Module

PDSMS

Perceived Diabetes Self-Management Scale

POH

Project Open Hand

SNAP

Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program

SSDI

Social Security Disability Income

SRO

Single room occupancy

SSI

Supplemental Security Income

T2DM

Type 2 diabetes mellitus

UCSF

University of California, San Francisco

Kartika Palar and Tessa Napoles share co-first authorship.

References

1. Ivers LC, ed. Food Insecurity and Public Health. Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press,
Taylor & Francis Group; 2015.

https:/flink.springer.com/article/10.1007/s11524-016-0129-7 3/16



10/13/2017

Comprehensive and Medically Appropriate Food Support Is Associated with Improved HIV and Diabetes Health | SpringerLink

Google Scholar (https://scholar.google.com/scholar?
q=Ivers%20LC%2C%20ed.%20Food%20Insecurity%20and%20Public%20Health.
%20Boca%20Raton%2C%20FL%3A%20CRC%20Press%2C%20Taylor%20%26%
20Francis%20Group%3B%202015.)

Seligman HK, Schillinger D. Hunger and socioeconomic disparities in chronic
disease. N Engl J Med. 2010; 363(1): 6—9.

CrossRef (https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMp1000072)

PubMed (http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?
cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt=Abstract&list_uids=20592297)

Google Scholar (http://scholar.google.com/ scholar_lookup?
title=Hunger%20and%20socioeconomic%20disparities%20in%20chronic%20dis
ease&author=HK.%20Seligman&author=D.%20Schillinger&journal=N%20Engl%
20J%20Med&volume=363&issue=1&pages=6-9&publication_year=2010)

Coleman-Jensen A, Rabbitt M, Gregory C, Singh A. Household food security in the
United States in 2015. ERR-215: United States Department of Agriculture,
Economic Research Service 2016.

Google Scholar (https://scholar.google.com/ scholar?q=Coleman-
Jensen%20A%2C%20Rabbitt%20M%2C%20Gregory%20C%2C%20Singh%20A.
9%20Household%20food%20security%20in%20the%20United %20States%20in%
202015.%20ERR-
215%3A%20United%20States%20Department%200f%20Agriculture%2C%20Eco
nomic%20Research%20Service%202016.)

Seligman HK, Bindman AB, Vittinghoff E, et al. Food insecurity is associated with
diabetes mellitus: results from the National Health Examination and Nutrition
Examination Survey (NHANES) 1999—2002. J Gen Intern Med. 2007; 22(7):
1018-1023.

CrossRef (https://doi.org/10.1007/511606-007-0192-6)

PubMed (http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?
cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt=Abstract&list_uids=17436030)
PubMedCentral (http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2583797)
Google Scholar (http://scholar.google.com/scholar_lookup?
title=Food%20insecurity%20is%20associated %20with%20diabetes%20mellitus%
3A%20results%20from%20the%20National %20Health%20Examination%20and
%20Nutrition%20Examination%20Survey%20%28NHANES%29%201999%E2%
80%932002&author=HK.%20Seligman&author=AB.%20Bindman&author=E.%2
oVittinghoff&journal=J%20Gen%20lIntern%20Med&volume=22&issue=7&pages
=1018-1023&publication_year=2007)

Seligman HK, Laraia BA, Kushel MB. Food insecurity is associated with chronic
disease among low-income NHANES participants. J Nutr. 2010; 140(2): 304-310.
CrossRef (https://doi.org/10.3945/jn.109.112573)

PubMed (http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?
cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt=Abstract&list_uids=20032485)
PubMedCentral (http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2806885)
Google Scholar (http://scholar.google.com/scholar_lookup?
title=Food%20insecurity%20is%20associated%20with%20chronic%20disease%2
oamong%20low-
income%20NHANES%20participants&author=HK.%20Seligman&author=BA.%2

https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s11524-016-0129-7

4/16



10/13/2017

10.

Comprehensive and Medically Appropriate Food Support Is Associated with Improved HIV and Diabetes Health | SpringerLink

oLaraia&author=MB.%20Kushel&journal=J%20N utr&volume=140&issue=2&pa
ges=304-310&publication_year=2010)

Palar K, Laraia B, Tsai AC, Johnson M, Weiser SD. Food insecurity is associated
with HIV, sexually transmitted infections and drug use among men in the United
States. AIDS. 2016; 30(9):1457-1465.

Google Scholar (https:// scholar.google.com/scholar?
q=Palar%20K%2C%20Laraia%20B%2C%20Tsai%20AC%2C%20Johnson%20M%
2C%20Weiser%2oSD.%20Food%2oinsecurity%2ois%2oassociated%2owith%2o
HIV%2C%2osexually%2otransmitted%2oinfections%20and%20drug%20use%20
among%zomen%zoin%zothe%2oUnited%2oStates.%20AIDS.%202016%3B%2o
30%289%29%3A1457%E2%80%931465.)

Vogenthaler NS, Kushel MB, Hadley C, et al. Food Insecurity and Risky Sexual
Behaviors Among Homeless and Marginally Housed HIV-Infected Individuals in
San Francisco. AIDS and Behavior. 2012:1—6.

Google Scholar (https:/ /scholar.google.com/scholar?
q=Vogenthaler%2oNS%2C%20Kushel%20MB%2C%20Had1ey%2oC%2C%20et%
20al.%20Food%2OInsecurity%20and%20Risky%2OSexual%2oBehaViors%2oAm
ong%20Homeless%20and%20Marginally%20Housed%20HIV-
Infected%zolndividuals%20in%2OSan%2oFrancisco.%20AIDS%20and%2oBeha
vior.%202012%3A1%E2%8o%936.)

Shannon K, Kerr T, Milloy M-J, et al. Severe food insecurity is associated with
elevated unprotected sex among HIV-seropositive injection drug users
independent of HAART use. AIDS. 2011; 25(16): 2037-2042.

CrossRef (https://doi.org/ 10.1097/QAD.obo13e32834b35¢9)

PubMed (http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih. gov/entrez/query.fegi?
cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt=Abstract&1ist_uids=21811140)
PubMedCentral (http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih. gov/pmc/articles/PMC3956106)
Google Scholar (http:// scholar.google.com/ scholar_lookup?
title=Severe%2ofood%2oinsecun'ty%2ois%20associated%20With%2oe]evated%2
ounprotected%20sex%20among%20HIV-
seropositive%2oinjection%2odrug%20users%2oindependent%zoof%onAART%
20use&author=K.%20Shannon&author=T.%20Kerr&author=M-

J. %20Milloy&journal=AIDS&volume=25&issue= 16&pages=2037-
2042&publication_year=2011)

Kalichman S, Cherry C, Amaral C, et al. Health and treatment implications of food
insufficiency among people living with HIV/AIDS, Atlanta. Georgia J Urban
Health. 2010; 87(4): 1—-11.

Google Scholar (http://scholar. google.com/scholar_lookup?
title=Health%2oand%2otreatment%zoimplications%2oof%2ofood%2oinsufﬁcien
cy%20among%z20people%20living%20with%20HIV %2FAIDS%2C%20Atlanta&a
uthor=S.%20Ka1ichman&author=C.%20Cherry&author=C.%20Amaral&journa1=
Georgia.%20J %20Urban%20Health.&volume=87&issue=4&pages=1-
11&publication_year=2010)

Weiser SD, Yuan C, Guzman D, et al. Food insecurity and HIV clinical outcomes in
a longitudinal study of homeless and marginally housed HIV-infected individuals
in San Francisco. AIDS. 2013; 27(18): 2953-2958.

CrossRef (https://doi.org/lo.1097/01.aids.oooo432538.7oo88.a3)

https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s11 524-016-0129-7

5/16



10/13/2017

11.

12.

13.

14.

Comprehensive and Medically Appropriate Food Support Is Associated with Improved HIV and Diabetes Health | SpringerLink

PubMed (http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fegi?
cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt=Abstract&list_uids=23921612)

Google Scholar (http://scholar. google.com/scholar_lookup?
title=Food%20insecurity%20and%20HIV%2o0clinical%200utcomes%20in%20a%
2olongitudina1%2ostudy%200f°o2ohome1ess%20and%20marginally%2ohoused%
20HIV-
infected%20individuals%20in%20San%20Francisco&author=SD.%20Weiser&aut
hor=C.%20Yuan&author=D.%20Guzman&journal=AIDS&volume=27&issue=18&
pages=2953-2958&publication _year=2013)

McMahon JH, Wanke CA, Elliott JH, et al. Repeated assessments of food security
predict CD4 change in the setting of antiretroviral therapy. JAIDS J Acquir
Immune Defic Syndromes. 2011; 58(1): 60—63.

CrossRef (https://doi.org/10.1097/QAl.0bo13e3182278dd)

Google Scholar (http:// scholar.google.com/scholar_lookup?
title=Repeated%2oassessments%2oof°o2ofood%2osecurity%20predict%20CD4%
2ochange%20in%20the%2osetting%200f%2oantiretroviral%2otherapy&author=
JH.%20McMahon&author=CA.%20Wanke&author=JH.%20Elliott&journal=JAl
DS%20J %20Acquir%2oImmune%20Deﬁc%20$yndromes&volume=58&issue=1&
pages=60-63&publication_year=2011)

Weiser S, Frongillo EA, Ragland K, et al. Food insecurity is associated with
incomplete HIV RNA suppression among homeless and marginally housed HIV-
infected individuals in San Francisco. J Gen Intern Med. 2009; 24(1): 14—20.
CrossRef (https://doi.org/10.1007/511606-008-0824-5)

PubMed (http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fegi?
emd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt=Abstract&list_uids=18953617)

Google Scholar (http:// scholar.google.com/scholar_lookup?
title=Food%20insecurity%20is%20associated %20with%20incomplete%20HIV%2
0RNA%2osuppression%20among%20homeless%20and%20marginally%2ohouse
d%20HIV-
infected%20individuals%20in%20San%2oFrancisco&author=S.%20Weiser&auth
or=FA.%20Frongillo&author=K.%20Ragland&journal=J %20Gen%20Intern%20
Med&volume=24&issue=1&pages=14-20&publication _year=2009)

‘Wang EA, McGinnis KA, Fiellin DA, et al. Food Insecurity is associated with poor

virologic response among HIV-infected patients receiving antiretroviral
medications. J Gen Intern Med. 2011; 26(9): 1012—1018.

CrossRef (https://doi.org/10.1007/511606-011-1723-8)

PubMed (http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?
cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt=Abstract&list_uids=21573882)
PubMedCentral (http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/ PMC3157515)
Google Scholar (http://scholar. google.com/scholar_lookup?
title=Food%20Insecurity%20is%20associated %20with%20poor%20virologic’%20
response%20among%20HIV-
infected%2opatients%2oreceiving%20antiretroviral%20medications&author=EA.
9%20Wang&author=KA.%20McGinnis&author= DA.%20Fiellin&journal=J%20Ge
n%20Intern%20Med&volume=26&issue=9&pages=1012-
1018&publication_year=2011)

Weiser S, Tsai AC, Gupta R, et al. Food insecurity is associated with morbidity and
patterns of healthcare utilization among HIV-infected individuals in rural Uganda.

https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s11524-016-0129-7

6/16



10/13/2017

15.

16.

17.

Comprehensive and Medically Appropriate Food Support Is Associated with Improved HIV and Diabetes Health | SpringerLink

AIDS. 2012; 26(1): 67-75.

CrossRef (https://doi.org/ 10.1097/QAD.obo13e32834cad37)

PubMed (http:/ /www.ncbi.nlrn.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?
cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt=Abstract&list_uids=21904186)
PubMedCentral (http:// www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pme/articles/PMC3606954)
Google Scholar (http://scholar.google.com/ scholar_lookup?
title=Food%2oinsecurity°o2ois%20associated%20with%2omorbidity%2oand%20
patterns%2oot%2ohealthcare%zoutilization%2oamong%20HIV-
infected%2oindividuals%2oin%2orural%2oUganda&author=S.%20Weiser&autho
r=AC.%2oTsai&author=R.%2oGupta&journa1=AlDS&volume=26&issue=1&pages
=67-75&publication_year=2012)

Weiser S, Fernandes K, Brandson E, et al. The association between food insecurity
and mortality among HIV-infected individuals on HAART. J Acquir Immune
Defic Syndr. 2009; 52(3): 342-349.

CrossRef (https://doi.org/1o.1097/QAI.obo13e3181b627c2)

PubMed (http:/ /www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?
cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt=Abstract&list_uids=19675463)
PubMedCentral (http:/ /www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pme/articles/ PMC3740738)
Google Scholar (http://scholar.google.com/ scholar_lookup?
title=The%2oassociation%2obetween%2ofood%2oinsécurity%20and%2omortalit
y%20among%20HIV-
infected%20individuals%2oon%20HAART&author=S.%20Weiser&author=K.%2
OFernandes&author=E.%20Brandson&journal=J %20Acquir%20Immune%20Def
ic%2oSyndr&volume=52&issue=3&pages=342-349&pub1ication _year=2009)

Seligman HK, Davis TC, Schillinger D, et al. Food insecurity is associated with
hypoglycemia and poor diabetes self-management in a low-income sample with
diabetes. J Health Care Poor Underseruved. 2010; 21(4): 1227.

PubMed (http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih. gov/entrez/query.fcgi?
cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt=Abstract&Iist_uids=21099074)
PubMedCentral (http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih. gov/pmc/articles/PMC3004431)
Google Scholar (http://scholar.google.com /scholar_lookup?
title=Food%2oinsecurity%20is%20associated%20with%20hypog1ycemia%2oand
%20poor%z20diabetes%20self-management%20in%20a%20low-
income%zosample%zowith%2odiabetes&author=HK.%2OSeligman&author=TC.
%20Davis&author=D.%20Schillinger&journal=J %20Health%20Care%20Poor%2
oUnderserved&volume=21&issue=4&pages=1227&pub1ication _Yyear=2010)

Seligman HK, Jacobs EA, Lépez A, et al. Food insecurity and glycemic control
among low-income patients with type 2 diabetes. Diabetes Care. 2012; 35(2):
233-238.

CrossRef (https://doi.org/10.2337/dc11-1627)

PubMed (http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih. gov/entrez/query.fegi?
cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt=Abstract&list_uids=22210570)
PubMedCentral (http:// www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmec/articles/PMC32 63865)
Google Scholar (http://scholar.google.com /scholar_lookup?
tit1e=Food%2oinsecurity%2oand%20glycemic%zocontrol%zoamong%zolow-
income%20patients%2owith%2otype%2o2%2odiabetes&author=HK.%2oSeligm
an&author=EA.%20J acobs&author=A.%2oL%C3%B3pez&journal=Diabetes%20
Care&volume=35&issue=2&pages=233-238&publication _year=2012)

https:/flink.springer.com/article/10.1007/s11524-016-0129-7

7/16



10/13/2017 Comprehensive and Medically Appropriate Food Support Is Associated with Improved HIV and Diabetes Health | SpringerLink

18. Nelson K, Brown ME, Lurie N. Hunger in an adult patient population. JAMA.
1998; 279(15): 1211-1214.
CrossRef (https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.279.15.1211)
PubMed (http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fegi?
cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt=Abstract&list_uids=9555762)
Google Scholar (http://scholar.google.com/ scholar_lookup?
title=Hunger%20in%20an%20adult%2opatient%20population&author=K.%20N
elson&author=ME.%20Brown&author=N.%20Lurie&journal=JAMA&volume=27
o&issue=15&pages=1211-1214&publication_year=1998)

19.  Weiser SD, Young SL, Cohen CR, et al. Conceptual framework for understanding
the bidirectional links between food insecurity and HIV/AIDS. Am J Clin Nutr.
2011; 94(suppl): 1729S-17398S.

CrossRef (https://doi.org/10.3945/ajcn.111.012070)

PubMed (http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fegi?
cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt=Abstract&list_uids=22089434)
PubMedCentral (http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3226026)
Google Scholar (http://scholar.google.com/ scholar_lookup?

title=Conceptual %20framework%z20for%2ounderstanding%2othe%z2obidirection
al%20links%20between%20food%20insecurity%20and%20HIV%2FAIDS&autho
r=SD.%20Weiser&author=SL.%20Young&author=CR.%20Cohen&journal=Am?%
20J%20Clin%20Nutr&volume=94&issue=suppl&pages=1729S-
1739S&publication_year=2011)

20. Weiser SD, Palar K, Hatcher A, Young S, Frongillo EA, Laraia B. Food Insecurity
and Health: A Conceptual Framework. In: Ivers LC, ed. Food Insecurity and
Public Health: CRC Press; 2015:23—50.

Google Scholar (https://scholar.google.com/ scholar?
q=Weiser%2OSD%2C%20Pa1ar%20K%2C%2oHatcher%20A%2C%20Young%2oS
%2C%20Frongillo%20EA%2C%20Laraia%zoB.%2oFood%2oInsecurity%2oand%
20Health%gA%2oA%2OConceptual%2OFramew0rk.%2OIn%3A%2oIvers%20LC
%2C%20ed.%20Fo0d%20Insecurity%20and%20Public%20Health%3A%20CRC%
20Press%3B%202015%3A23%E2%80%9350.)

21. Smith R, Rossetto K, Peterson B. A meta-analysis of disclosure of one’s HIV-
positive status, stigma and social support. AIDS Care. 2008; 20(10): 1266—1275.
CrossRef (https://doi.org/10.1080/09540120801926977)

PubMed (http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fegi?
cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt=Abstract&list_uids=18608080)

Google Scholar (http://scholar.google.com/ scholar_lookup?title=A%20meta-
analysis%2oof%2odisclosure%2oof%2oone%E2%80%99s%20HIV-
positive%zostatus%zC%zostigma%zoand%2osocia1%20support&author=R.%20
Smith&author=K.%20Rossetto&author=B.%20Peterson&journal=AIDS%20Care
&volume=20&issue=10&pages=1266-1275&publication_year=2008)

22. Darmon N, Drewnowski A. Contribution of food prices and diet cost to
socioeconomic disparities in diet quality and health: a systematic review and
analysis. Nutr Rev. 2015; 73(10): 643—660.

CrossRef (https://doi.org/10.1093/nutrit/nuvo27)

PubMed (http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?
emd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt=Abstract&list_uids=26307238)
PubMedCentral (http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pme/articles/PMC4586446)

https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s11524-016-0129-7 8/16



10/13/2017 Comprehensive and Medically Appropriate Food Support Is Associated with Improved HIV and Diabetes Health | SpringerLink

Google Scholar (http:/ /scholar.goog]e.com/scholar_lookup?
title=Contribution%200f%20food%2oprices%20and%20diet%2ocost%2oto%2os
ocioeconomic%20disparities%2oin%2odiet%2oquality%20and%2ohea1th%3A%2
0a%2osystematic%20review%20and%20analysis&author=N.%20Darmon&autho
r=A.%20Drewnowski&journal=Nutr%20Rev&volume=73&issue=1o&pages=643-
660&publication_year=2015)

23. DiSantis KI, Grier SA, Odoms-Young A, et al. What “price” means when buying
food: insights from a multisite qualitative study with Black Americans. Am J
Public Health. 2013; 103(3): 516—522.

CrossRef (https://doi.org/1o.2105/AJPH.2012.301149)

PubMed (http:/ /www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/ query.fegi?
cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt=Abstract&list__uids=23327261)
PubMedCentral (http:/ /www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3673516)
Google Scholar (http:// scholar.google.com/. scholar_lookup?
tit1e=What%2o%E2%80%9Cprice%E2%80%9D%2omeans%2owhen%2obuying%
2ofood%3A%2oinsights%2ofrom%20a%2o'multisite%2oqua1itative%2ostudy%20
with%2oBlack%zoAmericans&author=KI.%20DiSantis&author=SA.%20Grier&a
uthor=A.%200doms-

Young&journal=Am%20J %20Public%2oHealth&volume=103&issue=3&pages=51
6-522&publication_year=2013) .

24. Drewnowski A, Aggarwal A, Hurvitz PM, et al. Obesity and supermarket access:
proximity or price? Am J Public Health. 2012; 102(8): e74—-80.
CrossRef (https://doi.org/ 10.2105/AJPH.2012.300660)
PubMed (http:/ /www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/ query.fegi?
cmd=Retrievé&db=PubMed&dopt=Abstract&list_uids=22698 052)
PubMedCentral (http:/ /www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/ articles/PMC3464835)
Google Scholar (http://scholar. google.com/scholar_lookup?
title=Obesity%zoand%2osupermarket%zoaccess%3A°02oproximity%zoor%2opri
ce%3F&author=A.%20Drewnowski&author=A.%20Aggarwa]&author=PM.%2oH
urvitz&journal=Am%20J %20Pub1ic%2oHealth&volume=102&issue=8&pages=e7
4-80&publication_year=2012)

25. Weinfield NS, Mills G, Borger C, et al. Hunger in America 2014: National Report
Prepared for Feeding America. Westat and the Urban Institute for Feeding
America 2014.

Google Scholar (https:// scholar.google.com/scholar?
q=WeinfieId%2oNS%2C%20Mills%2oG%2C%20Borger%2oC%2C%20et%2oal.%
20Hunger%20in%20America%2o2o14%3A%20National%20Report%2OPrepared
%20for%20F eeding%zOAmerica.%2OWestat%20and%2othe%20Urban%201nétit
ute%2ofor%2oFeeding%20America%202014.)

26. California — 2015 State Health Profile: HIV/AIDS Epidemic: CDC National
Center for HIV/AIDS, Viral Hepatitis, STD, and TB Prevention; 2015.
Google Scholar (https:/ /scholar.google.com/scholar?
q=%oA%2o%2o%2o%20%20%20%20%20%20%20%20%20%20%20%20%20%
20%20%20%20%20%20%20%20%20%20%2oCalifornia%zo%Ez%80%93%202
015%2OState%20Health%2oProﬁle%3A%2oHIV%2FAIDS%20Epidemic%3A%20
CDC%20Nationa1%20Center%20for%20HIV%2FAIDS%2C%2OViral%onepatiti
s%2C%2oSTD%2C%2oand%2oTB%2oPrevention%3B%2o2o15.)

https://link.springer.com/article/1 0.1007/s11524-016-0129-7 9/16



10/13/2017 Comprehensive and Medically Appropriate Food Support Is Associated with Improved HIV and Diabetes Health | SpringerLink

27. Trenkamp B, Wiseman M. The Food Stamp Program and Supplemental Security
Income, Social Security Bulletin, Vol. 67, No. 4. Office of Disability and Income
Assistance Policy, Office of Retirement and Disability Policy, Social Security
Administration 2007.

Google Scholar (https://scholar.google.com /scholar?
q=Trenkamp%20B%2C%20Wiseman%2oM.%20The%20F00d%2OStamp%20Pro
gram%2oand%2OSupplemental%2OSecurity%2oIncome%2C%2OSocial%zoSecur
ity%2oBu11etin%2C%20V01.%2067%2C%20No.%2o4.%2oOfﬁce%2oof%2oDisabi
1ity%20and%201ncome%2oAssistance%2oPolicy%2C%200fﬁce%2oof%20Retire
ment%20and%20Disability%20Policy%2C%208Social%20Security%20Administra
tion%202007.)

28. Ellwood M, Downer S, Broad Leib E, et al. Food Is Medicine: Opportunities in
Public and Private Health Care for Supporting Nutritional Counseling and
Medically-Tailored. Home-Delivered Meals, Harvard Law School, Center For
Health Law & Policy Innovation. 2014.

Google Scholar (https:// scholar.google.com/scholar?
q=Ellwood%20M%2C%20Downer%2oS%2C%2oBroad%20Leib%20E%2C%2oet
9%20al.%20Food%20Is%20Medicine%3A%200pportunities%20in%20Public%20
and%20Private%20Health%20Care%20for%20Supporting%20Nutritional%20Co
unseling%20and%20Medically-Tailored.%20Home-
Delivered%20Meals%2C%20Harvard%20Law%20School%2C%20Center%20For
9%20Health%20Law%20%26%20Policy%20Innovation.%202014.)

29. Seligman HK, Lyles C, Marshall MB, et al. A pilot food bank intervention featuring
diabetes-appropriate food improved glycemic control among clients in three
states. Health Aff (Millwood). 2015; 34(11): 1956—1963.

CrossRef (https://doi.org/10.1377/hlthaff.2015.0641)

Google Scholar (http://scholar. google.com/scholar_lookup?
tit1e=A%2opilot%20food%2obank%2ointervention%20featuring%20diabetes-
appropriate%2ofood%2oimproved%2oglycemic%2ocontrol%2oamong%20clients
9%20in%20three%20states&author=HK.%20Seligman&author=C.%20Lyles&auth
or=MB.%20Marshall&journal:Health%20Aff%20%28Mi11wood%29&volume= 34
&issue=11&pages=1956-1963&publication_year=2015)

30. Martin KS, Wu R, Wolff M, et al. A novel food pantry program: food security, self-
sufficiency, and diet-quality outcomes. Am J Prev Med. 2013; 45(5): 569—575.
CrossRef (https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amepre.2013.06.012)

PubMed (http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?

cmd= Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt=Abstract&list_uids=24139769)

Google Scholar (http:// scholar.google.com/scholar_lookup?

title=A%20novel %20food%20pantry%20program%3A%z2ofood%20security%2C
%20self-sufficiency%2C%20and%20diet-
quality%2ooutcomes&author=KS.%20Martin&auth0r=R.%20Wu&author=M.%2
oWolff&journal=Am%20J %20Prev%20Med&volume=45&issue=5&pages=569-
575&publication_year=2013)

31.  Habicht JP, Victora CG, Vaughan JP. Evaluation designs for adequacy, plausibility
and probability of public health programme performance and impact. Int J
Epidemiol. 1999; 28(1): 10-18.

CrossRef (https://doi.org/10.1093/ije/28.1.10)

hitps://link .springer.com/article/10.1007/s11524-016-0129-7 10/16



10/13/2017

32.

33-

34.

35.

Comprehensive and Medically Appropriate Food Support Is Associated with Improved HIV and Diabetes Health | SpringerLink

PubMed (http:/ /www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/ entrez/query.fegi?
cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt=Abstract&list_uids=10195658)

Google Scholar (http:/ /scholar.google.com/scholar_lookup?
tit]e=Evaluation%2odesigns%2ofor%2oadequacy%2C%20p1ausibility%20and%2
oprobability%2oof%20public%2ohealth%20programme%20performance%20and
%20impact&author=J P.%20Habicht&author=CG.%20Victora&author=JP.%20Va
ughan&journal=Int%20J %20Epidemiol&volume=28&issue=1&pages=10-
18&publication_year=1999)

Bickel G, Nord M, Price C, Hamilton W, Cook J. Guide to Measuring Household
Food Security, Revised 2000. Alexandria, VA: U.S. Department of Agriculture,
Food and Nutrition Service; 2000.

Google Scholar (https:/ /scholar.google.com/scholar?
q=Bickel%2oG%2C%20Nord%20M%2C%2oPrice%2OC%2C%20Hamilton%2oW
%2C%20Co0k%20J .%20Guide%20t0%20Measuring%20Household%20Fo0d%20
Security%zC%zoRevised%202ooo.%zoAlexandria%2C%20VA%3A%20U.S.%20
Department%200f%20Agriculture%2C%20Food%20and%20N utrition%20Servic
€%3B%202000.)

Thompson FE, Midthune D, Subar AF, et al. Performance of a short tool to assess
dietary intakes of fruits and vegetables, percentage energy from fat and fibre.
Public Health Nutr. 2004; 7(8): 1097-1105.

CrossRef (https://doi.org/ 10.1079/PHN2004642)

PubMed (http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/ entrez/query.fcgi?
cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt=Abstract&list_uids=15548349)

Google Scholar (http://scholar. google.com/scholar_lookup?
title=Performance%zoof%2oa%2oshort%2otool%2oto%2oassess%2odietary%20i
ntakes%200f%20fruits%20and%2ovegetables%2C%20percentage%20energy%2o
from%20fat%20and%2oﬁbre&auth0r=FE.%2oThompson&author=D.%20Midthu
ne&author=AF.%2oSubar&journal=Public%20Hea1th%20Nutr&volume=7&issue
=8&pages=1097-1105&publication _year=2004)

Kroenke K, Spitzer RL, Williams JBW. The PHQ-9: validity of a brief depression
severity measure. J Gen Intern Med. 2001 ;16(9): 606—613.

CrossRef (https://doi.org/lo.1046/j.1525-1497.2001.016009606.x)

PubMed (http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih. gov/entrez/query.fegi?
cmd=Re’m'eve&db=PubMed&dopt=Abstract&list_uids=11556941)
PubMedCentral (http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih. gov/pmc/articles/PMC1495268)
Google Scholar (http:// scholar.google.com/ scholar_lookup?title=The%20PHQ-
9%3A%2ovalidity%2oof%2oa%2obrief%20depression%20severity%2omeasure&
author=K.%20Kroenke&author=RL.%2oSpitzer&author=J BW.%20Williams&jou
rnal=J %20Gen%2oIntern%20Med&volume=16&issue=9&pages=6o6-
613&publication_year=2001)

Bradley KA, DeBenedetti AF, Volk RJ, et al. AUDIT-C as a brief screen for alcohol
misuse in primary care. Alcohol Clin Exp Res. 2007; 31(7): 1208-1217.

CrossRef (https://doi.org/ 10.1111/j.1530-0277.2007.00403.X)

PubMed (http://Www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?
cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt=Abstract&list_uids=17451397)

Google Scholar (http://scholar. google.com/scholar_lookup?title=AUDIT-
C%2oas%2oa%2obrief%2oscreen%2ofor%2oalcohol%2omisuse%2oin%20prima
ry%20care&author=KA.%20Bradley&author=AF. %20DeBenedetti&author=RJ.%

https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s11524-016-0129-7

11/16



10/13/2017

36.

37-

38.

39.

40.

Comprehensive and Medically Appropriate Food Support Is Associated with Improved HIV and Diabetes Health | SpringerLink

20Volk&journal=Alcohol%20Clin%20Exp%20Res&volume=31&issue=7&pages=1
208-1217&publication_year=2007)

Bunn JY, Solomon SE, Miller C, et al. Measurement of stigma in people with HIV:
a reexamination of the HIV Stigma Scale. AIDS Educ Prev. 2007; 19(3): 198—208.
CrossRef (https://doi.org/10.1521/aeap.2007.19.3.198)

PubMed (http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?
emd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt=Abstract&list_uids=17563274)

Google Scholar (http://scholar.google.com /scholar_lookup?
title=Measurement%200f%20stigma%20in%2o0people%20with%20HIV%3A%20
a%20reexamination%200f%20the%20HIV%20Stigma%20Scale&author=JY.%20
Bunn&author=SE.%20Solomon&author=C.%20Miller&journal=AIDS%20Educ%
20Prev&volume=19&issue=3&pages=198-208&publication_year=2007)

Berger BE, Ferrans CE, Lashley FR. Measuring stigma in people with HIV:
psychometric assessment of the HIV stigma scale. Res Nurs Health. 2001; 24(6):
518-529.

CrossRef (https://doi.org/10.1002/nur.10011)

PubMed (http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?
cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt=Abstract&list_uids=11746080)

Google Scholar (http://scholar.google.com/scholar_lookup?
title=Measuring%20stigma%20in%2opeople%20with%20HIV%3A%2opsychome
tric%20assessment%200f%20the%20HIV%20stigma%20scale&author=BE.%20B
erger&author=CE.%2oFerrans&author=FR.%20Lashley&j ournal=Res%20Nurs%
20Health&volume=24&issue=6&pages=518-529&publication_year=2001)

Garcia de Olalla P, Knobel H, Carmona A, et al. Impact of adherence and highly
active antiretroviral therapy on survival in HIV-infected patients. J Acquir
Immune Defic Syndr. 2002; 30(1): 105—110.

CrossRef (https://doi.org/ 10.1097/00042560-200205010-00014)

PubMed (http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fegi?
cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt=Abstract&list_uids=12048370)

Google Scholar (http:// scholar.google.com/scholar_lookup?
title=Impact%2oof%2oadherence%20and%20highly%2oactive%20antiretroviral
9%20therapy%200on%20survival%20in%20HIV-
infected%20patients&author=P.%20Garcia%20de%200lalla&author=H.%20Kno
bel&author=A.%20Carmona&journal=J%20Acquir%20Immune%20Defic%20Syn
dr&volume=30&issue=1&pages=105-110&publication_year=2002)

Bangsberg DR, Perry S, Charlebois ED, et al. Non-adherence to highly active
antiretroviral therapy predicts progression to AIDS. AIDS. 2001; 15(9): 1181-1183.
CrossRef (https://doi.org/m.1097/00002030-200106150-00015)

PubMed (http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fegi?
cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt=Abstract&list_uids=11416722)

Google Scholar (http://scholar. google.com/scholar_lookup?title=Non-
adherence%20to%20highly%20active%20antiretroviral%2otherapy%z2opredicts%
20progression%2oto%20AIDS&author=DR.%20Bangsberg&author=S.%20Perry
&author=ED.%20Charlebois&journal=AIDS&volume=15&issue=9&pages=1181—
1183&publication_year=2001)

Polonsky WH, Fisher L, Earles J, et al. Assessing psychosocial distress in diabetes:
development of the diabetes distress scale. Diabetes Care. 2005; 28(3): 626—631.
CrossRef (https://doi.org/10.2337/diacare.28.3.626)

https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s11524-016-0129-7

12/16



10/13/2017

41.

42.

43.

44.

45.

Comprehensive and Medically Appropriate Food Support Is Associated with Improved HIV and Diabetes Health | SpringerLink

PubMed (http:/ /www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?
crnd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt=Abstract&list_uids=15735199)

Google Scholar (http://scholar. google.com/scholar_lookup?
title=Assessing%2opsychosocial%2odistress%20in%2odiabetes%3A%20develop
ment%200f%2othe%20diabetes%2odistress%2oscale&author=WH.%20Polonsky
&author=L.%20Fisher&author=J.%20Ear1es&journal=Diabetes%2oCare&volume
=28&issue=3&pages=626-631&publication _year=2005)

Wallston KA, Rothman RL, Cherrington A. Psychometric properties of the
perceived diabetes self-management scale (PDSMS). J Behav Med. 2007; 30(5):
395-401.

CrossRef (https://doi.org/lo.1007/510865-007-9110-y)

PubMed (http:/ /www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/ entrez/query.fcgi?
cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt=Abstract&list_uids=17522972)

Google Scholar (http:// scholar.google.com/ scholar_lookup?
title=Psychometric%zoproperties%2oof%2othe%2Operceived%20diabetes%203e1
f-
management%zoscale%20%28PDSMS%29&author=KA.%20Wallston&author=R
L.%20Rothman&author=A. %20Cherrington&journal=J %20Behav%20Med&volu
me=3o&issue=5&pages=395-401&pub1ication _year=2007)

Center of Excellence for Transgender Health. Recommendations for Inclusive
Data Collection of Trans People in HIV Prevention, Care & Services. University of
California, San Francisco. Available at: http://transhealth.ucsf.edu/trans?
page=lib-data-collection (http: / /transhealth.ucsf.edu/trans?page=lib-data—
collection). Accessed J uly 22, 2016.

Food is Medicine: Achieving the Triple Aim through Medically Tailored Nutrition
Congressional Briefing. The Food is Medicine Coalition. Washington, DC; March
16, 2016.

Google Scholar (https:// scholar.google.com/scholar?

q=F ood%20is%2oMedicine%3A%20Achieving%20the%20Triple%2oAim%2othr
ough%zoMedically%zoTailored%20Nutrition%2oCongressional%20Briefing.%20
The%20Food%20is%20Medicine%2oCoalition.%20Washington%2C%2oDC%3B
%20March%2016%2C%202016.)

Martinez H, Palar K, Linnemayr S, et al. Tailored nutrition education and food
assistance improve adherence to HIV antiretroviral therapy: evidence from
Honduras. AIDS Behav. 2014; 18(5S): 566—577.

CrossRef (https://doi.org/lo.1007/s10461-014-o786-z)

Google Scholar (http:/ /scholar.google.com/scholar_lookup?
title=Tailored%2onutrition%20education%2oand%2ofood%2oassistance%2oimp
rove%zoadherence%zoto%2OHIV%20antiretroviral%2otherapy%3A%2oevidence
%2ofrom%20Honduras&author=H.%20Martinez&author=K.%20Palar&auth0r=
S.%20Linnemayr&journal=AIDS%2oBehaV&volume=18&issue=5S&pages=566—
577&publication_year=2014)

Cantrell R, Sinkala M, Megazinni K, et al, A pilot study of food supplementation to
improve adherence to antiretroviral therapy among food-insecure adults in
Lusaka, Zambia. JAIDS J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 2008; 49(2): 190-195.
CrossRef (https:/ /doi.org/lo.1097/QAI.ob013e31818455d2)

PubMed (http:/ /www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?
cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt=Abstract&list_uids=18769349)

https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s11 524-016-0129-7

13/16



10/13/2017 Comprehensive and Medically Appropriate Food Support Is Associated with Improved HIV and Diabetes Health | SpringerLink

Google Scholar (http://scholar.google.com/ scholar_lookup?
title=A%20pilot%2ostudy%2oof%2ofood%2osupplementation%20to%2oimprove
%20adherence%zoto%2oantiretroviral%20therapy%2oamong%2ofood-
insecure%20adu1ts%2oin%2oLusaka%2C%2oZambia&author=R‘%20Cantre11&a
uthor=M.%2OSinkala&author=K.%2oMegazinni&journa1=JAIDS%20J%20Acquir
9%20Immune%20Defic%20Syndr&volume=49&issue=2&pages=190-
195&publication_year=2008)

46. Aidala A, Yomogida M, Vardy Y. Food and Nutrition Services, HIV Medical Care,
and Health Outcomes: Community Health Advisory & Information Network
(CHAIN), Mailman School of Public Health, Columbia University.

Google Scholar (https:// scholar.google.com/scholar?
q=Aida1a%2oA%2C%20Yomogida%20M%2C%20Vardy%2oY.%20Food%20and%
20Nutrition%2OServices%2C%2OHIV%20Medical%2oCare%2C%20and%20Heal
th%200utcomes%3A%20Community%onealth%20Advisory%20%26%2olnfor
mation%2oNetwork%20%280HAIN%29%2C%20Mailman%2oSchool%2oof%2o
Public%20Health%2C%20Columbia%20University.)

47. Gurvey J, Rand K, Daugherty S, et al. Examining health care costs among MANNA
clients and a comparison group. J Prim Care Community Health. 2013; 4(4): 311—
317.

CrossRef (https://doi.org/ 10.1177/2150131913490737)

PubMed (http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/ query.fcgi?
cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt=Abstract&list_uids=23799677)

Google Scholar (http:// scholar.google.com/scholar_lookup?
title=Examining%zohealth%zocare%20costs%20among%2oMANNA%2oclients
9%20and%20a%20comparison%2o0group&author=J .%20Gurvey&author=K.%20R
and&author=S.%20Daugherty&journal=J %20Prim%20Care%20Community%20
Health&volume=4&issue=4&pages=311-317&publication _year=2013)

48. Amorosa V, Synnestvedt M, Gross R, et al. A tale of 2 epidemics: the intersection
between obesity and HIV infection in Philadelphia. JAIDS J Acquir Immune
DeficSyndr. 2005; 39(5): 557-

Google Scholar (http:// scholar.google.com/scholar_lookup?
title=A%2otale%2oof%202%20epidemics%3A%2othe%2ointersection%2obetwee
n%200besity%2oand%20HIV%20infection%20in%20Phi1ade1phia&author=V.%2
0Amorosa&author=M.%2oSynnestvedt&author=R.%20Gross&journa1=JAIDS%2
oJ %2oAcquir%2OImmune%20DeﬁcSyndr&volume= 39&issue=5&pages=557&pu
blication_year=2005)

49. Crum-Cianflone N, Roediger MP, Eberly L, et al. Increasing rates of obesity among
HIV-infected persons during the HIV epidemic. PLoS One. 2010; 5(4): e10106.
CrossRef (https://doi.org/ 10.1371/journal.pone.0010106)

PubMed (http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/ query.fcgi?
cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt=Abstract&list_uids=20419086)
PubMedCentral (http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pme/articles/ PMC2856157)
Google Scholar (http:// scholar.google.com/scholar_lookup?
title=Increasing%2orates%2oof%2oobesity%2oamong%2oHIV-
infected%20persons%2oduring%2othe%2oHIV%20epidemic&author=N.%20Cru
m-
Cianﬂone&author=MP.%2oRoediger&author=L.%20Eber1y&journal=PLoS%2oO
ne&volume=5&issue=4&pages=e10106&publication _year=2010)

https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s11 524-016-0129-7 14/16



10/13/2017 Comprehensive and Medically Appropriate Food Support Is Associated with Improved HIV and Diabetes Health | SpringerLink

50. Palar K, Derose K, Linnemayr S, et al. Impact of food support on food security and
body weight among HIV antiretroviral recipients in Honduras: a pilot intervention
trial AIDS Care. 2015; 27(4): 409—415.
Google Scholar (https:// scholar.google.com/scholar?
q=Palar%zoK%2C%20Derose%2oK%2C%20Linnemayr%208%2C%20et%2oal.%
2OImpact%200f%20food%205upport%20on%2ofood%2osecurity%20and%20bo
dy%2oweight%2oamong%2oHW%zoantiretroviral%2orecipients%2oin%20Hon
duras%3A%2oa%2opilot%2ointervention%2otrial%2oAIDS%20Care.%202015%
3B%2027%284%29%3A%20409%E2%80%93415.)

51.  LiR, Bilik D, Brown MB, et al. Medical costs associated with type 2 diabetes
complications and comorbidities. Am J Manag Care. 2013; 19(5): 421-430.
PubMed (http:/ /www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?
cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt=Abstract&1ist_uids=23781894)
PubMedCentral (http:/ /www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/ pmc/articles/PMC4337403)
Google Scholar (http:/ /scholar.google.com/scholar_lookup?
title=Medica1%2ocosts%20associated%20with%2otype%202%20diabetes%2oco
mplications%2oand%20comorbidities&author=R.%20Li&author=D.%20Bilik&au
thor=MB.%20Brown&journal=Am%20J %20Manag%20Care&volume=19&issue=
5&pages=421-430&publication _year=2013)

52. Weiser SD, Hatcher A, Frongillo EA, et al. Food insecurity is associated with
greater acute care utilization among HIV-infected homeless and marginally
housed individuals in San Francisco. J Gen Intern Med. 2013; 28(1): 91-98.
CrossRef (https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s11606-012-2176-4)

PubMed (http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih. gov/entrez/query.fegi?
cmd=Retn'eve&db=PubMed&dopt=Abstract&list_uids=22903407)

Google Scholar (http:// scholar.google.com/ scholar_lookup?
title=Food%zoinsecurity%2ois%zoassociated%zowith%2ogreater%zoacute%zoc
are%z2outilization%20among%20HIV-
infected%zohomeless%2oand%20marginally%2ohoused%2oindividuals%2oin%2
0San%20F rancisco&author=SD.%20Weiser&author=A.%20Hatcher&author=EA.
%20Frongillo&journal=J %20Gen%20Intern%20Med&volume=28&issue= 1&page
$=91-98&publication_year=2013)

53. Kaiser Family Foundation. 2014 Hospital Adjusted Expenses per Inpatient Day by
Ownership. Available at: http:/ /kff.org/other/state-indicator/expenses—per—
inpatient-day-by-ownership/?
currentTimeframe=0&sortModel=%7B%22colId%22:%22Location%22,%22sort%:

(http://kff.org/other/ state-indicator/ expenses-per-inpatient-day-by-
ownership/?
currentTimeframe=o&sortModel=%7B%22colId%22:%22Location%22,%22sort%
22:%22as¢%22%7D). Accessed Sept. 14, 2016.

54. Whittle HJ, Palar K, Hufstedler LL, et al. Food insecurity, chronic illness, and
gentrification in the San Francisco Bay Area: an example of structural violence in
United States public policy. Soc Sci Med. 2015; 143: 154—161.

CrossRef (https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.socscimed.2015.08.027)

PubMed (http:/ /www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?
cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt=Abstract&list_uids=26356827)

Google Scholar (http://scholar. google.com/scholar_lookup?
title=Food%2oinsecurity%2C%20chronic%2oillness%2C%2oand%20gentriﬁcatio

https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s11524-01 6-0129-7 15/16



10/13/2017 Comprehensive and Medically Appropriate Food Support Is Associated with Improved HIV and Diabetes Health | SpringerLink

n%20in%20the%2OSan%2oFrancisco%2OBay%20Area%3A°o20an%20examp]e%
200f%20structural%20violence%20in%20United%20States%20public%20policy
&author=HJ.%20Whittle&author=K.%20Palar&author=LL.%20Hufstedler&jour
nal=Soc%20Sci%20Med&volume=143&pages=154-161&publication _year=2015)

Copyright information

© The New York Academy of Medicine 2017

About this article

Cite this article as:
Palar, K., Napoles, T., Hufstedler, L.L. et al. J Urban Health (2017) 94: 87. https://doi.org/10.1007/511524-016-
0129-7

« DOI (Digital Object Identifier) https://doi.org/ 10.1007/511524-016-0129-7
 Publisher Name Springer US

« Print ISSN 1099-3460

s Online ISSN 1468-2869

 About this journal
 Reprints and Permissions

Personalised recommendations

SPRINGER NATURE
© 2017 Springer International Publishing AG. Part of Springer Nature.

Not logged in Not affiliated 104.61.132.56

https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s11524-01 6-0129-7 16/16









R ED Science FUTURE OF you

Health Stories for a New Era

KQED FUTURE OF YOU ()

What if You Could Talk to Your Doctor About Cooking?

SHARE
Is your doctor your go-to for nutrition advice? Neither is mine. And why would I expect that?
1 C VS, AI-healtn L/ C [your-doctor-says-he-doesnt-know-
= S i fewer than a quarter of doctors say they've had sufficient training to provide nutritional advice
to their patients. We all know about th

e Hippocratic Oath, but how about that other thing Hipp

ocrates said: “Let Food Be Thy

Medicine.”

0Z.CoOm/5§48110, edicine-i

be ange (1 ) e-future-of-medic =food)), though, as schools like iversi 1
M &w@m;du&main New Orleans, Louisiana, start thinl_(ing differently.



Harlan says the program isn’t just about helpmg students understand nutrition. The focus ison practical talk about food. Harlan wants
Tulane-educated doctors to be able to teach their patients everyday skills in how to cook, what to cook and why.

“Physicians talk about nutrition and diet all the time, but they don’t talk about it in a way that communicates change to their patients,”
Harlan says, i : : ; kBfe e)produced by the school.

The students learn to make the most of low-cost ingredients, so they can cater to low-income communities. And Harlan says the
school also provides cooking classes to practicing doctors and the public.

Cooking up culinary medicine

These skills are sorely needed in New Orleans. In 2010, 64 percent of adults ng

Bmﬁkjml,m That results in hxgher rates of dlabetes, heart dlsease and hlgh blood pressure.

“We know from the literature that when people go home and start cooking from real ingredients for themselves that their health
improves,” Harlan says. “We also know that they don’t really know how to do that.”

Cheryl Spann took part in the community cooking class, and says she’s learned what good carbs are and how to cut back on sugar.



The writing on the wall at Tulane’s center for Culinary Medicine. (Tulane University)
“My health is getting so much better now,” Spann says in the school’s video. “And I do believe that when I see my primary care
physician in the next month, I will no longer be taking hypertensive medicine and I will no longer be taking diabetes medicine.”

Tulane’s medical school was among the first to take on a licensed chef as an instructor. Its curriculum, dﬂ&lgp_gd_m_p_amn

memmmw with the College of Culinary Arts at Johnson & Wales University
MMJMBD, has been sold to sixteen other medical schools.

If yow’re thinking this is the wrong time of year to talk about healthy food, Dr. Gourmet has a_lusg_q_us_mgnn

(http: (Lane. ec CWS/ NEWWa 1 LJ LINAS- ‘!' l z,J 1aNDEITV-DOYK- .,l
they’re licking thelr fingers, that your holiday meal Wwas recommended by a doctor. When’s the last time you got to say that ina
sentence?

~“OLORE: DIY HEALTH (HTTPS: 2 7 ATEGOF
DSCENCE O ITIPS://WW2.KQED.ORG/FUTUREOFYOU/TAG/KOEDSCIENL A, MEDICAL SCHOOL (HTTPS://WW2.KQED.ORG/FUTUREOFYOL/TAG/MEDICAL.
o0L)

(hilps./iww2 kqed.orgfiutureo You/2015/12/2 1 will-your-
doctor-one-day-prescribe-food- as-medicing/?

o+

share=facebook&nb=1 )

\

oCtor- a}@y P rescribe-food-as-medicine/’
S fv e fvx leré&nb=1)

(htips: //ww Kkaed.org/futureatvou/2015 51212 Hwill-your-
G ;

fm) for you. And you can tell your guests, when



(https://ww2.kged.org/futureofyou/2015/12/21/will-your-
doctor-one-day-prescribe-food-as-medicine/?
share=email&nb=1)

0 Comments (https://ww2.kqed.org/futurecfyeu/2015/12/21/will-your-doctor-one-day-prescribe-foed-as-
medicine/#disqus_thread)

' ,igfﬂ =
5 H. 3
How One Doctor Commentary: With Millions of Why Patients Can't  Plant Extracts May
Used Mobile Tech Medical Journals’ Deaths at Stake, Get 2 Breakthrough  Slow Aging Process,
to Aid Diabetes Proposal ‘Could Drug Companies Cholesterol Drugs Study Says
Patients Change Medical Band Together to (http:/fww2.kqed.org/futuréhfymifesatlapdedif

(http:/fww2.kqed org/futurSefenveFgfeties’how-  Fight Supelbugs

patie ts-unt-get-prescnimgx may-slow—agmg%mreofy

one-doctor-used-mobile-teghrig:pirdiRbRESre/futurhfypyfamy Abdeg Y 8 'fﬂ?} ncisco-based-metabiota-bur
patients/) proposal-by-medic: ]oumals-cmﬂd-change-medxal response-ap-finds/)
science-forever/)
Powered by
{hitps:i/contextly.com)

/ CHRISTINA FARR

i/ Christina Farr (@chrissyfarr (https://twitter.com/chrissyfarr)) is the former editor and host of Future
of You. She was previously with Reuters, covering digital health and Apple and before that, she
reported for Venture Beat. Christina was born and raised<ns1:XMLFault xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat"><ns1:faultstring xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat">java.lang.OutOfMemoryError: Java heap space</ns1:faultstring></ns1:XMLFault>